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Maritime New Zealand
Nō te rere moana Aotearoa
Noˉ te rere moana Aotearoa now accompanies te manaia –
the guardian – in our logo. Together, they reflect our role as
the caretaker of New Zealand’s flowing waters. They underpin
our mandate to make life at sea safer; to protect the maritime
environment from pollution and safeguard it for future generations;
to ensure New Zealand’s ports and ships are secure; and to
provide a search and rescue response service in one of the
largest search and rescue areas in the world.

Maritime New Zealand’s vision,
mission and values are its foundations.

Our vision
A maritime community that works and plays safely
and securely on clean waters.

Our mission
A professional, evidence-based, intelligence-led,
risk-focused regulatory, compliance and response agency.

Our values
Integrity | Commitment | Respect
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East Cape Lighthouse is located on the east coast of the
North Island of New Zealand. Situated on the Eastland
peninsula, it is the most easterly lighthouse in New Zealand.

Location:

Latitude 40°54’ south, longitude 176°14’ east

Elevation:

154 metres above sea level

The lighthouse at East Cape was originally located on
East Island, just off the tip of East Cape. The East Island
light was first lit in 1900.

Construction:

Cast iron tower

Tower height:

15 metres

East Island was very unstable and the cliffs were
constantly being eroded and slipping into the ocean.
By the 1920s these slips were coming close to the
lighthouse, and the decision was made to relocate the
lighthouse to the mainland.

Light configuration:

50 watt rotating beacon

Light flash character:

White light flashing once every 10 seconds

Power source:

Mains electricity

The light on East Island was extinguished in April 1922,
and the tower and all the buildings were relocated to the
mainland. The East Cape Lighthouse began operation in
December 1922.

Range:

19 nautical miles (35 kilometres)

Date light first lit:

1900

Automated:

1985
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BELINDA VERNON, ACTING CHAIR, MARITIME NZ1

KEITH MANCH, DIRECTOR, MARITIME NZ

The
year
in
review
Introduction from the Chair and the Director
We are pleased to present the
2017/18 Annual Report for
Maritime New Zealand, Nō te rere
moana Aotearoa, which records
our results for the year against the
plans and objectives set out in our
Statement of Intent for 2015–2021
and Statement of Performance
Expectations for 2017/18.
1

Belinda Vernon assumed the role of Acting Chair, Maritime NZ on
3 August 2018, succeeding Blair O’Keeffe, who held the position
from 20 October 2016 to 2 August 2018.
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The year in review

Our vision is ‘a maritime community that works and
plays safely and securely on clean waters’.

equipment, and the need for deck safety, to reduce
injuries and fatalities.

We have made solid progress towards this vision
in 2017/18. Our continued effort to deliver safety
programmes to the diverse users of our waters has
contributed to recreational and commercial boating
fatalities remaining relatively low.

The ability to identify hazards and address them reflects
positively on our systems and the skills and performance
of our Maritime Officers.

In recreational boating, we have built on our strong
partnerships with the New Zealand Safer Boating
Forum, collaborating on the safer boating strategy,
and have continued the joint ‘No Excuses’ safety
programme between Maritime NZ, councils and
harbourmasters.
A focus on face-to-face interaction with boaties has
helped increase the reach into regional communities.
Annual boating participation and safety behavioural
research shows that 76% of all boaties say they wear a
lifejacket all or most of the time. Carriage of lifejackets
was also very high at 95%, as observed through our
‘No Excuses’ on-the-water survey. Overall, it was very
pleasing to see a high level of on-water compliance with
the Maritime Transport Act and council bylaws.
In the commercial sector, the Maritime Operator Safety
System (MOSS) is well embedded. Most existing
domestic commercial maritime operators have entered
into MOSS, with new operators entering every month.
MOSS has led to the majority of operators taking
increased responsibility for, and ownership of, the
safety of their operations and the health and safety of
their employees. In addition, MOSS has demonstrably
improved the relationship between us and the domestic
commercial maritime industry.
We have increased our health and safety capability
and targeted operators who are more at risk of not
complying with either the Maritime Transport Act or
the Health and Safety at Work Act. This has included
inspecting operators assessed at the higher-risk end
of the spectrum when they entered MOSS. These
inspections prompted the launch of a new education
campaign called ‘Safe Crews Fish More’, which targets
fishing operators and helps increase their understanding
of the effects of fatigue and intoxication.
We highlighted the need to protect employees when
they work with machinery, such as winches and lifting

2
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In late 2017 we encouraged more than 7,200 seafarers
to save or “ring-fence” 10,000 legacy certificates.
Ring-fencing was introduced to enable seafarers with
existing tickets to make a choice about whether to enter
the new SeaCert pathway and continue to develop their
careers, or whether to simply maintain their existing
privileges. If they ring-fenced, this meant that they could
continue to work in the New Zealand maritime industry
safely and at no cost. Many existing ticketholders
responded positively to this opportunity.
We have maintained our active contribution to the
effectiveness of the Asia-Pacific Port State Control
regime to help ensure higher-risk, sub-standard vessels
do not enter New Zealand and overseas ports. This
has included training new Port State Control officers
to support our approach of targeting higher-risk ships
(as identified through the regime’s risk assessment
framework) that do come to New Zealand.
In the international arena, we have led the introduction
of safety measures for non-SOLAS2 ships operating
in polar waters (Polar Code II). Polar Code II aims to
ensure fishing vessels and pleasure yachts are properly
prepared for visits to the Antarctic region, as is already
the case with larger ships.
In other international work we have entered into
Phase 3 of the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme.
The programme has run for the past six years and is
a joint programme – funded by the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Trade and delivered by Maritime NZ. We
have worked closely with Pacific countries to increase
their maritime safety and maritime incident readiness
and response capabilities. With funding confirmed
by government we have formally entered a further
three-year stage and will be supporting activity in
seven countries.
Our overarching aim in our international work is to
strengthen relationships and increase our international
influence in areas affecting New Zealand.
Closer to home we have continued to develop our
integrated maritime incident readiness and response
capabilities across the whole organisation and with

Non-SOLAS ships are commercial vessels that are not subject to the requirements of the International Convention for the Safety
of Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1974.
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national, regional, local and international partners.
Exercise Paihere, held in Auckland, tested our maritime
incident and oil spill emergency response, including
planning, processes and equipment and saw over
120 responders practising their emergency
management skills. Day to day we have continued
to provide highly efficient and effective search and
rescue mission coordination services and prompt and
appropriate responses to marine oil spills.
Across government we remain committed to the
Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg),
which aims to improve regulatory practice in
New Zealand. All Maritime NZ staff have completed,
or are part-way through, the G-Reg core regulatory
knowledge qualification. This is now part of the onboarding programme for new staff.
The year has seen a large investment in our people
managers, who have undertaken a Management in
Action training programme to ensure they lead high
performance with an engaged workforce.
Our staff engagement at 77.4% continues to be
above the New Zealand public sector norm and the
public has a good level of trust and confidence in the
work we do. We are proud to have been amongst the
top 25% of most-trusted public sector agencies for the
past three years.

Where to from here
There is still more we can do to achieve our vision
of safe, secure and clean waters – for example,
sustaining our emphasis on stakeholder engagement,
communicating regulatory requirements (including
making it easy for the maritime sector to comply) and
using the full range of compliance tools appropriately.
We will continue to build internal capability and ensure
that our regulatory, compliance and response systems
and processes remain fit for purpose in a changing
operating environment.
We will continue to move from a traditional outputfocused regulatory, compliance and response agency
to a modern outcomes-focused one, where evidencebased, intelligence-led and systemic risk activities and
interventions guide our work.
With MOSS and SeaCert bedded in, we intend to focus
on regulatory stewardship – proactively planning and
implementing the Maritime Rules changes needed to

keep pace with industry and sector developments, such
as new technological and design changes in shipping.
A key aim is to reduce the regulatory burden for
operators and make it easier for them to comply. This is
about the quality and clarity of regulation and providing
good guidance and education, not about reducing
standards.
We will work to ensure the maritime sector continues
to make a valuable contribution to a resilient transport
system that is able to respond quickly to disruption. We
will continue to draw on the dedication of our people to
achieve this. This is underpinned by our values: Integrity,
Commitment and Respect.
We will also further develop our relationships with our
partners and stakeholders to ensure our activities
remain well targeted and effective in keeping our seas
and waterways safe, secure and clean. All these efforts
aim to maximise the contribution the maritime sector
makes to the social and economic wellbeing of all
New Zealanders.

Authority membership
We record our appreciation to Blair O’Keeffe and
Peter Cowper for their leadership and contribution to
Maritime NZ during their respective terms.
Blair joined the Authority in March 2016 and was Chair
from October 2016 to August 2018. Peter joined the
Authority in May 2011 and retired in May 2018.
Both brought direction and insight, together with
extensive governance and management experience
to the Authority.

Belinda Vernon
Acting Chair, Maritime NZ

Keith Manch
Director, Maritime NZ
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Our highlights
70 LIVES SAVED
208 LIVES RESCUED
313 LIVES ASSISTED

PACIFIC MARITIME
SAFETY PROGRAMME

% HIGH RISK
VESSELS VISITING
NEW ZEALAND

17.9%
2017: 13.0%
2014:

SUCCESSFUL
CAMPAIGNS
• OVER 40%
CAMPAIGN
• HSWA
STEVEDORES

3,500
OLD LIFE
JACKETS REPLACED
3,500
SCHOOL
CHILDREN RECEIVED
LEARN TO SAIL
YACHTING LESSONS
ON THE WATER
SURVEY –
LIFEJACKET
CARRIAGE

94%

EXERCISE
PAIHERE

77%

STAFF
ENGAGEMENT
SURVEY

12%

NO

SECURITY
INCIDENTS
REPORTED IN
NEW ZEALAND
WATERS

ABOVE THE
PUBLIC SECTOR
BENCHMARK
OF 69%

MARITIME FATALITIES

DOWN 58%

7,200 SEAFARERS
2 BOATING
AWARDS
WON FOR

OPTED TO SAVE THEIR
LEGACY SEAFARER
CERTIFICATES

OUR SAFER
BOATING SUMMER
CAMPAIGNS

8

SINCE 2014/15
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ADVANCING

POLAR
CODE II

Part A: Maritime NZ

Our role and
strategic direction
Who we are
We are the national regulatory, compliance and
response agency for the safety, security and
environmental protection of the maritime environment.
We are one of four Crown entities monitored by the
Ministry of Transport. We were established in 1993 and
are governed by a five-member board (the Authority)
appointed by the Minister of Transport under the
Maritime Transport Act 1994.

Our vision, values
and culture
As a Crown entity, our aim is to improve outcomes for
New Zealanders. Our focus is on improving outcomes
in the maritime environment. Our vision is a maritime
community that works and plays safely and securely
on clean waters. Our values of integrity, commitment
and respect guide and drive an organisational culture
dedicated to achieving positive maritime safety and
environmental outcomes.

We deliver regulation,
compliance and response
Through our regulatory, compliance and response work
we seek to address risks in the maritime domain before
they result in incidents and mishaps. Our work includes:
•

developing and maintaining the national safety,
security and environmental protection regulations that
govern the operation of vessels, ports and offshore
installations in New Zealand waters

•

working to instil a ‘safety culture’ within the maritime
community by making sure that commercial and
recreational activities on the water comply with
maritime rules and regulations

•

undertaking activities to reduce the likelihood of
maritime incidents and marine pollution incidents
occurring

•

delivering effective day-to-day responses to search
and rescue incidents and marine oil spill incidents
and maintaining readiness across the organisation
in case we need to deal with a significant
maritime incident.
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Our outcomes
Our outcomes express the results we want to achieve
in relation to our core role, ensuring our seas are safe,
secure and clean, on behalf of all New Zealanders.
We bring together our three key roles – regulation,
compliance and response – to drive and achieve three
key outcomes for our maritime community:
Safe

Secure

Our strategic goals
Our strategic goals define and highlight the areas where
we are concentrating our efforts. They direct us towards
our outcomes and demonstrate our contribution to key
transport sector objectives. Our goals are:
regulation that is relevant and robust

•

risk-focused, responsive compliance practices that
reduce harm in the maritime system

•

response capability that is well prepared and
effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents

•

a results-driven, resilient organisation, working
collaboratively for success.

Our output classes
Our outputs cover our major areas of operational
delivery and are included in five output classes:
•

Influencing the policy environment for the maritime
sector

Maritime safety and marine protection services

•

Marine Pollution Response Service

•

Search and rescue coordination services

•

Maritime incident response capability.

Our annual performance is reported against our
Statement of Intent (SOI) for 2015–2021 and Statement
of Performance Expectations (SPE) for 2017/18 which
can be found on our website – www.maritimenz.govt.nz.

Clean

•

•

Ministry of Transport’s
framework for shaping our
transport system
Central government plays a significant role in
New Zealand’s transport system. The Ministry of
Transport (MoT) has recently confirmed a new outcomes
framework for the transport system. The framework is
intended to give direction to the transport system on the
contribution it makes to achieving broader social and
economic outcomes.
As these outcomes are interrelated, it is important
that there is clarity about what they are, why they are
important, and how the different parts of New Zealand’s
wider transport system will work together to achieve
them. Mode neutrality – making sure all land, water and
air modes of travel are considered and evaluated to
find the best solution, and smart transport choices are
incentivised – is a key guiding principle.

Inclusive access

Healthy and
safe people

Enabling all people to participate in
society through access to social and
economic opportunities, such as
work, education, and healthcare.

Economic prosperity
Supporting economic activity via
local, regional, and international
connections, with efficient
movements of people and products.

Resilience and security
Minimising and managing the risks from
natural and human-made hazards,
anticipating and adapting to emerging
threats, and recovering effectively from
disruptive events.

A TRANSPORT
SYSTEM THAT
IMPROVES
WELLBEING AND
LIVEABILITY

Protecting people
from transport-related
injuries and harmful
pollution, and making
active travel an
attractive option.

Environmental
sustainability
Transitioning to net
zero carbon emissions,
and maintaining or
improving biodiversity,
water quality, and air
quality.

In 2018/19 we will work with the MoT to develop a set of indicators to track progress against the transport sector
outcomes. This will provide a way to show progress against the transport outcomes framework and gauge success.

10
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Our transition to being a
modern regulator
Since 2012 we’ve been moving to being an ‘evidencebased, intelligence-led and risk-focused regulator’ in line
with New Zealand’s and international regulators’ shift
to the modern regulator model. We have increasingly
adopted an outcomes-focused approach to ensure
our policy and operational actions (whether involving
changes to rules, education, guidance, campaigns or
prosecutions) drive safety, security and environmental
improvements. In essence:
A modern safety regulator can be characterised by its
earned autonomy approach to regulation, consistency
in decision making, being transparent, responsive and
communicative, openness to co-regulation and its ability
to strike a balance between goal-based and prescriptive
regulation3.
MODERN SAFETY
REGULATOR
Earned autonomy
approach to
regulation

Consistency in
decision making

OUR EXAMPLES
MOSS – operators who
demonstrate good performance
(i.e. have a low risk rating) receive
less attention/compliance burden
Our Compliance Operating
Model drives this in respect to
operational regulatory decision
making
A strong focus on being evidencebased, intelligence-led and riskfocused supports this

Being transparent,
responsive and
communicative

Extensive and open external
communications, Official
Information Act approach, and
funding review consultation

Openness to
co-regulation

The Port and Harbour Marine
Safety Code

Ability to strike a
balance between
goal-based and
prescriptive
regulation

Working with the Health and
Safety at Work Act (HSWA)
alongside Maritime Rules
Our intentions around rules
development/Director’s
Requirements opportunities

Aligning our work
To help drive our transition to being a modern regulator,
we have developed four strategic ‘pivots’. These
describe how we will deliver our outputs, our ongoing
strategic work programme, and core functions to
achieve our strategic goals. They also shape the way
we work and interact with those we regulate and
provide services to.
Our pivots are:
Increase our influence in
the international regulatory
environment. This requires a
focus on how we maximise the
impact of our international work,
and how we link up domestically
to support that work.
Minimise the regulatory and
compliance burden, ensuring
an effective and value-for-money
regulatory environment, and
enabling a greater maritime
industry contribution to
New Zealand’s economic
objectives. This requires a strong
focus on understanding the
maritime sector and its place in
the economy.
Enhance our facilitation and
leadership role within the
maritime sector. This means
focusing on a ‘whole-of-system’
approach, and maintaining
and enhancing stakeholder
relationships with the sector and
with other agencies.
Make it easy for regulated
parties to do the right thing.
This requires us to ensure
processes are as user friendly as
possible – by putting ourselves in
the ‘shoes’ of the end user.
We have used these pivots to shape and prioritise our
work programme and major initiatives – over 2017/18,
and looking ahead to the period covered by our
Statement of Intent 2018–2022 which will be reported in
future Annual Reports

3

Outcomes of NAV 18 – Statement by Gary Prosser, Deputy Chief Executive Australian Maritime Safety Authority.
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New Zealand benefits
when our maritime
environment is safe,
secure and clean
New Zealand benefits when our maritime environment is safe, secure and clean. We need a maritime
system in which everyone returns home safely, where no security incidents impact on maritime activities,
and where no adverse environmental impacts occur as a result of maritime activities.
To make this a reality, our work is guided by a clear operating model, sound information, analysis, and a
comprehensive, systemic understanding of the issues involved within the environment.
New Zealand’s maritime sector is primarily made up of the private sector, although several local authorities have an
ownership interest in their local ports. The table below highlights the breadth of industry types and activities within
each sector.
NONCOMMERCIAL
BOATING

COMMERCIAL SECTORS

FOREIGN
SHIPPING

NZ
INTERNATIONAL
SAFETY
MANAGEMENT*

DOMESTIC
FISHING

DOMESTIC
PASSENGER/
NONPASSENGER

DOMESTIC
OUTDOOR
AND
ADVENTURE

OFFSHORE

PORTS AND
HARBOURS

RECREATIONAL
BOATING

EXAMPLE INDUSTRY TYPES:
Powered craft
Foreign
Transport Services

Domestic Coastal
Transport Services

• cargo transport

• passenger/
freight

Marine Fishing

Intra-regional
Transport Services

Water-based
Tourism

Petroleum,
Gas and Mineral

Commercial
Port Services

• charter services

• rafting

• exploration

• piloting

• water taxis

• jet boating

• extraction &
production

• harbour master

• line fishing

• passenger
cruises

• coastal (traders,
tankers, research)

• fish trawling
• aquaculture
• kayaking

• stevedoring
• decommissioning

Non-powered
craft

• river boarding

*
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New Zealand International Safety Management (ISM) refers to NZ flagged ships that operate under the ISM code. Typically they
are large (45 metres) passenger and cargo ships that are able to travel internationally but elect to operate only on NZ’s coast.
Sector includes ships that hold either SOLAS certificates or NZ Ship Safety Certificates because they are required to comply
with the ISM code and to be audited by Maritime NZ.
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How well are we doing?
We lead and support the maritime community to take responsibility for ensuring our seas are safe,
secure and clean, on behalf of all New Zealanders. We bring together our three key roles – regulation,
compliance and response – to drive and achieve three key outcomes for New Zealand:

DESIRED SYSTEM OUTCOME

DESIRED TREND

SYSTEM INDICATOR

TARGET

SAFE

The average annual rate
of maritime fatalities and
serious injuries consistently
trends downwards over time.

Annual rate of maritime
fatalities and serious
harm4 injuries for each
sector5 per 100,000 NZ
population.

Reduce maritime
sector fatalities and
serious harm injuries
by 25% by 2021
(from 2015).

SECURE

The NZ maritime system is
recognised as secure by key
trading partners.

Annual number of
security incidents
reported in NZ waters.

No security
incidents6 are
reported in NZ
waters.

CLEAN

The number of pollution
incidents impacting on our
marine environment reduces
over time.

Annual number of oil
spill incidents reported
in NZ waters.

Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15% by
2021 (from 2015).

4

The term ‘serious harm’ has been redefined under the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 to refer to notifiable injury or illness.

5

‘Sector’ refers to the key maritime sectors that Maritime NZ regulates and the three geographical domains (i.e. New Zealand,
Pacific and Antarctica) where Maritime NZ has search and rescue responsibility. Our key sectors are: foreign shipping,
New Zealand ISM (International Safety Management), domestic fishing, domestic passenger/non-passenger, outdoor and
adventure, offshore, ports and harbours, and recreational boating.

6

This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act 2004.
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SAFE – Our maritime system supports,
encourages and requires strong safety
standards and behaviours
A maritime transport system that makes safety an
integral part of the way business and recreational
activities are conducted leads to good decision making
by operators and individuals about all aspects of
maritime activity – whether it is the design of vessels,
seafaring practices, or attitudes and behaviours when
out on the water. We also seek to prevent incidents,
accidents and fatalities by providing search and
rescue coordination for New Zealand and the Pacific,
coastal lights that guide shipping around the coast of
New Zealand, and a maritime radio weather forecasting
service.
Fatalities and serious harm within the maritime transport
system are a serious and costly issue. The impacts
of death and harm go beyond the loss of loved ones
and the individuals’ pain, loss of earnings and reduced
quality of life, to the effects on their families, their
employers and our communities. We aim to reduce
the number of fatalities and serious harm injuries in
the greater maritime environment by developing and
enforcing regulations, investing in programmes that
educate, and encouraging individuals to reduce death
and injury to themselves and others.

what is happening and why. With robust evidence and
intelligence, we can assess the safety, security and
environmental risks that need to be addressed, and
decide on the most effective interventions.
Our information base covers all aspects of what
we do, from data on incident and accident trends
and behavioural drivers within the industry, to the
effectiveness of the regulatory, compliance and
response initiatives we have put in place. We gather
our information in various ways, including notifications
of commercial accidents, serious harm injuries and
fatalities and recreational boating fatalities received in
accordance with section 31 of the Maritime Transport
Act 1994 and/or section 56 of the HSWA. We are
confident in the accuracy of the fatality information we
collect, but it is clear from ACC claims data that there is
significant under-reporting of harm incidents to us.
Our interventions are leading to improvement (in
relative terms) in a broad spectrum of maritime safety
statistics. These statistics cover not just regulation
and compliance activities but also include saving
lives through our search and rescue coordination for
New Zealand, minimising social and economic harm.

We base our work on evidence and intelligence that are
collected, collated and analysed so that we understand

How well have we done?
SYSTEM
INDICATOR
Annual rate of
maritime fatalities
and serious harm
injuries for each
sector per 100,000
NZ population

14

TARGET
Reduce maritime
sector fatalities
and serious harm
injuries by 25%
by 2021

2014/15–2017/18 RESULT
(4 YEAR AVERAGE)

2017/18 RESULT

Average maritime sector fatalities
reduced by 41% since 2014/15

Maritime sector fatalities: 58%
reduction compared with 2014/15

Average maritime sector serious
harm injuries reduced by 13% since
2014/15

Maritime sector serious harm
injuries: 30% reduction compared
with 2014/15
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TABLE 1: FATALITY NUMBERS AND RATES (PER 100,000 NZ POPULATION)
BY SECTOR
Target – Reduce maritime fatalities by 25% by 2021 from 2014/2015

FOREIGN

NZ COASTAL

PAX/
NON-PAX

OUTDOOR &
ADVENTURE

DOMESTIC
FISHING

OFFSHORE

RECREATIONAL

SECTOR

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

2012/13

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

3

0.07

0

0.00

15

0.34

2013/14

2

0.04

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

3

0.07

0

0.00

22

0.49

2014/15

0

0.00

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

32

0.70

2015/16

2

0.04

0

0.00

0

0.00

2

0.04

3

0.06

0

0.00

16

0.34

2016/17

1

0.02

0

0.00

10

0.21

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

16

0.33

2017/18

0

0.00

0

0.00

1

0.02

2

0.04

2

0.04

0

0.00

11

0.22

2021
Target

No fatalities

No fatalities

<0.03
fatalities
(per
100,000 NZ
population)
by 2021

No fatalities

<0.03
fatalities
(per
100,000 NZ
population)
by 2021

No fatalities

<0.52
fatalities
(per
100,000 NZ
population)
by 2021
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FIGURE 1: INDICATOR: ANNUAL RATE OF MARITIME FATALITIES7 FOR EACH
SECTOR PER 100,000 NZ POPULATION
1.00
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2016/17

0.90
0.80
0.70
0.60
0.50
0.40

11

0.30
0.20

0

0

1

2

2

0

0.10
0.00

Foreign

NZ
Coastal

Pax/
Non-Pax

Outdoor &
Adventure

Fishing

Offshore

Recreational

FIGURE 2: INDICATOR: ANNUAL RATE AND TREND OF MARITIME NOTIFIABLE
INJURIES AND ILLNESSES FOR EACH SECTOR8 PER 100,000 NZ POPULATION
Target – Reduce maritime serious injuries by 25% by 2021 from 2015
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Raw counts of fatalities for the 2017/18 financial year are noted in the graph.

8

Raw counts of notifiable injuries and illnesses for the 2017/18 financial year are noted in the graph.
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Offshore

Fatigue is one of the biggest factors in causing injuries
on fishing vessels: our new fishing safety campaign
focuses on fatigue
We administer the HSWA and associated regulations
for work on board ships and where ships are places
of work. We also provide health and safety resources
including guidance about implementing the HSWA
in the maritime sector. During the year, a fatigue
online education campaign was launched building
on last year’s ‘Safe Crews Fish More’ message. The
campaign explores everything from the early warning
signs of fatigue to writing and implementing a fatigue
management plan, and is designed to help operator,
skippers and crews of small to medium-sized vessels
keep on top of fatigue.
“Fatigue is a proven issue within the fishing Industry.
While steps have been taken to improve our position,

it’s clear that more needs to be done,” said
Doug Saunders-Loder, President of the New Zealand
Federation of Commercial Fishermen Inc. “Continued
education, understanding and an attitude change have
to be the ultimate outcome and the only way this can
happen is if we all band together. Fishermen are happy
to engage on the matter and this education campaign is
definitely a welcome step in the right direction.”
The campaign also gives advice on how to reduce
the risk of having a fatigue-related accident, and
incorporates tips from skippers. It includes a quiz to
test readers’ ‘fatigue expertise’ and a self-assessment
questionnaire to give operators an idea of how their
operation would perform in an audit.
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WE PROVIDE SEARCH AND RESCUE
COORDINATION FOR NEW ZEALAND
AND THE PACIFIC
With a search and rescue region spanning 30 million
square kilometres, the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ) covers one of the largest search
and rescue areas in the world. This area extends from
the mid-Tasman Sea, halfway to Chile, and from the
South Pole, almost up to the Equator.
We provide the RCCNZ, and the Maritime Distress and
Safety Communications Service. RCCNZ coordinates
response to all distress beacon alerts and major
maritime and aviation search and rescue operations

in New Zealand’s search and rescue region (SRR),
and land-based missions arising from someone
activating a distress beacon. The distress and safety
communications service allows us to provide maritime
weather and warnings broadcasts, receive incident
alerts and help coordinate responses.
These services make life safer for all recreational and
commercial activities on the water, save numerous
lives every year and are critical to achieving our safe
outcome.
Over 2017/18, 88 people were assisted, rescued or
saved in the maritime environment in New Zealand’s
exclusive economic zone (EEZ) through the actions of
RCCNZ and our search and rescue partners.

TABLE 2: NUMBER OF SEARCH AND RESCUE INCIDENTS 1 JULY 2017–
30 JUNE 2018
TOTAL NUMBER OF PEOPLE
ALL ENVIRONMENTS

TOTAL MARITIME ENVIRONMENT

NZ
EEZ

Rest
of NZ
SRR

Total
NZ

Other
SRR

Total

NZ
EEZ

Rest
of NZ
SRR

Total
NZ

Other
SRR

Total

2,511

226

2,737

240

2,977

863

95

958

211

1,169

Lives saved

38

18

56

14

70

15

18

33

14

47

Lives rescued

168

7

175

33

208

30

7

37

29

66

Lives assisted

295

15

310

3

313

43

15

58

3

61

Perished

12

3

15

84

99

2

3

5

81

86

Not located

2

1

3

5

8

2

1

3

5

8

Self-assisted

1,996

182

2,178

101

2,279

771

51

822

79

901

Number at risk

TOTAL AIR ENVIRONMENT
NZ
EEZ

Rest
of NZ
SRR

Total
NZ

Other
SRR

Total

NZ
EEZ

Rest
of NZ
SRR

Total
NZ

Other
SRR

Total

1,161

130

1,291

23

1,314

487

1

488

6

494

Lives saved

5

0

5

0

5

18

0

18

0

18

Lives rescued

4

0

4

0

4

134

0

134

4

138

Lives assisted

80

0

80

0

80

172

0

172

0

172

Perished

2

0

2

3

5

8

0

8

0

8

Not located

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Self-assisted

1,070

130

1,200

20

1,220

155

1

156

2

158

Number at risk
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In 2018 over 1.5 million
(42%) New Zealanders
are recreational boaties
Since 2015/16, when a third of the adult population
reported that they regularly go recreational boating,
the proportion has increased to 42%, representing
approximately 1.5 million people. We’re seeing more
young people out on New Zealand waterways. Kayaks,
boats under 6 metres and dinghies are the most popular
form of recreational vessel owned.
Over the past few years the recreational boating toll
has dropped by nearly 66% from 32 in 2014/15 to
11 in 2017/18. Despite this marked improvement, the
majority of those 11 fatalities might have been avoided
if lifejackets had been worn, two forms of waterproof
communication were taken to call for help, weather
conditions were properly checked before going out,
and/or alcohol consumption was avoided.
We and our partners on the NZ Safer Boating Forum
continued to target these key risk factors which lead to
fatalities – through a combination of safety awareness
programmes and enforcement.
Our aim is to support programmes that interact directly
with boaties and promote safety and save lives. An
example of this is in the story below.

‘Team Maritime’ –
Maritime NZ, councils
and harbourmasters
working together
One big team working collaboratively is better than
lots of small, individual teams. This is the philosophy
that underpins the Common Compliance programme

bringing together Maritime NZ, councils and
harbourmasters.
Maritime NZ and harbourmasters generally have the
same objectives: safety of vessels and the people on
them, and clean seas around New Zealand. Planning,
training and working together are the best ways to
achieve those common aims.
We are responsible for enforcement of maritime law and
the Maritime Rules. Harbourmasters work for councils
and enforce maritime law and Rules within their areas,
and also apply their councils’ navigation safety bylaws,
ensuring all water users can share safely in the use of
our waterways.
Common Compliance activities in the recreational
boating area saw harbourmasters becoming key
regional partners in the national Safer Boating campaign
over summer 2017/18. We worked with 10 councils on
a ‘No Excuses’ enforcement campaign for recreational
boaties not carrying or wearing lifejackets and those
who were speeding on the water. Programmes were
designed to meet local boaties’ needs, lead to safer
boating behaviour over time, and reduce the number of
boaties dying in preventable accidents.
We funded the councils to provide additional staff, time
and resources to the campaign, on top of the Safer
Boating work councils already do. During the campaign,
harbourmasters’ staff and our maritime officers worked
together on the water.
We also funded the Marlborough harbourmaster to
trial the use of speed guns on the water to show how
they could be an effective compliance tool. Procedures
for issuing infringement notices are being coordinated
and streamlined so they are consistent. We are now
regularly bringing harbourmasters together nationally to
collaborate on issues.
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Commercial sectors

Over the last few years the number of fatalities
occurring within our commercial sectors has been
low compared with the recreational sector (see Figure
1) with an exception during 2016/17, when a single
incident in Kaipara Harbour contributed to an increase
in the death toll.
We have progressed several key initiatives to increase
awareness of safety risks and reduce the levels of harm
occurring across the commercial sectors. Most notably,
the Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) and
Seafarer Certification (SeaCert) regulatory regimes
were largely completed during the 2017/18 year.

SeaCert (introduced on 1 April 2014) is our
maritime seafarer licensing framework for national
certificates of competency and proficiency. At the
core of the framework are specific rules that cover
seafarer certification, medical standards, training
and examination. SeaCert was complemented by
the introduction of ring-fencing of legacy certificates
in 2016.
MOSS and SeaCert are designed to significantly
improve safety in New Zealand’s commercial maritime
environment. This is intended to benefit local mariners
and visiting international operators, and contribute to
New Zealand’s strong international reputation as a safe
and responsible host for maritime-related activity.

Where to from here?
With the bedding-in of MOSS and SeaCert, our
medium-term intention is to focus on regulatory
stewardship – proactively planning and implementing
the regulatory changes needed to keep pace with
international, industry and sector developments, such
as new technological and design changes in shipping.
We will continue to strengthen our internal capability and
ensure regulatory, compliance and response systems
and processes can reflect and adapt to a changing
operating environment and the needs of the maritime
community.

MOSS (introduced in 2014) replaced the previous
regulatory regime known as Safe Ship Management.
MOSS places the onus on the operator to develop and
implement a safety system for their entire operation
(including their vessels) and enables us to perform
direct regulatory oversight of operators.
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We will build on our relationships with partners and
stakeholders to ensure our activities remain well
targeted and effective in helping keep our seas and
waterways safe, secure and clean. All our efforts
aim to maximise the contribution the maritime sector
makes to the social and economic wellbeing of all
New Zealanders.

SECURE – Our maritime system
protects people and goods from
unlawful actions as they move across
domestic and international waters
The Maritime Security Act 2004 (MSA) requires all
vessels that visit New Zealand ports and harbours to
comply with the International Ship and Port Facility
Security (ISPS) Code.
The world-wide escalation of acts of terrorism has
highlighted the vulnerability of global transport
infrastructure. This includes ports, which are critical
infrastructure for most national economies, including
our own.

While that risk is very low compared with many other
countries, New Zealand cannot afford to be complacent.
It is our role to administer the MSA and its associated
regulations to bring the requirements of the ISPS Code
into legislation, establishing security standards for
shipping and ports. New Zealand’s ability to maintain
trade with other countries, particularly the United States,
is contingent on meeting our international and regionally
set ship and port facility security obligations.
While security breaches are difficult to predict, we
monitor a high-level system indicator.

How well have we done?
SYSTEM INDICATOR

TARGET

2017/18 RESULT

Security incidents reported by
ports and offshore industry bodies
annually in New Zealand waters

No security incidents9 are
reported in New Zealand waters

No security incidents reported

There were no major security incidents reported at
ports or in the offshore sector and only minor security
incidents were reported to Maritime NZ in 2017/18,
none of which met the threshold for reporting under
the MSA.
During the year, all New Zealand ports remained
compliant with the ISPS Code. The United States
Coastguard undertook a formal visit to New Zealand in
December 2017 to assess ISPS Code compliance and
commented that we maintained an effective maritime
security regime.

Where to from here?
We need to be vigilant to ensure New Zealand ports
are ready and able to respond to a security event.
In 2018/19 we will continue our all-of-government
engagement through focused and realistic exercises.
We will also develop more effective training opportunities
with an emphasis on capability and capacity building in
New Zealand and the Pacific.

Sixteen maritime security exercises were conducted
across New Zealand ports during the year, with industry
and government agencies involved in the exercises.
We maintained effective relationships with
New Zealand’s intelligence agencies to ensure
we received the appropriate intelligence which
might warrant increasing security levels. Although
New Zealand’s security environment remained ‘active
and dynamic’, no activities warranted the escalation of
security levels.
Conducting port inspections, overseeing audits,
maintaining intelligence relationships and testing
port security plans by carrying out maritime security
exercises ensure we can measure preparedness and
response capability.
9

This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act.
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CLEAN – Our environment
is clean and protected
Activities such as shipping and offshore oil and gas
development bring important economic benefits to
New Zealand, but they also create maritime safety and
environmental protection issues. We have historically
had a significant focus on the prevention and response
to oil spills, but following the Rena incident the wider
pollution impacts from maritime activity have come
more to the fore. A major maritime incident such as an
oil tanker running aground in the channel of a major
port, or in a sensitive coastal area of ecological and
cultural significance, would have a major impact on
New Zealand and all New Zealanders.
Our readiness and response capabilities are focused
on the three priorities of safeguarding lives, protecting
the marine environment and safeguarding the economy
and property – all while minimising costs. We take a
broad view of maritime incidents and recognise that
they are complex, multi-aspect issues with a very wide
range of stakeholders and interests. We are building
our capacity to deal with these rare but very important
major incidents while continuing to deliver responses
to the routine, small-scale everyday incidents that are
more common.
We are looking to further develop our links to
communities and iwi as incidents strike at the heart of
local communities. We will support this through strong
international, national and regional partnerships with
governments and the private sector. This will give us
flexible, scalable and adaptable capabilities. Our oil spill
response, salvage oversight, community and volunteer
engagement, communications and other necessary
response capabilities will continue to be developed and,
critically, to become more integrated.
Typically, most marine oil spills in our waters are small
in volume, and are usually easily managed and of low
impact. However, New Zealand also needs to be ready
to respond to significant spills, which are low-probability
events but of high impact. Therefore, the marine oil spill

response system needs to be broad in its application,
with the capability to mount an effective response,
whatever the scale of spill.
Following international best practice and convention
guidance, New Zealand has implemented a three-tiered
approach to all aspects of marine oil spill readiness
and response. This approach ensures an appropriate
response capability is readily available to deal with oil
spills commensurate to the risks. These tiers are:
•

•

•

Tier 1 oil spills are responded to and resolved by
the operator. Oil spill response capability is based
on risk. The level of response is expected to consist
of a timely ‘first strike’ and includes the capacity for
Maritime NZ to assist if there is an escalation to a
Tier 2 or Tier 3 response.
Tier 2 oil spills are generally those beyond the
capability of the operator acting alone and the
response is led and resolved by the local regional
council. The specific capacity required by the regional
council is based on the risks at its location.
Tier 3 oil spills are generally more complex, of
longer duration and impact, and beyond the
response capability of the regional council or
operator. The response is nationally led and
coordinated by Maritime NZ.

Tier 1 and Tier 2 responses can be escalated in
an integrated and efficient manner to the next tier,
depending on the actual or potential consequences of
the event. Tier 3 responses may be augmented and
supported with assistance from other national and
international organisations and agencies.
Comprehensive arrangements are in place to secure
overseas assistance if the scale of an incident is beyond
the nation’s domestic capability. These arrangements
are reciprocal, so New Zealand is expected to assist its
overseas partners if requested.

How well have we done?
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SYSTEM INDICATOR

TARGET

2017/18 RESULT

Annual number of oil spill incidents reported
in New Zealand waters

Reduce oil spill incidents by 15%
by 2021 (from 2015). <80 oil spills

97 oil spills reported
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FIGURE 3: INDICATOR: ANNUAL NUMBER OF OIL SPILL INCIDENTS10
REPORTED IN NZ WATERS
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We monitor the number of oil spills (including type of
oil and total volume) reported directly or via regional
councils. In 2017/18 a total of 97 oil spills across
New Zealand (Tier 1 and 2) were reported. This is a
small increase on the previous year but, as in previous
years, most of these spills were of very small quantities –
often a few fractions of a litre. The data reflects the
rigour of the reporting requirements.

Where to from here?
We will continue to support the development of
operators’ Tier 1 response capability by actively
engaging with them and regional councils to provide
guidance, advice and expertise about what’s required.
The focus continues to be on working with the major oil
transfer sites as these pose the greatest potential risk.
We are ensuring that the lessons learnt from our
Tier 3 oil capability response exercise, Paihere, carried
out during the year is recognised in our ongoing
response activity and that our oil spill response
equipment is kept up to date with an increased spend
in the capital plan.
We will continue to be intelligence-led risk-focused and
situationally-aware by using the best tools available to
us. This includes WebEOC, a web-based emergency
management system, which gives us the full picture at
a glance and means we can coordinate effectively and
make better decisions faster to ensure our environment
is clean and protected.

Maritime NZ joins with the
largest provider of oil spill
readiness
Late in December 2017 Maritime NZ signed up as
an associate member of the largest non-government
provider of oil spill readiness and response services in
the world – Oil Spill Response Limited (OSRL).
OSRL holds significant oil spill recovery and containment
equipment and a fleet of aircraft for observation and
dispersant deployment. Associate membership confirms
a key international relationship supporting readiness
and response capability. It guarantees the availability of
response personnel and equipment and reduces risk to
the Crown if the ‘spiller’ is unable, or unwilling, to pay.
Overall this is a great outcome for New Zealand.
Being an associate member gives us access to a
significant number of services and equipment in an
incident response. These include 24/7 response
services, and access to their global stockpile of
equipment resources, for containment and recovery
operations.

10 Data on spill volumes has been more consistently captured and reported from 2014/15.
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How our outcomes, goals and outputs come together

VISION A maritime community that

works and plays safely and
securely on clean waters

WHY
HOW

SAFE

Our maritime
transport system
supports,
encourages
and requires
strong safety,
security and
environmentally
responsible
standards and
behaviours

SECURE

WHAT

Increase our international
influence in the
regulatory environment

Minimise the
regulatory and
compliance burden

Regulation
that is
relevant
and robust

A resultsdriven, resilient
organisation,
working
collaboratively
for success

24

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

Output Class 1
Influencing the
policy environment
for the maritime
sector

Output Class 2
Maritime Safety and
Protection Services

MISSION A professional, evidence-

based, intelligence-led, riskfocused regulatory, compliance
and response agency

Our maritime
transport
system
protects
people and
goods from
unlawful
actions as they
move across
domestic and
international
waters

CLEAN

DESIRED
MARITIME
SYSTEM
OUTCOMES

Our maritime
environment
is clean and
protected

Enhance our facilitation
and leadership role within
the maritime sector

STRATEGIC
PIVOTS
STRATEGIC
GOALS

Make it easy for
regulated parties to
do the right thing

Risk-focused,
responsive
compliance practices
that reduce harm in
the maritime system

Output Class 3
Marine Pollution
Response Services

Response capability
that is well prepared
and effectively
deployed to resolve
emergency incidents

Output Class 4
Search and Rescue
Coordination
Services

Output Class 5
Maritime Incident
Response Capability
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Supporting safe, secure and clean
waters requires ongoing focus,
engagement and vigilance
Our annual strategic work programme is focused on developing the capability of our people, and ensuring
that our regulatory, compliance and response systems and processes are well aligned, and enhanced
where required.

Our strategic goals outline where we are concentrating
our efforts
We engage in activities that collectively support,
encourage and require all maritime sector participants
to demonstrate safety, security and environmentally
responsible standards and behaviours.
We work closely with a wide range of stakeholders
to help us sustain and widen our level of influence.
Monitoring our impact at this level is critical to ensuring

Regulation
that is relevant
and robust

that our activities are directed appropriately and can
make most difference over time.
We also monitor aspects of our collective internal
organisational capability since this also contributes to
our ability to positively impact on those we regulate.
Collectively, these impacts allow us to demonstrate
our contribution to a maritime environment that is safe,
secure and clean:

Risk-focused,
responsive
compliance practices
that reduce harm
in the maritime
system

Response
capability that
is well prepared
and effectively
deployed to
resolve emergency
incidents

A
results-driven,
resilient
organisation,
working
collaboratively
for success

Key achievements during 2017/18
Strategic performance indicators were established in our Statement of Intent 2015–2021 (to measure progress
against impact areas under each of our strategic goals) and Statement of Performance Expectations 2017/18
(output classes).
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Strategic Goal 1:
Regulation that is relevant and robust

RELEVANT
MEANS:

ROBUST
MEANS:

•

Fit-for-purpose, focused on the
degree of potential risk

•

Current, in step with economic,
social and technological
developments

•

Acknowledges industry needs,
readily understood and easy to
apply, and supports behavioural
change

•

Internationally credible with maritime
agencies and governments

•

Durable, but can adapt to changing
needs

•

Evidence-based, developed through
rigorous processes

Robust and relevant regulation establishes
internationally credible clear standards based
on rigorous development and supporting
evidence. By monitoring the on-going
performance and condition of our regulatory
system, and the regulatory environment in which
we operate, our regulation remains relevant
to the New Zealand context. It means we are
more able to adapt to changes in the maritime
environment and the behaviour of commercial
and recreational participants.
Our regulatory stewardship ensures that our
regulation is geared to the degree of risk posed
by different maritime activities and is transparent
and easy to apply.

INTENDED IMPACTS
•

Our international engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests

•

Our policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental protection
regulation is fit for purpose

•

Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety, security and
marine environmental protection interests

•

We undertake comprehensive domain assessments that continually shape regulation and
compliance practices
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INTERNATIONAL ENGAGEMENT ENSURES GLOBAL REGULATION ALIGNS
WITH NEW ZEALAND’S INTERESTS
As almost 99% of New Zealand’s trade (by volume) is transported by sea, the country is highly dependent on safe
and efficient shipping. International rule making facilitates trade by regulating the global shipping industry, providing
predictability and certainty for the carriage of sea freight across multiple jurisdictions. New Zealand is reliant on foreign
ships to carry this trade and it is important to ensure that the international rules being set reflect this country’s safety,
security and environmental protection interests, and can be readily incorporated into New Zealand regulation.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Improve International Engagement

Desired result: International engagement ensures global
regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests.

Review of the Strategy for Maritime New Zealand’s International
Engagement.
Advising government on new conventions and obligations to
which New Zealand is not party.

Indicator: Prioritised contribution at international meetings
and fora where Maritime NZ can influence international
outcomes to reflect New Zealand’s interests.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Review of the Strategy for Maritime New Zealand’s International Engagement
Our International Engagement Strategy was finalised in early 2018, and now provides a clear framework for the scope,
purpose and way we will interact with international fora and agencies to support our own regulatory, compliance and response
activities. We have started using a system of prioritisation across Maritime NZ and will extend this in 2018/19. This will improve
coordination of our international engagement efforts, and ensure that finite resources are allocated well to lift our international
influence and reach (consistent with our strategic ‘pivot’).
Activities completed include:
•

assessing and prioritising attendance at the International Maritime Organization (IMO) committee and technical subcommittee
meetings with a view to advancing New Zealand’s interests

•

expanding the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme (PMSP) with a renewed focus on supporting better safety outcomes for
our Pacific neighbours

•

leading the Polar Code II initiative (safety measures for non-SOLAS11 vessels operating in polar waters), a key maritime issue
directly impacting New Zealand’s national interest primarily due to our SAR responsibilities

•

establishing a framework for promoting a consistent approach to Pacific interests at IMO

•

advising and supporting other government agencies on emerging issues such as marine litter and the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Trade’s (MFAT) oceans strategy.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
Prioritised contribution at international meetings and fora where Maritime NZ can influence
international outcomes to reflect New Zealand’s interests
We have continued our strategic approach, prioritising the allocation of limited resources to international developments that have
the most impact on outcomes for New Zealand’s maritime system and environment.
The results to date show we’ve made good progress on focusing our international engagement efforts across the organisation
on issues that advance key areas of interest for New Zealand. This provides a clear, uniform approach to our international work
and the levels of effort and prioritisation required for attending meetings overseas.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
We are currently expanding our efforts to have a more influential role, including providing regional leadership to improve Pacific
maritime safety and response settings. Given New Zealand’s economic and regulatory interests, we have an opportunity to help
shape an increasingly integrated global regulatory system by targeting our engagement in the Pacific, Asia-Pacific and global
fora we are part of.
We will continue to work closely with MoT and MFAT to ensure appropriate engagement at the international level.
The Polar Code II initiative will continue to be a key strategic project for us. During 2018/19 we will make progress on mandatory
and recommended safety measures for fishing vessels, pleasure yachts and cargo vessels between 300 and 500 gross tonnage.
11 Non-SOLAS ships are commercial vessels that are not subject to requirements of the International Convention for the Safety of
Life at Sea (SOLAS), 1974.
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We can influence international outcomes to reflect
New Zealand’s interests
One of our key relationships is with the International
Maritime Organization (IMO). As a specialised UN
agency, IMO is the global standard-setting authority
for the safety, security and environmental performance
of international shipping. Its main role is to create a
regulatory framework for the shipping industry that is
fair and effective, universally adopted and universally
implemented. International standards set at IMO also
enhance the safety of mariners and passengers. Active
participation in this forum enables New Zealand to
benefit from the international best practice of 174
Member States and three Associate Members, to
efficiently and safely get products and people to market
while also protecting our marine environment for all
New Zealanders.
New Zealand is a signatory to over 30 IMO conventions
and protocols. IMO has a high output ‘treaty system’,
which places a burden on Member States to remain up
to date with implementing legislation and compliance
activities. New Zealand has a limited capacity to
consider and adopt new international conventions,
recommendations and guidelines, which means we may
not get the full benefit out of participation, and risk falling
behind international best practice.

A large number of maritime treaties to which
New Zealand is already party have ‘tacit acceptance’
mechanisms, which mean that ongoing amendments
to the treaties apply to New Zealand unless we actively
object within a determined timeframe. Unless we
maintain effective engagement, this poses the risk that
the government will become subject to new obligations
that it did not want to accept and have not properly
been implemented into domestic law.
In May 2018 the Director led a delegation at IMO to
advance our Polar Code II initiative.
At the meeting the Secretary-General of IMO said that
the Organization is starting to look at widening the
areas in which it is involved. Examples include ‘oceans
governance’ – to take steps that improve matters for
‘mankind’. He noted that IMO is currently facing big
questions about how it can be modernised in the face of
technological advancement. The Secretary-General also
announced that Nauru is the latest Member State to join
IMO, bringing the total to 177 members.
Following the meeting the Secretary-General
acknowledged New Zealand’s leadership role
in advancing the Polar Code II initiative. He also
praised New Zealand for our championing of marine
environmental issues at IMO.

Kitack Lim IMO Secretary-General and Sir Jerry Mateparae, New Zealand High Commissioner to the United Kingdom
with Keith Manch, Director Maritime NZ at the IMO Headquarters London.
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POLICY ADVICE ENSURES MARITIME SAFETY, SECURITY AND MARINE
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION REGULATION IS FIT FOR PURPOSE
Sound, clear and concise policy advice is essential to enable the development of appropriate maritime regulation
to support international agreements, treaties and conventions, and to promote cost-effective risk-based maritime
initiatives that support our key outcomes.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021
Deliver Annual Regulatory Programme
Delivery of an annual regulatory programme which includes:
•

the development of an agreed annual rules and policy
programme

•

reviews of legislation and regulations that support the
maritime system

•

reviews of sector safety standards.

SUCCESS MEASURE
Desired result: We provide advice on the regulatory
framework and advance policy and regulatory advice to
address gaps to ensure that regulation is, and remains,
relevant and robust. Regulatory shortcomings are not found to
be a major contributing factor in fatal/serious harm accidents.
Indicator: The transport regulatory programme is
appropriately prioritised to ensure regulation is fit for purpose.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
We completed a range of rules projects and policy investigations to give effect to regulation that is relevant and robust. Our work
has been informed by the principles of good regulatory stewardship across the transport sector.
Various rules were completed to implement international obligations including new provisions for implementing the Ballast Water
Management Convention. A significant regulatory stewardship project was completed during the year following a policy analysis
of the performance of the current Part 40 series Maritime Rules, which regulate the construction, design, equipment and survey
of ships. The policy analysis identified the need to significantly reform the rules on these matters for domestic ships.
We also worked closely with the Ministry of Transport on amendments to the Maritime Transport Act which introduced, among
other things, a drug and alcohol testing regime in the maritime sector.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
Our continued emphasis on developing a comprehensive multi-year regulatory programme (in partnership with the MoT) based
on the principles of regulatory stewardship demonstrates our progress towards lifting our maturity as a modern regulator and
ensuring that maritime regulation remains fit for purpose.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Acknowledging that our regulatory programme is a multi-year effort, many of the 2017/18 rules projects have been reprioritised
with the agreement of the MoT, and where necessary, rolled over to the 2018/19 regulatory programme. We will continue
to focus on developing relevant and robust regulation informed by the principles of regulatory stewardship. This means
emphasising the review of the Part 40 series rules.
The successful completion of this programme of work will help future proof our ship design and construction rules as the
foundation of our regulatory and compliance model over the coming years. We will also continue to ensure alignment with
international regulatory developments.
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GOVERNMENT INITIATIVES ARE INFORMED BY AN AWARENESS OF
MARITIME SAFETY AND SECURITY, AND MARINE ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION INTERESTS
We work with other agencies to ensure that maritime interests are reflected in government decision making in other
areas of activity (ranging from health and safety in employment through to offshore mining) and that the different
legislative frameworks are compatible and integrated. This alignment helps smooth the approval and monitoring
processes for maritime operations, as well as supporting achievement of our outcomes for a safe, secure and clean
maritime environment.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

SUCCESS MEASURE

Contribute to Government Regulatory Reform
Contribution to government reviews and developments (2015–2021) including:
•

Customs Act Review

•

Fire Service Act Review

•

Ministry of Transport (MoT) review of alcohol and drug use in transport industries

•

Consideration of changes to the Oil Pollution Levy

•

Ministry of Transport and Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment
(MBIE) consideration of options for financial security requirements in the offshore
oil and gas industry.

Desired result: Key players consult
Maritime NZ on relevant policy and
programmes. Our contribution
influences the outcome where
appropriate.
Indicator: Maritime NZ’s engagement
and policy advice improves external
stakeholders’ understanding of safety,
security and environmental protection
interests.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Contribution to government reviews and developments
We have been a key player in engaging and influencing key policy initiatives across Government over the past year. We have also
been an active participant in the Transport System Resilience Project being advanced by the MoT and the Ministry for Primary
Industries’ (MPI) Biosecurity 2025 Strategy.
Examples of our input across a range of policy projects being conducted by our colleagues, both within and beyond the
transport sector, include MBIE’s Health and Safety at Work Strategy and the Ministry for the Environment’s proposed
amendments to the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 (EEZ Act).
There has also been successful collaboration with our colleagues at MPI on the implementation of the Ballast Water
Management Convention. On the international stage, we commenced joint work with the Australian Maritime Safety Authority on
issues of mutual interest such as the regulation of marine autonomous surface ships, and collaborated on the development of
robust regulation and safety systems among our Pacific neighbours.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
Maritime NZ’s engagement and policy advice improves external stakeholders’ understanding of safety,
security and environmental protection interests
Over the year, our engagement and policy advice has improved external stakeholders’ understanding of safety, security and
environmental protection interests. Our advocacy on maritime safety, security and marine protection, such as the development of
a marine sanctuary off the South Taranaki Bight, has been well received by stakeholders and has led to well-informed and robust
advice to Ministers.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Our latest Letter of Expectations from the Minister of Transport reinforces the need for us to focus on regulatory stewardship
and the rules programme. We will contribute to this actively as well as any other wider regulatory reform that impacts on
our interests.
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IMPLEMENTATION OF THE BALLAST WATER MANAGEMENT CONVENTION
New Zealand acceded to IMO’s Ballast Water
Management Convention in 2016, with its provisions
coming into force on 8 September 2017.
Operators of ships that undertake international voyages
to or from New Zealand waters and have systems
installed for the carriage of non-permanent ballast water
now need to comply with new regulations to manage
their ballast water.
About 20 New Zealand-flagged commercial ships were
affected by the change in our maritime laws, along
with a few New Zealand ocean-going yachts that may
carry ballast. Examples of commercial vessels that
are affected include large fishing vessels operating
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in other countries and inter-island ferries travelling
overseas to dry-dock for maintenance. International
vessels travelling to this country, such as those carrying
cargo and cruise passengers, are expected to already
comply with the Convention as required by overseas
jurisdictions and existing MPI regulations.
While initially the requirements of the Convention are
mostly managed by exchanging ballast water midocean, ship owners will eventually need to install ballast
water treatment equipment. These systems are now
generally included in the design and construction of
large new-builds of ships.

COMPREHENSIVE DOMAIN ASSESSMENTS CONTINUALLY SHAPE
REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE PRACTICES
Regulation must be responsive to environmental and behavioural changes. Regular, accurate and comprehensive
assessments of the key issues and risks that exist in areas under our jurisdiction directly contribute to the quality of
regulation, and our ability to make appropriate compliance decisions.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Develop Evaluation Framework

Desired result: Domain assessments continually shape
regulation and compliance practices.

Make use of relevant research and data collection opportunities
and skills on offer in the wider transport sector.

Indicator: Domain assessments inform decision making.

Undertake Reviews of the Maritime System
Coastal Navigation Safety Review
Review and refresh the Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code
Development of Sector Reports.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Develop evaluation framework
An overarching evaluation framework for MOSS and SeaCert was not advanced this year. Although a MOSS evaluation
framework was developed in 2016/17, the SeaCert evaluation framework was only partly completed and then paused to allow
for the further regulatory reform relating to the ring-fencing of legacy certificates.

Undertake reviews of the maritime system
•

Coastal Navigation Safety Review: completed 2016

•

Review and refresh the Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code: completed and promulgated in 2016 as a tripartite
sector partnership arrangement

•

Development of Sector Reports: completed 2017.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET
Domain assessments inform decision making
This impact measure has been updated in our Statement of Intent 2018-2022 to reflect our realigned intelligence focus.
We used the eight initial sector reports (completed in 2017) to inform and provide a context for our regulatory and compliance
decision making. With the establishment of the National Intelligence Unit, more targeted intelligence products are now being
produced to help better identify specific vessels that may be involved in future events, as well as supporting a robust risk-based,
evidence-led approach to addressing systemic risks within and across the sectors.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
The MOSS evaluation will be undertaken in 2018/19, and the SeaCert evaluation framework is expected to be completed
this year. This work will support our more integrated intelligence approach, which we will continue to bed in over 2018/19,
and will be critical to decision making and selecting the most appropriate agency response (e.g. a direct operator intervention,
a sector rule change, development of guidance, implementation of a compliance marketing campaign, etc.) to the problem/risk
highlighted.
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Strategic Goal 2:
Risk-focused, responsive compliance
practices that reduce harm
in the maritime system
RISKFOCUSED
MEANS:

RESPONSIVE
MEANS:

•

Targeted and proportionate to
sector/operator risks

•

Exercising sound judgment in
applying the right regulatory tools
at the right time

•

Putting emphasis on prevention
of harm

•

Based on a problem-solving
approach

•

Acknowledging industry business
drivers, but not dictated by them

•

Consistent and reliable
engagement, without unnecessary
transaction costs

Predictive, risk-focused, responsive compliance
practices enable us to recognise the diversity of
the sectors we regulate; and target our resources
and activities to focus on preventing harm and to
address varying risks between different sectors
and operators. In practice this means we adopt a
problem-solving approach, based on increasingly
detailed understandings of the factors that shape
the operations and behaviours of those we
regulate. We also apply a range of interventions;
selecting the strategies and tools that increase
the likelihood of compliance by different sectors,
groups and individuals.
Our effectiveness also depends on being seen
as a professional, credible agency that is fair and
appropriate. It is important that we design and
implement consistent and reliable compliance
processes that are informed by an understanding
of circumstances of the maritime sector, and
do not impose undue complexity or cost on
the sector.

INTENDED IMPACTS
•

Our compliance strategies and campaigns:
•

•

•

•
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support, encourage and require commercial operators to take responsibility for
the safety of their maritime operations
lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours across the recreational
boating community
are based on monitoring and risk profiling to ensure the most appropriate
interventions are chosen to address risks to safety, security and cleanliness of
our waters

Implementation of the seafarer certification framework supports international
acceptance of seafarer qualifications
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COMPLIANCE STRATEGIES AND CAMPAIGNS SUPPORT, ENCOURAGE AND
REQUIRE COMMERCIAL OPERATORS TO TAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
SAFETY OF THEIR MARITIME OPERATIONS
The best compliance outcomes are achieved when the sector understands the risks it faces and actively works
to manage them appropriately. Both the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA) and the Health and Safety at Work
Act 2015 (HSWA) are based on this premise and provide a wide range of tools to achieve compliance, providing a
balance between mandatory requirements for entry control, audit and enforcement on the one hand, and information
and support on the other. It is this approach that underpins the Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) for
domestic operators, where we are working directly with operators and vessel surveyors to achieve safety outcomes.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Implement Health and Safety at Work Reforms

Desired result: Operators demonstrate a good
understanding of appropriate safety systems and their
accountabilities; and through good practice, there is a
reduction in the need for direct intervention by Maritime
NZ, and a reducing risk profile across sectors subject to
MOSS and the new health and safety requirements.

Implement and demonstrate the value of the new HSWA by working
with WorkSafe NZ to coordinate implementation activities. These
will limit dual compliance requirements and ensure that the new
HSWA regulations are easy for operators to use and comply with.

Implement Maritime Operator Safety System
Implement and demonstrate the value of the MOSS by:
•

supporting relevant sectors to transition from Safe Ship
Management (SSM) into MOSS

•

building operators’ safety knowledge ‘up front’ and their
understanding of MOSS

•

building frontline maritime technical capability.

Indicator: A reducing risk profile, over time, within
sectors subject to MOSS.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Implement Health and Safety at Work Reforms
The new health and safety legislation came into force in April 2016, expanding our health and safety responsibilities for the
maritime sector. At the beginning of the 2016/17 financial year we secured additional funding for HSWA purposes, which has
allowed us to develop policy to support legislation and regulations, issue generic and tailored guidance material on health and
safety obligations to the maritime industry and deliver organisation-wide HSWA training.
All frontline staff are now warranted as Health and Safety Inspectors and the training has become standard practice for new
frontline employees. On-the-job training and mentoring of HSWA inspectors continues, with positive feedback being received
from the mentor and inspectors. HSWA assessments are now being carried out in alignment with routine MOSS audits, to
ensure consistency of messaging regarding safety. This approach has been welcomed by industry.
Our efforts this year have increased industry knowledge and awareness of the HSWA legislation. We have successfully
completed two national targeted campaigns – one involving the stevedore companies and the work around loading log ships,
and the other targeting machine guarding on commercial vessels.
The results of the stevedoring inspection campaign have led to significant improvements in managing specific health and
safety issues. Importantly, they have helped the industry understand the role we play in port safety and have improved the
level of engagement. We are now being notified of more incidents than before and several unsafe practices have stopped. The
stevedore companies’ safety management systems appear to be more relevant and effective than they were 18 months ago.

Implement Maritime Operator Safety System
The MOSS framework was introduced in July 2014, replacing the former SSM system. MOSS marks the most significant change
to New Zealand’s regulatory regime for domestic commercial shipping for 16 years and covers approximately 1,665 operators
and 2,824 vessels.
MOSS is now well embedded – most existing commercial maritime operators have transitioned into MOSS and new operators
are entering every month.
In general, industry feedback is that MOSS has been a positive shift from the previous SSM system, with the majority of
operators taking increased accountability for, and ownership of, the safety of their operations.
MOSS has demonstrably improved the relationship between us and the domestic commercial maritime industry in New Zealand
and through these relationships we are now better placed to educate and support industry using a variety of compliance tools.
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ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
A reducing risk profile, over time, within sectors subject to MOSS
The risk profile of an individual operation is assessed as MOSS applications are processed by our staff. The overall risk profile
score is used to calculate the timing for the operation to undergo its first audit under MOSS (within a two-year timeframe) and
subsequent audits (over a four-year timeframe depending on the risk profile). It provides an indicative risk baseline but will
change over time as the remaining operators expected to enter MOSS submit their applications and undergo an initial risk
assessment. MOSS audits will provide us with more accurate risk data to determine how the risk profiles of sectors subject to
MOSS are evolving.
During the year the average total score for MOSS entry profiles was 24.9%, which is a decrease from last financial year’s score
of 25.2%, and is at the lower end of the standard risk profile band. Most operators in MOSS have now had an initial audit and
some a second audit where their risk profile has been reassessed. The average initial audit risk score is 23.9%, suggesting a
decreasing risk profile for operators in MOSS.
We also implemented an automated method for collating risk profile data using our data analysis tool Power BI12, and are
focusing effort on ensuring the integrity of the dataset. The automated dataset will bring improved efficiency and accuracy and
enable standardised reporting and greater insight into operator safety behaviour. So far, 1,184 MOSS entry risk profiles have
been completed and loaded into Power BI for analysis of baseline.
More details of the results of this are found in impact 3 below: Compliance strategies and campaigns are based on monitoring
and risk profiling to ensure the most appropriate interventions are chosen to address risks to the safety, security and cleanliness
of our waters.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
To ensure our compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial operators to take responsibility
for the safety of their maritime operations, we will continue to develop our baseline risk profile. By the end of the 2018/19
financial year we will have audited enough operators to analyse the change in industry risk profile between the MOSS entry and
audit stages.

12 Power BI is a suite of business analytics tools to analyse data and share insights. Power BI dashboards provide a 360-degree
view for business users with their most important metrics in one place, updated in real time, and available on all of their devices.
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LIFTING EQUIPMENT ON BOARD SHIPS A SERIOUS SAFETY RISK
We have identified cranes and other lifting equipment
on board foreign ships as a serious safety risk. In the
last year, we received an average of two notifications
per month of failures, incidents or near misses involving
lifting equipment on board ships visiting New Zealand.
We are also aware that not all cases have been
reported. We wrote to organisations working with
ships in New Zealand ports advising them of their
legal responsibilities and clarifying our position in the
event of a lifting equipment failure. To follow up, we
held an industry-wide workshop in June to address
these serious concerns. Agents, charterers including
large import and export companies, port companies,
stevedores, unions, harbourmasters, marine operations
managers and classification societies all have had a part
to play in improving safety in this area. In addition, we
worked through the International Maritime Organization
to change international safety rules about lifting
equipment on board ships.
The MTA and HSWA put legal requirements on ships’
masters, and others involved in working with a ship, to
provide timely notification and preserve the scene of
an incident. The easiest way to report is to complete
an online accident or incident report. This can also be
reported by phone or in person. Where an accident,
incident or notifiable event involving lifting equipment
occurs, we expect all work involving lifting equipment on
board that ship to stop to allow us to respond, ensure
the scene is preserved and assess the hazards with
ongoing operations.

In the interests of safety, where the cause of a failure is
unknown or may be present in other lifting equipment,
we will impose conditions that no lifting equipment on
that ship is to be used until all equipment has been
inspected, where necessary repaired, and confirmed
as safe to use. This is to ensure that the remaining
equipment is fit for purpose and that its use will not
endanger anyone. Inspection and approval of on-board
lifting equipment must be to the satisfaction of the
ship’s classification society. In some cases it may be
necessary to detain a ship for an investigation. Likewise,
where there are clear grounds for a Port State Control
inspection, we will prioritise such an inspection.
We appreciate the sector’s understanding that lifting
operations need to stop to prevent harm following an
incident, and greatly value their cooperation in promptly
reporting notifiable events and preserving the scene.

Statistics
From 28 May 2017 to 17 April 2018, we received
55 notifications about ships’ lifting equipment or the
handling of cargo on cargo ships in New Zealand. Of
these, 39 were notifiable events13. Of these notifiable
events, 18 were failures of crane hoist/runner wires.
There were no reported injuries.

13 A notifiable event is any event that arises from work and includes a death a notifiable illness or injury or a notifiable incident. Only
serious events are intended to be notified. These trigger requirements to preserve the site, notify the regulator and keep records.
The notifiable incident, illness, injury or death must arise out of the conduct of the business or undertaking. It could be due to
the condition of the work site, the way the work activity is organised, or the way equipment or substances are used.
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SAFETY STRATEGIES AND CAMPAIGNS LEAD TO IMPROVED SAFETY
ATTITUDES AND BEHAVIOURS ACROSS THE RECREATIONAL BOATING
COMMUNITY
More than a quarter of the New Zealand population is involved in recreational boating, using a diverse range of craft,
including power boats, dinghies, jet skis, kayaks, stand up paddleboards and sailboards. These activities are often
undertaken for pleasure rather than transportation, and people build their experience and skill over time rather than
having to complete formal entry requirements, as commercial seafarers often do.
Coastguard Boating Education offers a range of training and education opportunities for boat users, although take-up
is voluntary. Because of this, the risks are different from in the commercial sector. The strategies we develop to
promote safety within the recreational boating sector must reflect this difference in motivations, and the more limited
regulatory levers we can bring to bear on this sector. A wide range of other organisations are involved in water safety
and we have found it highly beneficial to work in collaboration with them.14
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Implement Recreational Boating Initiatives

Desired result: Recreational boaties are more knowledgeable
about safety and demonstrate safer behaviour.

Delivery of annual safer recreational boating advertising and
educational campaigns.
Leadership of the NZ Safer Boating Forum and the
delivery of the Safer Boating Strategic Work Plan
2015–2017(currently under revision).

Indicators:
Safety equipment is increasingly carried and used appropriately
by recreational boaties over time.
An increasing proportion of survey respondents report
positive changes in behaviour as a result of exposure to safety
messages.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Delivery of annual safer recreational boating campaigns
Our safer recreational boating advertising, education and compliance campaigns have built awareness among New Zealand’s
1.5 million boaties, with 75% of them saying they now wear a lifejacket all or most of the time (an increase from 60% in 2013).
During the year, we and our partners on the NZ Safer Boating Forum14 continued to improve attitudes towards lifejacket wearing
and increase safer boating behaviours. We targeted the key risk factors leading to fatalities – failure to wear lifejackets, not
carrying two forms of emergency communications, not checking the weather forecast before heading out on the water, and
avoiding alcohol consumption. We continue to remind boaties that they have legal responsibilities as skippers.
Our summer safety awareness initiatives (from October to March) were launched successfully nationwide and included:
•

Safer Boating Week, which promoted skipper responsibility and encouraged boaties to get prepared for the summer
boating season. The key messages were – Prep your boat, Check your gear, and Know the rules

•

Funding $0.475 million to deliver regional education programmes through the Safer Boating Forum including:
Coastguard’s Old4New initiative saw 3,500 old lifejackets replaced with new lifejackets; 3,500 school children received Volvo
learn to sail yachting lessons; Folau Malu trained 96 Pacific champions in Day Skipper and six did Boat Master courses; Hiwi
the Kiwi reached 5,000 low-decile Auckland primary school students with its fishing and boating safety programme; and
thousands of boaties received face-to-face education, training and information

•

‘Big Angry Fish’ TV3 hosts fronting a refreshed digital online, advertising and social media campaign under the umbrella
slogan ‘Nobody’s faster than Disaster’. It encouraged boaties to ‘Take VHF’ and ‘Wear your lifejacket’. They role modelled
safer boating behaviour on their fishing programme and made the ‘The Big In-flight Safety Video’, which was viewed 98,000
times

14 The NZ Safer Boating Forum is a formal network of 23 boating and water safety organisations including the marine industry,
central and local government agencies, national and regional government agencies, local body groups and boating
organisations involved in recreational boating in New Zealand.
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OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR (CONTINUED)
•

Advertising on the MetService marine weather mobile app, which has been downloaded 240,000 times and has about
30,000 individual users a month.

Leadership of the NZ Safer Boating Forum and the delivery of the Safer Boating Strategic Work
Plan 2015–2017
The purpose of the NZ Safer Boating Forum, which has widespread membership from across the recreational boating sector,
is to work together to improve New Zealand’s recreational boating safety record. The Forum’s strategic plan and associated
work programme is focused on three key goals – ensuring that research and analysis drive safety programmes; that safety
programmes are nationally aligned, risk-based and robust; and that safety initiatives are developed collaboratively and
implementation is coordinated nationally.
During the year, the Safer Boating Forum:
Revised the Safer Boating Strategic Work Plan 2015–2017 which uses research to drive evidence-based safety
programmes, and develops and implements nationally aligned safer boating initiatives. This included continuing to improve data,
research and analysis; promoting a common compliance approach for regional councils; developing a Forum Position Statement
for boaties to wear lifejackets in vessels 6 metres and under in length, while underway; and encouraging the carriage and use of
communications equipment. The revised plan is still in draft.
Supported the ‘No Excuses’ on the water enforcement campaign, which ran for its second year in collaboration with
10 councils. Survey results show higher levels of lifejacket carriage (94%) than the 86% carriage reported in the annual
Recreational Boating Participation survey, conducted using an online methodology. The ‘No Excuses’ work is part of a common
compliance approach with councils to encourage a more consistent compliance approach across the country. We still have
work to do to get recreational boaties wearing lifejackets at all times when underway in craft of 6 metres or less.
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ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
We worked with 10 regional councils to conduct an on-water campaign of recreational vessels, in particular their speed and
lifejacket carriage/compliance with bylaws. The campaign ran from December 2017 to February 2018 and throughout this time
Maritime NZ and council staff collected observational data from over 2,200 recreational vessels.
The 2017 and the 2018 annual research conducted for the Safer Boating Forum by Ipsos looks at recreational boat user
participation and reports on the attitudes of boaties toward safety behaviour and using safety equipment.

Safety equipment carried by recreational boaties in 2018
The Ipsos research shows that recreational boat users slightly increased their rates of carrying lifejackets to 87% in 2018
compared with 86% in 2017. Carrying a cell phone in a waterproof bag (53%) and not in a waterproof bag (19%) makes the cell
phone the most common form of communication device in a boat. Other communications equipment carried included marine
radio (25%), torch (25%), flares (23%), distress beacon (18%), and air-horn (8%).
Only one in four recreational boat users have access to a marine radio, which is of concern to us (unchanged from 2016). In
response, in the past year we launched a ‘Take VHF’ campaign to improve this behaviour and we are also encouraging boaties
to take two waterproof forms of communications.
The survey observational results from the ‘No Excuses’ on the water campaign showed the large majority (94%) of boaties
carried enough lifejackets for all those on board. However, only (83%) of vessel occupants were compliant with council bylaws to
wear lifejackets, when required.
The 2018 Recreational Boating Participation Survey showed 91% of recreational boaties carried some form of communication
equipment, which was often a cell phone, although not necessarily in a dry bag. Over 55% of boat users had two or more forms
of communication.
Over half (55%) of recreational boaties recalled seeing safety messages, or having knowledge of safer boating activities, in the
past 12 months. This is significantly higher among power boaties, who continue to be the main target audience of the annual
summer campaign. A contributing factor to the slight drop in results achieved for this measure (55% in 2018 compared with
58% in 2017) may be that we have not conducted national TV advertising for two years. Instead we delivered messages through
a national digital media and social media campaign and supported regional initiatives.

Increasing proportion of survey respondents who report positive changes in behaviour as a result of
exposure to safety messages
Reported safety behaviour has improved for three of the four recommended safety behaviours. Most boaties are doing the right
thing, with (88%) non-drinkers, (81%) weather checkers, (76%) lifejacket users and (65%) signallers.
In 2018 the percentage of people wearing lifejackets most and all of the time on the water was 75%, which is a 1% decrease on
2017. A small number of people (7%) said they never wear a lifejacket. This small group of at-risk boaties is difficult both to reach
and to influence in terms of changing their behaviour.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Maritime NZ and the Safer Boating Forum have focused for six years on encouraging boaties to wear lifejackets, with some
positive results in wear and carriage rates. Last summer, we added the ‘Take a VHF’ message to increase the carriage of marine
radios due to the Ipsos research which found marine radio carriage dropping to 25%.
A new VHF TV campaign will be launched in the summer of 2018/19, with a target of increasing the proportion of boaties
carrying VHF marine radios by 5% per annum. In addition, the safety programmes funded by Maritime NZ in the regions and the
work of the Safer Boating Forum will continue to help sustain lifejacket wearing and increase VHF radio carriage. We are also
adding a ‘Check your lifejacket’ message as we are aware that old and kapok lifejackets present a real safety risk to boaties and
must be replaced and destroyed.
To increase the number of boat users carrying and using safety equipment, we need to continue safety campaigns and actively
promote safety messages, through a variety of channels. Most boat users are doing the right thing most of the time. Getting all
boat users to do the right thing every time is a significant and costly challenge, as these boaties may be resisting the messages
rather than not receiving them.
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KĀPITI BOATIES GIVEN
THUMBS UP FOR
LIFEJACKETS AND SPEED
During February 2018 the ‘No Excuses’ team
was impressed with the high number of Kāpiti
boaties wearing lifejackets and following the
speed rules. The team pulled up alongside
approximately 25 boats for the ‘No Excuses’
campaign, which aimed to educate the public
on boating safety.
Boaties were keen for a chat about the rules
with our staff, the Wellington Harbourmaster’s
office and NZ Police who were on board
the Police launch Lady Elizabeth IV. All
recreational boaties were wearing – or had –
lifejackets on board and almost everyone had
at least a vague idea of speed restrictions,
carried at least one form of communication
on board (many had two or three), and had
told someone they were going out on the
water. Many were from a boating club and
had recorded their contact details on the trip
noticeboard at the club.
There is still room for improvement. Some
of the lifejackets on board were very old, so
the boaties were encouraged to get a new
one. Boaties should also consider taking a
VHF radio and distress beacon because cell
phone reception along the coast is patchy.
Some people only had a cell phone to call for
help in an emergency and there’s only limited
reception around Kāpiti Island. The team
pulled up one person for speeding close to
another boat and assisted a family in a small
boat whose anchor had become trapped on
the seafloor.
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COMPLIANCE STRATEGIES AND CAMPAIGNS ARE BASED ON MONITORING
AND RISK PROFILING TO ENSURE THE MOST APPROPRIATE INTERVENTIONS
ARE CHOSEN TO ADDRESS RISKS TO THE SAFETY, SECURITY AND
CLEANLINESS OF OUR WATERS
If we understand the risks the maritime community faces, we can target our resources more effectively and gain
greater impact from them. This means building a strong evidence base about sector and operator risks and using
the right interventions to achieve compliance and reduce harm.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Undertake Targeted Compliance Campaigns

Desired result: Maritime NZ designs and implements
compliance strategies tailored to sectors and/or operations.
More operators within a sector are aware of the compliance
approach Maritime NZ is using and why this is necessary.

Focus operational compliance activities in key commercial
sectors (i.e. foreign shipping, NZISM, fishing, etc) on fatal and
serious harm accidents.
Port State Control inspection programme for international
vessels.
Support frontline intelligence gathering by using relevant
research and data collection opportunities and skills within the
wider transport sector.
Standard audit programme and environmental compliance
activities.

Indicators:
A reducing proportion of high-risk vessels visiting
New Zealand.
Proportion of survey respondents reported by sector who are
aware of their own risk profile and of targeted compliance
strategies.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
During the year two HSWA inspection campaigns were initiated:
The Over 40% inspection campaign, which targeted operators who scored 40% or more on their risk profile when they
first entered MOSS. Thirty-nine commercial operators across a range of sectors fitted into this category. The inspections had
a particular focus on areas of known non-compliance across the industry, even if the operator being inspected had not been
specifically identified as failing in that area. The focus areas were fatigue management, alcohol and drug management, survey
plans, safety equipment and spare parts lists together with other HSWA issues that might arise during the inspection.
The HSWA stevedores inspection campaign, which focused on fatigue management and working at heights as a result
of crane-failure-related issues following many load-loss incidents. Issues identified were addressed by all of the stevedoring
companies during the year, with significantly improved practices implemented nationally. Details of the campaign, phase 1 results
and plans for phase 2 inspections were posted on our website and have been well received by the industry, with praise for the
‘no-surprises’ assisted compliance approach we have taken.
Future stakeholder interactions will continue the positive engagement we have had with the stevedoring sector as a result of
the inspection campaign. The findings from the stevedoring campaign report supported discussions at a ships’ crane lifting
appliance forum held on 29 June 2018.
The Port State Control (PSC) inspection programme for international vessels under the Tokyo Memorandum of
Understanding (Tokyo MOU), to which New Zealand is a signatory, has resulted in great collaboration and intelligence sharing
between the 20 member countries. This information allows New Zealand to alert the other Tokyo MOU members to potential
issues that may be coming to their ports. New Zealand also receives information about ships with potential problems that are
heading our way. We can use this to alert a local pilot, agent or harbourmaster to an issue.
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ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
A reducing proportion of high-risk vessels visiting New Zealand15
We continue to actively address high-risk ships through our PSC inspections. The proportion of vessels visiting New Zealand
that are high risk is reducing.

CALENDAR YEAR
% of the vessels that visited New Zealand that were high-risk
vessels as profiled by the Tokyo MOU

2014

2015

2016

2017

17.9%

15.5%

15.0%

13.0%

Our PSC officers (PSCOs) conducted 257 initial inspections, which resulted in a total of 137 inspections with deficiencies found,
561 total individual deficiencies and eight detentions. The New Zealand detention rate was 3.11%, which is within the goal set
by the Tokyo MOU. Of the 257 initial inspections, 104, or 40.5%, were rated as high risk by the New Inspection Regime (NIR).
We are also evaluating additional risks involving international shipping that are not driven or covered by the Tokyo MOU/NIR.
These include high rates of failure of ships’ lifting appliances aboard vessels calling at New Zealand ports; significant increases
in overall numbers of passenger ships in New Zealand waters as well as increasing passenger ship calls in New Zealand ports;
enhanced focus on Cook Strait ferry operations; and occasional incidents, complaints, accidents and notifications involving
international shipping to which our PSCOs must respond as necessary.
Some additional risk areas will be further explored and analysed in three Focused Inspection Campaigns that are under
development and will be delivered in 2018/19. These will cover ships’ lifting appliances; implementation of the International
Safety Management Code; and pilot transfer arrangements. Findings from these campaigns will form the evidential basis for
additional compliance activities in the area of international shipping.

Proportion of survey respondents reported by sector who are aware of their own risk profile and of
targeted compliance strategies
Risk profiles are part of the process for operators entering MOSS and risk profile scores drive the timing of subsequent audits.
Further, the scores are updated as part of the audits. Given that some operators have now been in MOSS for several years,
others are still in transition, and a small number are yet to enter MOSS, Maritime NZ considers the performance measure as
presented above would only be relevant for the domestic sectors covered by the MOSS framework and not yet for all operators
in these sectors. The results of targeted compliance strategies have been reported above. This year rather than ask operators
about their awareness of their risk profile, Maritime NZ concentrated on completing a cycle of surveying each sector in terms of
what prompted recent engagement with Maritime NZ and how they rated our performance.
Overall, survey findings confirm that we generally meet the expectations of the diverse range of sectors we regulate and we
are rated highly for our competence and fairness. The extent to which we are seen as taking individual circumstances into
account, and offering good value for money, is more variable. While mostly, we are seen as following up on promises (doing what
we said we would) some of the free text comments collected in the surveys provide evidence that not doing so can generate
considerable concern for operators.
Collecting information directly from operators, using a mix of closed and open questions, has given us an insight into how
operators rate their interactions with us and which aspects of those interactions they value the most. Now that all sectors
have been surveyed, we have established a baseline set of results about the topics that prompt operators to contact us, their
communication/channel preferences and how they rate their most recent engagement with us.
Running the survey in two components – a set of core questions was asked of all respondents and a set of questions specific to
each particular sector – allowed us to explore differences/commonalities across sectors while also establishing results relevant
for that sector alone.

15 The data to monitor the trend in high-risk vessels visiting New Zealand is received from the Tokyo MOU through its Technical
Working Group. This group meets annually and the statistics presented are for the previous calendar year. We have preliminary
data for 2017; we will have access to the final data for 2017 in November 2018.
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WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Focused Inspection Campaigns
Three focused inspection campaigns are under development and will be delivered in 2018/19. This will enable us to further
explore and analyse risk areas. The campaigns will cover ships’ lifting appliances; implementation of the International Safety
Management Code; and pilot transfer arrangements. Findings from these campaigns will form the evidential basis for additional
compliance activities in the area of international shipping.

Proportion of survey respondents reported by sector who are aware of their own risk profile and of
targeted compliance strategies
As we develop the next round of surveys, we will address the specific performance measures of whether an increasing
proportion of survey respondents, by sector, rate the timeliness and ease of interactions with us as very good or excellent. We
will review our approach to the future sector survey programme in the first quarter of 2018/19, make adjustments as needed and
then proceed with the next round of surveys.

Compliance initiatives
To ensure we choose the most appropriate interventions to address risks to the safety, security and cleanliness of our waters,
we will continue to use intelligence and targeted compliance campaigns. Two initiatives we are developing to build intelligence
around safety are:

The audit contact initiative
This initiative is intended to provide guidance to MOSS operators on how to address areas of their operation where their risk
profile indicates improvement is needed. Following each MOSS audit, a new risk profile for the operation is produced. Using
information from the risk profile, we will send a series of emails to the operator with information on specific areas for them to
consider for future audits.

The HSWA compliance marketing initiative
In this initiative, we send operators 12 or so emails, each on a given topic – the first being fatigue – with links to a web page
explaining the topic in more depth. These emails seek to build familiarity with the topic and ultimately achieve behaviour change.
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IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SEAFARER CERTIFICATION FRAMEWORK
SUPPORTS INTERNATIONAL ACCEPTANCE OF SEAFARER QUALIFICATIONS
With human error being a significant factor in most maritime accidents, having properly trained and qualified seafarers
who meet international standards is critical to maintaining a safe, secure and clean maritime environment. In pursuit of
this goal, we introduced a new commercial seafarer certification framework to meet the needs of a modern maritime
sector. SeaCert provides a greater focus on competence and proven ability, a clear career path for seafarers, and a
simplified certification service.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

SUCCESS MEASURE

Implement SeaCert framework

Desired result: An increasing number of New Zealand
seafarers have qualifications consistent with Maritime NZ’s
seafarer certification framework.

Efficient processing of applications for seafarer certificates.
Development and implementation of a transition plan – the
Tipuna programme – and a framework to manage seafarer
transitions within specified timeframes.

Indicator: Development of a transition plan and a framework to
manage seafarer transition within specified timeframes.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Implement SeaCert framework
More than 7,200 seafarers opted to save their legacy seafarer certificates by registering before the 1 September 2017 cut-off
for ring-fencing so they could keep working without entering the SeaCert framework. The SeaCert framework was established
to streamline the qualifications process, clarify progression pathways to enable career development and transportability, and
to introduce competency based assessment, as opposed to an approach that was based on “time served”. The ‘ring-fencing’
or ‘saving’ option was introduced to ensure that seafarers with valid tickets who did not want to ‘progress’ through the new
framework could continue to work, safely and without unnecessary cost.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
More New Zealand seafarers have qualifications consistent with Maritime NZ’s SeaCert framework
There are just two outstanding items that need to be finalised relating to ring-fencing. The first is to develop our policy on
medical certificates for ring-fenced seafarers, including how we will manage the high volume of medical certificates that we’ll
receive.
The other outstanding item is to develop our policy on those ring-fenced certificates that are required to maintain currency –
Maritime Rules Part 32 states that several of the ring-fenced certificates are required to maintain currency. We will determine
exactly what this means and what action we will take.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Implementation of the SeaCert framework is virtually complete. We will work on the two outstanding items mentioned above.
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Strategic Goal 3:
Response capability that is well
prepared and effectively deployed to
resolve emergency incidents
WELL
PREPARED
MEANS:

•

Resources are in readiness in a
timely way

•

Comprehensive, multi-layered
capability that can be deployed
flexibly

•

Coordinated between the
different Maritime NZ functions
and across central and local
government agencies, nongovernment and international
partners

INTEGRATED
MEANS:
•

Contributing as appropriate
to risk-reduction, readiness,
response and recovery (4Rs)

Well prepared and deployed response capability
enables us to respond to maritime incidents and
emergencies, including oil spills. We also undertake
search and rescue coordination action to find and
rescue people who are lost or in imminent danger
through their land, sea or air activities. We provide the
public with safety information through communications
and navigational aids.
To ensure we are well prepared for emergency
response we maintain response resources and
specialist equipment; ensure staff are appropriately
trained; and that we have clear agreements and
procedures in place to guide and coordinate our
work during a response – both internally, and with
key partners in central and local government, nongovernment organisations and internationally.

INTENDED IMPACTS
•

•

•

•
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Our fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective response
and recovery services for national maritime incidents, minimising social and
economic harm
We operate an efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination
service within an integrated search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR
Secretariat and NZ Police) which takes full advantage of modern technology to
save lives
We operate a comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service that
minimises the environmental and economic impact of any oil spill
We have an internationally linked, intelligence-led security system that assures
protection for all in New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility
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A FIT-FOR-PURPOSE MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE SYSTEM PROVIDES
EFFECTIVE RESPONSE AND RECOVERY FOR NATIONAL MARITIME
INCIDENTS, MINIMISING SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC HARM
Maritime incidents can have significant negative impacts on the people, environment and economy of New Zealand.
It is very important, therefore, that we have a response capability that minimises harm and can be scaled up to match
the size and complexity of an event. An effective response system must be integrated, not just across our different
response services but with central and local government agencies, and non-government and international partners.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Implement Integrated Incident Response
Strategy

Desired result: New Zealand is well prepared for any maritime
incident through having capable and coordinated resources,
and can quickly access and deploy these as required –
including those provided by external partners.

Improve Maritime NZ’s capability to deliver an integrated
maritime incident response capability.
Develop non-oil response capability to manage any future
maritime transport emergencies.
Manage all-of-government relationships.

Indicator: The Maritime Incident Response Team (MIRT)
element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix (in
Appendix 4) is reported as amber or better (green) with any
remedial action plans in place.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Implement Integrated Incident Response Strategy
We continued to make solid progress on developing and implementing readiness and response capabilities. The Integrated
Maritime Incident Readiness and Response Strategy has been revised, refreshed and simplified and now covers readiness
as well as response. It will be widely shared with partner agencies and departments. Training has been steady throughout the
period with a mixture of in-house work and attendance at external courses. More of our staff have completed Coordinated
Incident Management System (CIMS) training and overall resilience has improved with more trained personnel available.
Exercise Paihere was a significant multi-aspect maritime incident exercise and went well. The extensive feedback we received
will shape the approach in the future. The business case for continued funding for non-oil aspects of readiness and response
capability was completed and has been included in the Maritime NZ Funding Review.
We continued our engagement with all-of-government activities, especially in the ‘all hazards’ readiness and response areas. We
actively participated in the Joint Maritime Advisory Group, National Exercise Planning, Transport Cluster Group, Maritime Security
and Oversight Committee and Incident Management Response Group, and increased our leadership capacity in incident
response, and training and exercising.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
The Maritime Incident Response Team element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is
reported as amber or better (green) with any remedial action plans in place
Our leadership capacity in incident response continues to increase, and training and exercises have supported improvement in
coordination and integration in managing responses to incidents. Our incident management system continues to be enhanced
allowing much improved situational awareness to improve incident readiness and response effectiveness.
Positive relationships within the maritime industry are essential and our relationships, particularly with salvage and offshore oil
and gas industry advisers, continue to develop. Overall, relationships with industry providers, local and central government and
international authorities are strong and positive, contributing to a better readiness capability for any response required.
The Response Capability Matrix sits at amber status with some component elements at green status. This assessment reflects
the high bar set by the criteria in the Capability Matrix, which recognises the challenges in preparing for and responding to major
maritime incidents, which are extremely rare but have potentially severe consequences. Progress this year has been strong and
the organisation is now well placed to continue to build capability.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

47

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
To ensure our maritime incident response system provides effective response and recovery for national maritime incidents,
we will ensure the readiness capability of our three response teams (MIRT, SAR and Oil) continue to improve and are capable
and effective. Integration of capabilities will continue to be tested and capabilities will continue to improve to provide effective
response. It is critical to maintain the training and exercising regime to keep readiness at an appropriate level.
In 2018/19 we will focus more on building specific capability across the organisation and improving resilience. Work has been
done to take an initial look at what response roles and functions might be undertaken by ‘peacetime’ positions and staff and the
current state has been assessed against what a response might require.
There is benefit in having a more structured approach to training staff for responses – including identifying formally which
‘peacetime’ roles might have a formal response role and also looking in detail at specific individuals for their ‘fit’ into the response
structures. To support capability building a series of workshops will replace the full-scale MIRT exercise; table top scenarios will
still be delivered during the year.

IMPROVING MARITIME SAFETY IN THE PACIFIC
The Pacific Maritime Safety Programme (PMSP) is
continuing to deliver exciting initiatives in the Pacific,
including providing response vessels, supporting
education on maritime safety and improving maritime
safety infrastructure. The New Zealand Aid-funded
programme is administered by the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and Trade, and developed and delivered by
Maritime NZ. It supports maritime safety initiatives in
Kiribati, Niue, Tuvalu, Tokelau, Cook Islands, Samoa
and Tonga.
The long-term goal of the programme is to build
sustainable maritime systems where all levels of
government and response link together; fishing boats
and communities are better equipped, and countries
can work together across the south-west Pacific to
ensure Pacific maritime transport is safe, environmentally
friendly and meets international requirements.
The programme works across five broad areas of
maritime safety:
•

Regulatory capacity – supporting the seven Pacific
nations to develop or update their maritime legislation

•

Search and rescue and oil pollution response –
ensuring plans are in place and providing access to
equipment and training

•

Operator, navigational and vessel safety
improvements – supporting the development of
infrastructure required to maintain maritime safety,
for example VHF networks

Cyclone Josie struck Fiji on 1 April 2018, claiming
five lives. This was followed by Cyclone Keni, which
made a direct hit on the island of Kadavu on 10 April.
Winds caused damage to more than 800 homes,
uprooted trees and capsized boats; and many villages
lost houses.
Three of the New Zealand Aid vessels were deployed to
support the disaster response, including Ai Talai and
two of the Sealegs vessels, operated under direction
from the Fiji National Disaster Management Office.
Ai Talai was used as a ‘mother ship’, with the two
Sealegs vessels transporting assessment teams to
and from remote villages around Kadavu to examine
damage from Cyclone Keni, and also carrying essential
supplies such as water, food and timber for building
shelters. The aid vessels performed well in their critical
role in the response, and the team’s work had a very
positive impact.
Other recent PMSP activity includes:
•

delivering search and rescue training workshops and
advice – in Vava’u, Tonga in May 2018 and Tarawa,
Kiribati in June 2018

•

visiting Kiribati to plan delivery of the programme over
the next three years

•

Community education – helping to provide maritime
safety education and awareness to communities

•

providing technical advice to Tokelau on managing its
government vessels

•

Maritime training schools – helping maritime training
institutions to meet international training standards.

•

commissioning a search and rescue boat and boat
shed for Tokelau

•

navigation aids, pilot training, and nautical charting in
the Cook Islands

•

planning visits to the Cook Islands, Tuvalu and
Samoa in 2018/19.

Training by the PMSP proved its worth in the wake of
two devastating cyclones that hit Fiji during April 2018.
New Zealand Aid had provided Fiji with five emergency
response vessels last year and the PMSP undertook
a comprehensive training, maintenance and safety
programme to help develop Fiji’s ability to operate
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these vessels. The largest, a vessel built by
Christchurch-based boat builders Icon and named
Ai Talai, was delivered in December 2017; the other
four were Sealegs amphibious craft.
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AN EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE NATIONAL SEARCH AND RESCUE
COORDINATION SERVICE WITHIN AN INTEGRATED SEARCH AND RESCUE
SYSTEM (JOINTLY WITH NZSAR SECRETARIAT AND NZ POLICE) WHICH
TAKES FULL ADVANTAGE OF MODERN TECHNOLOGY TO SAVE LIVES
Search and rescue is a cooperative venture relying on multiple contributors to get the best results. It is essential
to have strong working relationships between all the players and to train, exercise, practise and operate together.
Technology is also playing an increasing role in advancing the effectiveness of search and rescue services. Whether
through improved and cheaper radio services, new mobile phones or new satellite emergency beacon alert and
detection technology, the ability of search and rescue services to save lives has been significantly enhanced. We must
continue to improve coordination across the system, and to take advantage of the rapidly changing technological
environment to increase the reach and efficiency of its search and rescue capability.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Procurement and Commissioning of MEOSAR

Desired result: The coordination of search and rescue
incidents within New Zealand’s search and rescue region
continually improves. The search and rescue system
continues to take advantage of technology improvements.

Procurement and commissioning the replacement Mediumaltitude Earth Orbit Search and Rescue (MEOSAR) satellite
system.
Ongoing liaison, exercises and joint training throughout the
New Zealand search and rescue region.

Indicator: The Search and Rescue element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better
(green) with any remedial action plans in place.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Procurement and Commissioning of the replacement MEOSAR satellite system
The MEOSAR project has been highly successful and was completed in the previous financial year.

Ongoing liaison, exercises and joint training throughout the New Zealand search and rescue region
A significant level of work occurred across the Pacific within our search and rescue region (SRR) to build capability and deliver
prevention messages and support, ensuring our cross-sector relationships remained strong. This included joint mass rescue
exercises in New Zealand Police districts with SAR responders and internationally in Fiji, Tuvalu, Kiribati, Niue, Cook Islands,
Samoa, American Samoa and Tonga, as well as regular liaison during search and rescue operations. There were also quarterly
NZSAR Consultative Committee meetings and awe attended conferences and annual meetings of our partners in SAR, such as
Coastguard and LandSAR.
We further strengthened our relations with Fiji and the wider Pacific nations as a result of the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
including the role of chair of the PacSAR Steering Committee. The Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand (RCCNZ) trained
two Fijian Search and Rescue Officers in 2017 and completed further work with Coastguard, LandSAR and Police on joint
agreements, including joint specialised training for On-Scene Coordinators.
We have also made significant progress on training and exercises for potential mass rescue operations as we see significant
increases in cruise ship activity.
Increasing traffic south towards Antarctica remains a potential risk area for us. No major issues have been experienced
during the coordination of searches to date but activity levels continue to increase and the environment can be very remote
and very hostile.
The day-to-day small-scale SAR missions have gone extremely well, with rapid alerting and location (in particular from the new
MEOSAR system) and highly effective and efficient responses.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
The Search and Rescue element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber or
better (green) with any remedial action plans in place
RCCNZ is operating at green status for the Search and Rescue element of our Response Capability Matrix and is capable of
responding efficiently and effectively to most SAR incidents in New Zealand’s search and rescue region. The ongoing challenge
of a large area with limited response assets exists.
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WHERE TO FROM HERE?
To ensure an effective national search and rescue coordination service within an integrated search and rescue system, our focus
remains on continuous innovation and improvement.
Beacons (also known as distress or emergency beacons) are one of the most effective ways of letting people know that you
need urgent help and where to find you. The beacons project, to replace our existing beacons database and the way beacon
owners interact with us, is well underway and will be completed within the next financial year. This project has led to some very
positive connections with large-volume beacon owners and our key ‘prevention’ partners. It will also allow beacon owners to
register beacons and update their details more quickly and easily and so improve the accuracy of this vital data when incidents
occur. Mass rescue continues to be a focus of our joint exercises and plan development.
One example of a safety improvement coming from a tragic incident is the mandating of float-free beacons for certain vessels.
From 1 January 2019 fishing vessels between 7.5 and 24 metres in length that operate outside enclosed waters (i.e. outside
harbours, estuaries and other inland or sheltered waters) will be required to have a float-free Emergency Position Indicating
Radio Beacon (EPIRB) installed on board16. Float-free EPIRBs are supplied inside an auto-housing and are automatically
deployed when they come into contact with water (they can also be manually activated) in the event of an incident. The new
requirement was prompted by recommendations from coroners and the Transport Accident Investigation Commission, following
the deaths of 24 people over the last 11 years on inshore fishing boats that sank.

DISTRESS BEACON AND HELMET SAVE INJURED FARMER AND DOGS
FROM BULL ATTACK
The significant role the RCCNZ plays in personal
safety both at sea and on land can be seen in the
following story.
In February 2018 an injured Hawke’s Bay farmer and
his dogs were saved from a bull attack by a personal
locator beacon (PLB) and a helmet.
Farmer Robert Patullo, who is also a trustee of the
Hawke’s Bay Rescue Helicopter Trust (HBRHT), went
out to work with 25 bulls on his Puketitiri farm west of
Napier. He tied his four dogs to a fence about 50 metres
away from the herd to keep them at a distance from the
bulls and not upset them. As he approached the bulls
on his quad bike one of them charged, knocked him
and the quad bike over and continued to attack.
“The bull circled past the overturned quad bike, and
hunted me down and gored me into the ground a
couple of times before I was able to get back to the
safety of the quad bike,” Mr Patullo said.

Eventually, the bull backed away but by then Mr Patullo
had head and chest injuries and his quad bike was
wrecked. He had lost his cell phone in the attack, but it
would probably have been of little use anyway because
of marginal reception.
Beside him was his helmet, and on his belt was his PLB.
Mr Patullo’s helmet had saved him from more serious
head injuries and within minutes of activating the PLB its
signal was received at the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ), in Lower Hutt.
Search and Rescue Officer Chris Wilson said she
received the signal at RCCNZ just after 8 am and, as
is standard practice, an HBRHT helicopter with two
paramedics on board lifted off from Hastings at 8.48
am. They arrived at the scene of the attack at 8.57 am
and landed near Mr Patullo.
“I never thought I would benefit from this amazing
service myself; you just never know,” Mr Patullo said.

16 Required under Maritime Rules Part 40D.
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A COMPREHENSIVE POLLUTION PREPAREDNESS AND RESPONSE SERVICE
MINIMISES THE ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC IMPACT OF ANY OIL SPILL
Overseas and local experience clearly shows that the impact of a major maritime oil spill on New Zealand would be
significant and enduring. Vessel activity continues to increase and so the likelihood of a major incident cannot be
overestimated. An effective response system that can be deployed quickly and efficiently is critical to minimising the
social, economic and environmental impact that such a spill could generate.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Maintain Oil Pollution Response Strategy

Desired result: Tier 1: There is sufficient capacity for an
industry-level response to an incident appropriate to the
risk. Tier 2: Regional responders demonstrate increased
competency. Tier 3: Maritime NZ is able to lead and manage a
comprehensive, effective and efficient response to a major oil
spill incident.

Continue to implement the Capability Plan.
Undertake Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS)
Training System Review – Regional and National.
Contribute to Oil Spill Capacity building.
Develop a sustainable National Response Team (NRT).
Enhance Information Management System Response.

Indicator: The MPRS element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better (green) with
positive trends across its performance indicators, and any
necessary remedial action plans in place.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Maintain Oil Pollution Response Strategy
The regional council responses to oil spills over the year were conducted professionally and effectively. This year we have
progressed a number of initiatives including developing the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Readiness and Response Strategy
2018–2022. This is the fifth version of a strategy that is required under the Maritime Transport Act 1994 and sets the vision
and values, principles, goals and objectives for the next five years to ensure New Zealand’s readiness and response system is
appropriate, efficient and effective.
We led an exercise on Auckland’s Waitematā Harbour to test New Zealand’s maritime accident preparedness. Exercise Paihere
– a scenario involving a collision between two ships – was designed to assess the NRT’s capability, test the national oil spill plan
and continue to enhance relationships and improve how responders work together.
Overall, the results for the year show a strong positive trend, with the NRT performing as a competent team able to lead and
manage any significant oil spill incident. Our capability continues to improve with enhancements in Tier 3 equipment capability as
the equipment capital programme progresses. This is demonstrated by an effective and efficient NRT which can effectively lead
a major Tier 3 oil spill response.
We have improved our decision making and situational awareness, with better information management and the integration
of intelligence. At a regional level, the teams demonstrate capability improvements with the revision of the regional training
programme and can effectively respond to Tier 2 spills and have the right numbers of appropriately trained oil spill responders.
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ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
The MPRS element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better (green)
Our oil spill response exercise highlighted the excellent performance of the Emergency Operation’s Control and Field component.
Tier 1 capability continued to be enhanced, which will contribute to a better response capability if there is a spill, for example
from a fuel transfer site.
The Tier 2 response to oil spills during the year has been very good, with regional council Tier 2 plans being effective and
current. Regional responder numbers are effective and efficient and responders are well trained. The recently initiated MPRS
capability assessment checks reinforce the view that Tier 2 capability remains effective and can adequately respond to an event.
The Tier 3 capital programme is developing well and is on track. Ongoing improvements continue in intelligence-led oil spill
activity such as information management enhancements and through the use of technology such as drones and geographic
information system applications.
Our MPRS capability is effective and continues to improve Tier 2 and Tier 3 capability.
The NRT capability, especially within the Emergency Operation’s Control area, is capable and outcomes are very good, with
its capability assessed as green. The Tier 3 capital programme will require additional time before the near shore/near offshore
capability progresses beyond amber.
Overall, the Response Capability Matrix sits at amber status with some component elements at green status. This assessment
reflects the high bar set by the criteria in the Capability Matrix, which recognises the challenges in preparing for and responding
to major maritime oil spill incidents, which are extremely rare but have potentially severe consequences. Progress this year has
been strong and the organisation is well placed to continue to build capability.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
New Zealand requires the capability to manage the likelihood and consequences of a marine oil spill; the capability must be
efficient, effective, affordable and proportionate to the risks. Prevention, through high-quality regulation and compliance activities,
helps to reduce the likelihood of oil spill occurring. Adequate readiness and response capabilities ensure an effective response
and thus minimise the consequences when a spill occurs.
We have domestic and international obligations to maintain an oil pollution preparedness and response capability. This capability,
which includes personnel, training, equipment, and strategic planning, is funded through the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.
To ensure our pollution preparedness and response service minimise the environmental and economic impact of any oil spill, we
will focus on implementing the recently refreshed New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Readiness and Response Strategy 2018–2022.
We will ensure that we, along with industry and regional councils, can respond effectively to a significant marine oil spill, through
learnings nationally and internationally, increased response capability exercise and planning.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

53

When ships collide on Waitematā
Harbour: Exercise Paihere
The primary aims of New Zealand’s marine oil spill
and pollution response capability are to minimise
damage to the marine environment and to ensure that
affected areas recover as quickly as possible.
Most oil spills within New Zealand waters are likely to
happen close to the coast or in harbours. This makes
it extremely difficult for responders to prevent some
oil from reaching the shoreline as, depending on local
weather, currents and tides, any spilt oil could reach
the coast and coastal resources within hours.
During April 2018 National Response Team (NRT)
members joined a Maritime NZ-led exercise on
Auckland’s Waitematā Harbour to test New Zealand’s
maritime accident preparedness. Exercise Paihere
– a scenario involving a collision between two
ships – was designed to assess the NRT’s capability,
test the national oil spill plan, continue to enhance
relationships and improve how responders work
together. The country rallied and responders came
from everywhere from Whangarei to Invercargill. There
was even support from Singapore and Australia.
More than 120 people from 27 organisations took
part – from Maritime NZ and other central government
agencies, 15 councils, Massey University, oil and gas
industry companies, contractors who provide cleanup teams and equipment, the Australian federal and
Victorian state governments, and from Singapore, the
world’s biggest oil spill response company, Oil Spill
Response Limited.
The exercise was strongly operational, with people
and equipment on the ground, in the air and on
the sea.
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•

Wildlife teams checked beaches and set up an
animal stabilisation base at MPRS.

•

Beach clean-up teams worked at Little Shoal Bay.

•

Tugs, oil recovery vessels and skimmers were on
the harbour.

•

Aircraft and drones provided aerial reconnaissance.

•

An emergency coordination centre was set up at
Clifton’s conference centre on Queen Street near
the harbour.

•

A forward operations base was set up at the
Devonport Naval Base.

Exercise Director Renny van der Velde said the
planning team and all taking part had done well.
“There was good leadership, effective decision
making, and a good incident management structure.
It was a well-coordinated team.”
One of New Zealand’s most experienced master
mariners, Captain Charles Smith, an observer at
the exercise, commented favourably on leadership,
particularly the willingness of managers to take advice
from their teams, collaboration, noting the buzz of
conversation between teams, and the improvements
he has seen over the years of planning and practice.
Exercise Paihere was a very significant and successful
undertaking with a lot of our people involved, as well
as our partners in regional and local authorities, iwi,
and the international arena.

AN INTERNATIONALLY LINKED, INTELLIGENCE-LED SECURITY SYSTEM
ASSURES PROTECTION FOR ALL IN NEW ZEALAND’S MARITIME AREA OF
RESPONSIBILITY
While the risk of unlawful action in New Zealand is low, it cannot be overestimated. So it is important for us to mitigate
that risk through our application of the International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code. Failure to comply with
the Code could also result in New Zealand ports and ships being ‘blacklisted’, with serious consequences for our
international trade and the economy.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Build Integrated Security Intelligence Capability

Desired result: New Zealand ports are able to comply with the
Maritime Security Act and respond to increases in security risk
levels.

Strengthen engagement with the all-of-government
intelligence community.
Enhance measurement of port security compliance.
Ensure New Zealand ports test their security plans through
effective exercises.

Indicator: The Security element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better (green) with any
remedial action plans in place.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Build integrated security intelligence capability
Focusing on being intelligence-led has been an important area of work over the year as intelligence is the prime means to inform
any need to increase New Zealand port security levels. This year we have had good engagement with all the trading ports and
have actively participated in all-of-government security regimes, particularly with New Zealand intelligence collection agencies
providing us with quality intelligence. We worked closely with the United States Coast Guard on maritime security matters and
launched an initiative to further improve information sharing. We conducted port security exercises and made an effort to involve
other government departments, such as Police and Customs, in order to remain well connected.
We ensured that all ports maintained effective security plans, and the exercises were conducted at the required levels. Our aim
is to keep ports secure at all times and to anticipate any changes in the security threats so that ports can initiate preventive
measures. Audits completed by ports also reinforced the effective capability of the New Zealand port security regime.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
The Security element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better
(green) with any remedial action plans in place.
Overall, the Security element of the Response Capability Matrix sits at green status. We maintain a very effective maritime
security regime.
Audits, maritime security exercises in all ports and routine inspections conducted by our staff all reinforce that effective
preparedness will ensure a successful maritime response when required.
Ports remain compliant with the Maritime Security Act and port plans reflect the current security risk for New Zealand.
Our strong connection to the all-of-government capability and our involvement in New Zealand’s national security process give
us a good framework for response and for the provision of intelligence.
Port capability remains effective and the ports can respond in accordance with their comprehensive security plans.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
To strengthen our international ties, we will build on our relationship with the United States Coast Guard to improve information
sharing and contribute to maritime security in the Pacific. We will explore new opportunities for maritime collaboration. We will
improve our ability to measure port security compliance more effectively to safeguard port users and the local community, and to
provide for the security of trade and tourism. We will work to remain well connected to the New Zealand national security system
for preparedness and response activities.
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Strategic Goal 4:
A results-driven and resilient organisation,
working collaboratively for success
RESULTSDRIVEN
MEANS:

RESILIENT
MEANS:

•

Drawing on a robust
evidence base and collective
organisational experience for
greater impact

•

Working constructively with
sector, Government and
international bodies to achieve
shared outcomes

•

Delivering value for money in all
our processes

•

Developing people capability to
adapt to changing business needs

•

Having sustainable funding and
business models

•

Being resolute in taking action to
improve maritime safety, security
and environmental protection

The quality of our organisational capability enables
us to build and sustain the skills, structures and
systems necessary to operate cohesively, and connect
with Government partners and sector stakeholders,
nationally and internationally. To perform our core role
as a regulatory, compliance and response agency, we
need a transparent strategy that is evidence-informed,
risk-based, responsive, and proportionate to the risks
or harms being managed.
We will continue to maintain and develop our
capability through the development and management
of information resources, financial assets, efficient
integrated business processes and systems, and
the commitment, leadership and competence of
our people.

INTENDED IMPACTS
•

•

•
•

•
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We have an integrated information base that supports evidence-based, riskfocused decision making that is of consistent high quality
We are a resilient, healthy, capable organisation, with people who are valued and
energised to deliver high-quality regulatory, compliance and response services
There is sustainable funding to deliver identified outcomes
We collaborate with other agencies to share resources and build capability that
improves government services
Our business processes allow those we regulate to engage with us in straightforward, efficient transactions that enhance their compliance.
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AN INTEGRATED INFORMATION BASE THAT SUPPORTS EVIDENCEBASED, RISK-FOCUSED DECISION MAKING THAT IS OF CONSISTENTLY
HIGH QUALITY
Robust information management disciplines and systems covering the way we collect, collate, analyse and make
use of information are key to our goal of being an evidence-based, intelligence-led, risk-focused organisation.
Quality information is critical to high-quality, consistent decision making. Information technology is also an enabler
of greater efficiencies in business processes, including interfaces with industry.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Integrate Information Management

Desired result: All staff understand and use rules for organising
information. Staff trust and can easily access, use, store and reuse information. Information quality, use and flows are governed by
formalised policies and practices that align with business processes.
ICT systems are delivered as per the ICT Investment Roadmap.

Implement an integrated IM/ICT Strategy.
Develop and deploy a comprehensive ICT security
framework in alignment with government standards.
Develop and deploy the Maritime NZ System
Reform solution to fully enable MOSS and SeaCert.

Indicators:
Proportion of staff who agree that they can easily access, use, store and
re-use analytical and unstructured data.
Information maturity assessment rating.
Desired ICT capability maturity assessment rating achieved (selfassessed).

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
We have continued building our information capability. Oversight of our strategy is provided by our internal Information Capability
Steering Group and there is strong and active business group representation.
At the start of the year the Authority approved funding for Stage 4 of System Reform over the following three years. As a
result, System Reform development of our Regulatory Management Information System, Triton, has continued at a good
pace, completing the MOSS monitoring functions, and commencing ‘exit control’ functions such as suspensions of maritime
documents.
We have also made progress in developing our data and analytics capability to leverage off data and information captured in our
core systems. We undertook a review of progress against our Information Capability Strategy in order to inform the refresh of
our Information Capability Strategic Plan. This has reaffirmed our current intent and confirmed the future work we need to do to
support systems integration, data and analytics, and provide mobility to support our workforce.
During the year we improved our capability utilising vendor security expertise to monitor the environment and to actively detect
malicious security intrusion attempts, and piloted new software to provide additional attack protection on user devices.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET
A survey of staff assessing whether they can easily access, use, store and re-use analytical and unstructured data was not
conducted in 2017/18. We did not assess our information maturity this year – instead we undertook a review of our Information
Capability Strategy to inform the refresh of our Information Capability Strategic Plan. We also undertook an Information Security
review as part of our internal audit programme.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
In 2018/19 we will refresh our Information Capability Strategic Plan and focus on systems integration, data and analytics,
mobility and underlying core IT infrastructure. We will continue to develop and release functionality within Triton (System Reform)
as we continue to digitise regulatory and compliance processes. We also intend to further explore cloud adoption and other ‘as
a service’ ICT infrastructure services like managed security and telecommunication realms.
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A RESILIENT, HEALTHY, CAPABLE ORGANISATION, WHICH HAS PEOPLE WHO
ARE VALUED AND ENERGISED TO DELIVER HIGH-QUALITY REGULATORY,
COMPLIANCE AND RESPONSE SERVICES
As a regulatory, compliance and response agency, we rely on highly qualified and experienced staff to deliver a wide
range of functions. The quality of the organisation’s work depends on the health, safety and specialist expertise of
its staff, the judgements they make, and their attitudes and commitment to achieving the organisation’s outcomes.
A resilient organisation also needs fit-for-purpose systems, policies and plans to ensure it can continue to operate
during times of emergency response and/or significant business continuity events.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Refresh Maritime NZ’s People Capability
Strategy

Desired result: No one is harmed in the workplace, workloads are
manageable, staff are skilled and productive, and feel supported
and valued for their contribution. We also have the right people in
the right jobs, all of the time.

Following a planning exercise involving leaders and key
influencers within our organisation, our People Capability
Strategy was reviewed and four refreshed People
Capability Goals identified:
•

A leader in health and safety

•

The right people and capability

•

Valued and engaged people

•

A shared culture that lives our values and delivers our
purpose.

Develop Organisational Business Continuity
Planning (BCP) and Security Initiatives
Develop and deploy a BCP framework and supporting
plans for the Maritime NZ group.
Assess against the Government Protective Security
Requirements (PSRs) completed and work programme
developed.

Indicators:
Best Workplaces Survey: Overall rating above the public sector
median and improved rating for leadership and training/capability
development.
Workplace Safety Management Practices (WSMP) Level 2
Accreditation is maintained.
Staff retention (resignations over previous reporting periods as a
percentage of average total staff).
Desired result: Maritime NZ has a fit-for-purpose approach to
BCP in place which is regularly tested.
Indicator: Maritime NZ’s approach to business continuity planning
is independently audited, and confirmed as appropriate.
Desired result: Maritime NZ maintains an appropriate level of selfassessed compliance against the Government Protective Security
Requirements.
Indicator: Maturity self-assessment against Protective Security
Requirements indicates progress to desired maturity level (over
three years).
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OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
Delivery of people capability initiatives
One of our key priorities is ‘developing our people’ and we’ve made significant progress over the past year in developing and
implementing new learning initiatives. Having people and resources dedicated to learning and development has allowed us to
gain real traction in this area.
A major initiative was the successful launch of Te Waka Ako (our new learning management system), a platform from which staff
can access learning modules at any time and managers can see progress across their teams. We are building a comprehensive
library of online modules and this year has included the design, development and implemention of new modules on the Maritime
Transport Act and Health and Safety.
The six-month on-boarding programme we have developed (including a learning roadmap, a workbook for staff plus a guide for
their manager) gives new staff a clear view of what to expect, and what is expected of them, before they start work with us.
Implementation of the Leadership Development Centre’s Management in Action programme for all our people managers was a
successful initiative that was rated highly by attendees. This is now an ongoing core programme for all new people managers.
Learnings from Management in Action are continuing across Maritime NZ through quarterly managers’ fora, regular action
learning groups and the rollout of a major coaching programme for people managers.
We are one of the leading agencies in staff achievement of the Government Regulatory Practice Level 3 Core Knowledge
qualification. All of our current staff have either completed, or are part-way through, the programme and this is now part of the
on-boarding programme for our new staff.

Health, safety and wellbeing
Health and safety continues to be a key focus for the organisation. During the year we secured the Workplace Safety
Management Practices (WSMP) Level 2 accreditation through to 30 November 2018. Following the end of the WSMP scheme,
we have adopted Safe+ as the framework for the continued development of our Safety Management System. In conjunction
with this, we have developed and delivered risk assessment workshops for all front-facing staff, including the Regional
Compliance and Certification Teams.
Keeping a focus on staff safety has included the ongoing delivery of Tactical Communications online training for all staff, and
more in-depth workshops for those on the front line. We have also developed and implemented a health and safety online
module, which was rolled out to all staff as a refresher, and is part of the on-boarding programme for all new staff.

Maturity self-assessment against Protective Security Requirements indicates progress to desired
maturity level (over three years)
Progress in lifting our business continuity practice and capability has been slow due to organisation design challenges.
Over the last few years we have introduced capability to significantly improve our ability to protect information assets. We have
strengthened our security protection and monitoring capability via our outsourced partners and have continued our programme
of Cloud Risk Security and Privacy Impact Assessments.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET
Best Workplaces Survey: Overall rating remains significantly above the public sector median
A recent organisation-wide engagement survey showed overall staff engagement was 77%. There was a slight (not statistically
significant) drop in the overall survey rating in comparison with the 2017 survey. This is encouraging given that the survey
was run during an organisational change process. The overall rating of 77% is significantly higher than the 2017 public sector
benchmark of 69%.
The survey results reveal that there is a strong alignment between the focus areas identified in the 2017 survey and the Strategic
Work Programme initiatives we have been progressing in terms of people capability, training, health and wellbeing, processes/
systems, inter-team initiatives, and internal communication. Our overall training and capability rating remained at 66%, and the
rating for confidence in senior leadership reduced slightly to 69%.

Staff retention (resignations over previous reporting periods as a percentage of average total staff)
Staff retention for the rolling 12-month period ended 30 June 2018 was 89.84% (i.e. 10.16% core unplanned turnover).
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WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Delivery of learning and development initiatives
An extensive learning and development work programme covering the period to the end of June 2019 has been developed in
consultation with the business and approved by the Executive Team. This involves expanding our suite of online modules to
design and develop seven more Maritime Transport Act modules (targeted to assist particular roles/responsibilities), Privacy,
Code of Conduct, Information Security and Intelligence modules.
Work is also underway on developing an Emerging Leaders programme (as a logical extension of our focus on growing
our leadership and management skill base), and the Maritime Officer learning roadmap, including a competency matrix and
structured practice guide.

Health, safety and wellbeing
The work of the HSW Committee continues to focus on identified priority areas for development: further improving our
HSW framework, managing HSW risk, telling our HSW story and engaging with workers, working with other Persons
Conducting a Business or Undertaking and contractors, and building our health and safety capability.

Business continuity
Progressing our business continuity arrangements will form part of the 2018/19 internal audit work programme.

Security initiatives
During 2018/19 we plan to assess our progress using the Protective Security Requirements Capability Maturity Model17.
This will help us identify and develop our future plans.

17 The Protective Security Requirements Capability Maturity Model provides a framework and pathway for successfully protecting,
people, information and assets. It assists agencies to assess their current capability across a number of protective security
dimensions, identify capability levels that are appropriate to the security risks they face, and to identify some of the ways in
which capability could be lifted.
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THERE IS SUSTAINABLE FUNDING TO DELIVER IDENTIFIED OUTCOMES
Certainty around sustainable funding is essential for our organisation to carry out effective long-term planning and
deliver expected outcomes. We need to ensure that both our funding and business models and our medium- to
long-term financial planning enable the organisation to manage effectively and sustainably within available resourcing.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021
Medium- to Long-term Financial Strategy
Complete a mid-point funding review, including MOSS and
SeaCert regimes (2015/16).
Complete a full funding review (2017–19).
Develop and deploy the Organisational Finance Strategy
(2015–20).

Review Oil Pollution Levy
Oil Pollution Levy review (2015/16).
Oil Pollution Levy mid-point review (2018/19).

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS
Desired result: Maritime NZ is appropriately funded through its
various revenue sources at a level that supports the organisation’s
ability to deliver its statutory regulatory functions and the
outcomes agreed with Government. Maritime NZ’s delivery of its
regulatory functions and other activities reflects value for money.
Indicators:
Implementation of the Maritime NZ Maritime Levy and Oil Pollution
Levy funding reviews provides an appropriate funding base.
Maritime NZ operates within available funding over the medium to
long term while maintaining appropriate cash reserves.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
During 2017/18 we commenced a full funding review, which is due to be completed by the end of 2018/19.
We sought independent economic advice on the Maritime Levy allocation methodology, including on matters of equity and
transparency, completed task and effort assessments of fee-able activities to help determine the hourly rate on which fees are
calculated, and redesigned our time-recording processes and our overhead allocation method.
We redeveloped our financial model to forecast revenue and expenditure more accurately, carried out a comparative analysis
of similar New Zealand agencies and organisations in other countries, and mapped the future flow of regulatory change, both
internationally and domestically.
We also initiated industry engagement that invited industry input on our initial ideas on funding matters. We also had extensive
face-to-face meetings with a broad range of operators and industry representatives. A two-day pre-consultation industry
engagement meeting was also held in June 2018, which allowed industry to comment on our initial considerations and bring
forward sector issues, concerns and ideas for consideration during the funding review.
In parallel, the Oil Pollution Levy mid-point funding review was commenced.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
We have continued to operate within our available funding sources which has led to small increases in our cash reserves.
We have managed capital expenditure within the level of current depreciation charges and have maintained cash reserves
at similar levels.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
The full funding review will continue throughout 2018/19 with a target implementation date of 1 July 2019. Industry consultation
on proposals is scheduled for 2018/19 and will likely include an industry road show, an online presence and a media plan for
advertising and promoting the consultation. An important focus is on reflecting the impact of changes to the Maritime Levy
and fees for an operator, owner or seafarer individually. As part of the funding review, we will develop Crown budget bids for
consideration.
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COLLABORATION WITH OTHER AGENCIES ENABLES SHARING
OF RESOURCES AND BUILDS CAPABILITY THAT IMPROVES
GOVERNMENT SERVICES
To minimise the compliance cost on operators and seafarers, it is essential that our compliance (certification, audit
and investigation) and business processes are efficient and effective, including appropriate use of systems and
technology. Collaborating with other government departments, regulators and transport agencies to deliver improved
business support functions provides us with both financial and operational opportunities.
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESSW

Participate in Cross-Government Collaboration and
Capability Programmes

Desired result: Maritime NZ proactively engages
in collaboration opportunities to enable it to build
organisational capability and improve efficiency.

Continue Maritime NZ’s proactive engagement in the Transport
Sector Collaboration and Capability Programme.
Identify and assess ongoing opportunities to collaborate with
other regulatory agencies.

Indicator: Maritime NZ is regarded as proactive and
collaborative in its cross-agency/sector/all-of-government
participation efforts/engagements.

Engage in Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg).

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
We continued to make sound and meaningful contributions across government, and be actively involved in G-Reg.
Over the year we have contributed to transport sector strategic foresight workshops (coordinated by the Ministry of Transport
and NZTA), to review of the Ministry’s Crown Entity Assessment Framework, and to cross-agency (CAA, New Zealand Defence
Force, WorkSafe) fora looking at better-practice enterprise risk and performance management. Stronger links have also been
established with other designated health and safety regulators, MBIE, MPI, Customs, and the Environmental Protection Agency
to help lift collective state sector collaboration and capability.

Our team demonstrated its on-going commitment to G-Reg when a further 65 staff graduated with a New Zealand Certificate in
Regulatory Compliance (Core Knowledge) Level 3 in March this year. Some of our staff also helped create content for the level 3
qualification. The level 4 qualification Operational Knowledge, in which we feature as one of the core case studies, has recently
been released and development is underway for the level 4 qualification Operational Practice.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
We have participated widely in a range of state sector fora, including transport sector collaboration activity coordinated by
the MoT, all-of-government strategic foresight, and cross-agency regulatory and policy engagements related to maritime
transport and operator health and safety (e.g. with MBIE, WorkSafe, CAA, etc.). We have also participated in all-of-government
procurement and ICT initiatives, effectively leveraging off the work and scale of the larger agencies. We continue to be one of the
main drivers of the G-Reg programme – an all-of-government initiative aimed at improving and promoting professional regulatory
practice in New Zealand. Our contributions have been well received and regarded over the year.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
Engagement with the wider stakeholder groups is expected to continue into the new financial year. Both NZTA and MoT have
recently been undergoing reorganisations and new collaboration partners will emerge from this in time.
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Good regulatory decision making is a key part of
implementation and a necessary part of exercising
discretion as a regulator
G-Reg aims to build a common regulatory language, as well as to improve leadership, and the culture and workforce
capability in the regulatory sector. Around 1,900 staff across 43 government departments and agencies – including
MBIE, which houses the secretariat for G-Reg – are currently working towards the G-Reg qualifications.
G-Reg is a world-leading initiative for the regulatory sector – and we were the first public sector agency to commit
to all staff completing the first of the five new regulatory practice qualifications on the New Zealand Qualifications
Framework. All current staff have either completed the qualification (164 to date), or are part-way through, and G-Reg
is now a component of the on-boarding programme for new staff. We are also actively involved in the G-Reg working
group tasked with the regulatory stewardship initiative. This work contributes to our wider regulatory stewardship
efforts and should produce a peer learning framework for regulatory practice.
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BUSINESS PROCESSES ENABLE STRAIGHT-FORWARD, EFFICIENT
TRANSACTIONS WITH MARITIME NZ THAT ENHANCE COMPLIANCE
OUR FOCUS FOR 2015–2021

HOW WE MEASURE OUR SUCCESS

Undertake Continuous Improvement of Business
Processes

Desired result: More participants in the maritime
community view Maritime NZ services positively and as
adding value to their operations.

Continuous improvement of business processes, including the
application of Vanguard systems thinking and methodology.

Indicator: An increasing proportion of survey
respondents, by sector, who rate the timeliness and
ease of interactions with Maritime NZ as very good or
excellent.

OUR PROGRESS THIS YEAR
During the year we have maintained our focus on continuous improvement of business processes. Some key examples of our
initiatives over 2017/18 are described below.
We implemented an online seafarer certificate verification tool enabling seafarers, employers and other maritime administrations
to verify a seafarer certificate is valid. The tool has resulted in a significant reduction in the number of verification requests
received by email. People seeking verification can now obtain the information in a timely manner and when it is needed instead
of only during our business hours.
We continued implementing New Zealand Business Numbers (NZBN) for registered businesses across our systems. This
supports a key government initiative requiring us to use an NZBN to identify a person or entity who has supplied us with one.
Our processes have been updated to ensure the data is collected and can be used in various key business systems.
We commenced a project to provide an online portal for registering beacons. This will provide internal efficiencies and support
our strategic pivot of making it easy for regulated parties to do the right thing, including looking to use technology first for
efficiency and ease of compliance.
We have also been working closely with harbourmasters to update guidelines on aids to navigation. Following the review of the
application process for approvals of aids to navigation, a high-level proof of concept for an online portal was developed and
presented to harbourmasters. This was well received and acknowledged as a step towards improving the application process.

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT: INDICATOR MET
As part of our ongoing sector engagement surveys, all sectors have now been surveyed, establishing a baseline of how sectors
rate our performance in terms of ease of interaction and timeliness of our communications/engagement with them. All survey
participants were asked whether their interaction with us ‘met expectations’.
The sectors that gave us the highest average rating were ports, outdoor and adventure, commercial fishing, domestic passenger
and non-passenger. The sector that scored Maritime NZ the lowest was the harbour sector – that survey was conducted in a
previous financial year and before the ‘No Excuses’ recreational boating campaign began. That campaign has generated much
closer working relationships between regional council harbourmasters and Maritime NZ, and that may be reflected in different
results when/if the survey is repeated.
Overall, survey findings confirm that we generally meet the expectations of the diverse range of sectors we regulate and we are
rated highly for our competence and fairness. The extent to which we are seen as taking individual circumstances into account,
and offering good value for money, is more variable.

WHERE TO FROM HERE?
In the coming year we will continue to review processes and procedures, focusing on eliminating duplication of effort and
unnecessary requirements. We will take a whole-of-system approach to ensure that changes in one part of the system do not
impact negatively on the system as a whole. Formal development of the online portal for aids to navigation applications will take
place over the coming year. Work on the guidelines and delegations to harbourmasters is expected to conclude in the near
future.
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Our success
as an organisation is
underpinned by our people
Why our people are
important

Focus on recruitment
and retention

Our people are at the core of our effectiveness. We are
committed to providing a positive and productive work
environment to enable them to excel in their role striving
toward our intention of being a resilient, healthy, capable
organisation that values and energises its people to
deliver high-quality regulatory and response services.

Our commitment to building a diverse organisation
where difference is valued is evident in our recruitment
and selection practices. We aim to attract a diverse
workforce with a broad range of skills and experience
aligned with our culture and core capabilities.

What happened this year?
We continue to build a diverse organisation, where
the range of skills, experiences and backgrounds of
our people strengthen overall performance. We have
a strong focus on supporting internal communication
channels and fostering a ‘One MNZ’ culture.
Over the last year, we have provided learning and
development opportunities for staff throughout the
organisation (particularly for frontline staff), built our
regulatory and leadership capability and deployed our
staff in the most effective way to meet the challenges
we face. We introduced several new e-learning
programmes to build core capabilities.

Our selection decisions are based on assessment
against core role competencies.

Average service

Staff turnover

6 years 10.16%
Flexibility and work design
We have a range of policies that support flexible working
arrangements, including flexible hours, and working
from home or alternative locations. We have invested
in technology to enable staff in different locations to link
and collaborate with colleagues.
We provide active support to staff with family and
other obligations. Six percent of our staff are on flexible
work arrangements relating to work location and
working hours.

Organisational
health measures
Average days
lost due to
sickness/
accidents/
domestic
leave18

Number
of injuries/
accidents
per 100
employees
per annum

Reported
near-miss
incidents as
a proportion
of all reported
accidents and
injuries

8.34

7.2

50%

Full-time equivalent

Headcount19

219.18

244

Our workforce of 219.18 full-time equivalent (FTE) roles
comprises 207.65 permanent and 11.53 fixed-term
employees. Our people are based in 12 regional offices
including Wellington head office, RCCNZ in Avalon,
Lower Hutt, and the Marine Pollution Response Service
in Te Atatu, Auckland.

18 Maritime NZ’s reporting of days lost due to sickness/accidents has been amended to align with the revised definition used in the
Public Sector Human Resources Capability 2016 Report, which in turn has been aligned with the Benchmarking Administration
and Support Services (BASS) definition. This revised definition now includes domestic leave as well as days lost due to
sickness/accidents.
19 This number includes permanent, fixed-term, casual, temps and contractors as at the end of the financial year.
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We promote the principle of
equal opportunities
We recognise, respect and value differences and are
committed to providing equal employment opportunities
for all. This ensures better outcomes for both our
people, who are more satisfied with their employment,
and the people we are ultimately here for – the people
of New Zealand.
We promote the principle of equal opportunities in
employment to ensure that our human resources
practices meet ‘good employer’ obligations.
Our appointments are based on merit, to ensure
fairness in employment for all people. We are committed

to promoting a culture in which all people, whatever
their gender, ethnic or social background, sexual
orientation, or role, are valued and treated equitably
and with respect.

Age, gender and role profile
The average age of our employees is 46, the same as
the public service average. Forty-five percent of our staff
are female and while this is lower than the 2016 public
service level of 60.7% and the overall 2016 labour force
level of 47.4%, it reflects the seafaring qualification/
experience requirement for a large number of our roles.
Applicants for these roles are predominately male.

AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

FEMALE

MALE

Authority

80%

20%

Executive

43%

57%

Maritime NZ

42%

58%

ROLE CLASSIFICATION
Administration

ETHNICITY
8%

NZ

46.1%

Corporate

14%

NZ Māori

4.3%

Executive

3%

Pacifica

1.6%
6.3%

Management

11%

Asian

Operations

61%

European

18.8%

No declaration

22.9%

Policy

3%

Staff engagement
Each year we hold an employee engagement survey that tracks how our people feel about working at Maritime NZ.
ENGAGEMENT PROFILE
STAFF SURVEY

2018

2017

PUBLIC SECTOR

Overall rating

77.4%

80.7%

69.0%

Leadership rating

69.4%

74.0%

55.8%

Training/Capability

66.1%

66.8%

59.8%

In striving to be a good employer we actively seek to offer development opportunities to our people. In 2017/18,
16 staff (7.1% of our workforce) were promoted within the organisation. A further 22 staff (9.8%) were awarded an
internal or external secondment.
Our People Capability Strategy reinforces our focus on building a shared culture that lives our values. The Human
Resources business plan is reviewed annually.
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We comply with the
principles of being a
good employer
We provide safe working conditions, and have impartial recruitment and selection processes, and fair employment
practices and policies. Below we summarise our activities this year against the seven key elements of being a
‘good employer’.
ELEMENT

Leadership, accountability
and culture

Recruitment, selection
and induction

Employee development,
promotion and exit

OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR
•

Our values of integrity, commitment and respect guide and drive an organisational
culture dedicated to making a positive difference in respect to the maritime safety and
environmental outcomes we are mandated to achieve.

•

Work is continuing in the management and leadership development area, led by
an internal Learning and Development Steering Group. We have developed and
rolled out eight management competencies (Maritime NZ Pillars for Success) and a
Leadership Charter for our managers and all Tier 3 managers are participating in a
Management in Action programme through the Leadership Development Centre. This
area of organisational focus recognises the key role that management and leadership
have in setting a healthy and positive organisational culture.

•

Other learning and development opportunities include secondments and
management opportunities, as well as formal, informal and on-the-job learning.

•

Bringing our staff from all district offices together for a day for our annual conference
provides an opportunity to foster internal communication, seek feedback from staff on
new initiatives, and hear presentations by staff on the broad range of functions we are
responsible for.

•

Monthly staff get-togethers provide updates of significant developments and
introduction of new staff.

•

The coordination of recruitment by HR specialist staff involves a transparent hiring
process which aims to ensure that legislative requirements are met, and that the best
people are selected for the right position, at the appropriate time.

•

A variety of recruitment channels, both national and international, is used to attract
applicants.

•

Four two-day comprehensive staff orientation programmes cover all key areas of our
organisation for new staff.

•

We continue to focus on staff development and provide a comprehensive range of
learning and development opportunities for staff across Maritime NZ.

•

The development and implementation of an organisation-wide people capability
programme is a key area of focus for us, providing clear alignment with our values,
strategy and operational requirements.

•

A performance development and remuneration framework is in place.

•

Secondment opportunities arising within Maritime NZ are made available to all staff,
with selection processes being transparent and equitable. All promotions are based
on merit.

•

A Management in Action programme for our people managers, focusing on Tier 3 and
4 managers was rolled out during the year. The Action Learning Groups established
as part of this programme have been incorporated into quarterly management fora.
An individual coaching programme has also been introduced to support and reinforce
the progress made in developing our management cohort.
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ELEMENT

OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR
•

Professional ergonomic workstation assessments are undertaken for all new and
existing staff as required, and any recommendations for purchase of ergonomic
equipment are implemented.

•

Organisation-wide flexible work arrangements policy and procedures are in place.
Applications by staff for flexible working arrangements are considered on their merits
and agreed to whenever possible. Six percent of our staff are currently on flexible
work arrangements.

•

Major regional offices are inter-linked with video conferencing facilities.

•

Our job evaluation processes include ongoing review of job descriptions to ensure
they accurately reflect the work being done. An independent specialist provider
undertakes job evaluations for new or significantly amended roles.

•

The organisation’s remuneration structure is reviewed annually, and is referenced
against the All Organisation’s market information from an external organisation with
specialist expertise in this field.

•

Two staff received a 2018 Chief Executive Development Award, a recognition
programme that aims to enhance the capability of Maritime NZ and its people by
supporting personal development opportunities that are not part of the organisation’s
standard learning and development programme.

•

We recognise it is critical to review and articulate key policies and practices for all
staff, which we do through our induction processes.

•

We have a zero tolerance to bullying and deal with it promptly and appropriately.

•

Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures are in place. We have several trained
internal anti-harassment support people.

•

A suite of policies and procedures aimed to provide guidance to our staff is available
on the organisation’s Stingray intranet site. These include the organisation’s Code
of Conduct, which is aligned with the wider State Sector Standards of Integrity and
Conduct.

•

We are committed to providing a healthy and safe working environment. This is
supported by our HSW policy statement, a wide range of associated HSW policies
and procedures, and HSW training for all staff.

•

All staff complete an HSW induction e-learning module about HSW at Maritime NZ as
well as a set of compulsory HSW e-learning training modules about the HSWA.

•

We have strengthened the HSW Committee, which is now chaired by the CEO, with
representatives from all levels and groups across the organisation and from the Public
Service Association. Staff participation in HSW matters is strongly encouraged.

•

Support is available to all staff through a confidential Employee Assistance
Programme.

•

We provide annual flu immunisation for all staff. More than half of our staff received a
flu immunisation this year through this programme.

•

The organisation actively encourages HSW reporting. This includes a particular
focus on pain and discomfort reporting to manage the HSW risk associated with
workstation/ergonomics for new and existing staff. Reports are followed up promptly
with a specialist occupational therapist assessment. Any recommendations for
provision of ergonomic equipment and biofeedback/stress management are actioned.
We provide ‘Sit/stand’ desks for all staff who need them.

Flexibility and work design

Remuneration, recognition
and conditions

Harassment and
bullying prevention

Safe and healthy
environment
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Statement of Performance
Our Statement of Performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice. It provides a report on performance for the 2017/18 year against indicators set out in our
Statement of Performance Expectations 2017/2018 (SPE). The indicators span the different areas of
Maritime NZ’s operations, and are represented through five output classes.
OUTPUT CLASS 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector
OUTPUT CLASS 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services
OUTPUT CLASS 3: Marine Pollution Response Service
OUTPUT CLASS 4: Search and rescue coordination services
OUTPUT CLASS 5: Maritime incident response capability

These output classes highlight the wide range of our activities, services and responsibilities.
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Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Output Expense
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ
that are funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses are indicated within each
relevant Output Class in the following Statement of Performance tables. Relevant financial information is
also provided in the tables following each output class performance summary on pages 73 to 88.
A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport and from Vote Transport Information Supporting the
Estimates 2017/18 is provided in the table below.

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

APPROPRIATION
ESTIMATES
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

NON-DEPARTMENTAL
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Search and Rescue
Activities (M72)

This appropriation is limited to the purchase of
search and rescue activities and a search and
rescue coordination service, including followup inquiries and reporting associated with the
searches and rescues undertaken.

3,231

3,231

3,244

Search and Rescue and
Recreational Boating
Safety Activities PLA
(M72)

The estimated amount to be spent in relation
to search and rescue and recreational boating
safety activities, as authorised under Section
9(1) of the Land Transport Management Act
2003.

5,724

5,672

5,202

769

764

664

2,078

2,078

1,886

3,349

3,349

3,619

6,160

6,315

2,975

The overarching purpose of this appropriation
is to regulate and enhance safety in
New Zealand’s maritime environment.
Maritime Incident Response
This category is limited to building capability
to respond to complex maritime pollution
incidents.
Policy Advice and
Related Outputs –
Maritime (M72)

Maritime Safety and Marine Protection Services
This category is limited to the development and
delivery of regulatory services which are the
responsibility of Maritime NZ under legislation
Policy Advice – Maritime
This category is limited to the provision of
advice (including second opinion advice and
contributions to policy advice led by other
agencies) to support decision making by
Ministers on government policy matters and
Ministerial servicing.

Health and Safety
at Work activities –
Maritime (M72)

This appropriation is limited to health and safety
activities for the maritime sector, for which
Maritime NZ has designated responsibility.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

71

Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime
NZ that are funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure and a summary of
appropriations and performance measures are detailed in the table below.

NON-DEPARTMENT
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED WITH
THIS APPROPRIATION

Maritime New Zealand (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve
continued effective functioning of a distress
beacon system in New Zealand and its
international area of responsibility, and the
provision of a new Information Technology
system to support Maritime Operator Safety
System and Seafarer Certification Rules.

Maritime New Zealand –
Search and Rescue Activities
(M72)

The estimated amount to be spent in relation to
Maritime NZ costs, as authorised by Section 9(1)
of the Land Transport Management Act 2003.

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE

ESTIMATES
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

–

–

1,100

344

–

–

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

*

Ground station is developed in line with the time-line for the new satellite system

n/a

n/a

100%

*

Ground station is developed in line with COSPAS-SARSAT standards

n/a

n/a

100%

*

Maritime NZ System Reform is developed in line with the business requirements
as detailed in respective statements of work for successful implementation of
MOSS and SeaCert

n/a

n/a

Achieved

* Activity completed and previously reported in 2016/17 Annual Report.
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ACTUAL
2017/18
$000
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Output class 1: Influencing the policy
environment for the maritime sector
This output class includes the provision of evidence-based technical advice that enables the development
of robust, timely and fit-for-purpose policy and regulation in relation to maritime safety, security and
environmental protection; reviews of the maritime system to promote the improvement and development
of its safety and security; effective implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility Security
(ISPS) Code, in accordance with the Maritime Security Act; and the provision of services to Ministers to
enable them to discharge their portfolio accountabilities.

OUTPUT 1.1: DEVELOPMENT AND PROVISION OF
TECHNICAL MARITIME POLICY ADVICE

What is intended to be achieved?
The development and provision of policy advice including:
•

provision of technical safety advice (directly and in association with the Ministry of Transport) in relation to maritime
sector policy and legislation

•

contribution to the negotiation of international agreements, treaties and conventions

•

engagement in relationships with other international maritime administrations

•

contribution to the development of policy advice by departments (other than the Ministry of Transport) and local
government agencies

•

development of rules and other legislative instruments under the maritime acts, as funded by the Ministry of
Transport

•

advice on Pacific safety initiatives, as funded by Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100%

100%

100%

1.1.2 The percentage of attendance objectives met22 at international meetings
attended

100%

≥95%

100%

1.1.3 The percentage of the Transport regulatory programme23 completed subject
to variations agreed with the Ministry of Transport

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

≥80%

100%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quality:
*1.1.1 The percentage of written advice20 to the Minister of Transport and the
Ministry of Transport meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria21

Timeliness:
1.1.4 The percentage of international reporting obligations to international
organisations completed by due date24

Quantity:
1.1.5 The percentage25 of requests for Maritime NZ advice/ participation to inform
other government reviews and initiatives that are met

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

OUTPUT 1.2: REVIEWS OF THE MARITIME SYSTEM

What is intended to be achieved?
Regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the improvement and development of safety, security
and marine environmental protection and regular funding reviews to ensure our funding structures are appropriate
and sustainable.

What happened this year?
Generic risk profiles for sectors were developed over 2015 to 2017 providing baseline information and/or context
for industry sector risk with the intent of refreshing the profiles on a rolling basis. Maritime NZ has opted to establish
a dedicated intelligence unit during 2017/18 consistent with its wider intelligence-led, evidence-based and riskfocused approach, and building better intelligence capability. The unit has now been tasked to develop more specific
intelligence reports identifying sector insights, risks and harms to enhance regulatory and compliance decision
making. Accordingly the performance measure reflected in the SPE was not achieved (reflecting this decision).
This measure will be discontinued for 2018/19.

20 Advice is limited to policy analysis, briefings, reports to the Minister and the Ministry of Transport for Ministerial consideration
and ministerial reports.
21 Quality criteria is defined as “form, content, quality of analysis and completion by due date as agreed with the Ministry” and
determined through internal quality control procedures.
22 Meetings are selected based on assessment of topics that need to be managed to support New Zealand’s interests. A briefing
setting out the objectives is provided to the staff member attending, with a report prepared post meeting, capturing the extent
to which objectives were met.
23 The transport regulatory programme comprises the annual transport rules and policy analysis agreed by Cabinet.
24 Maritime NZ has two international reporting obligations (to the IOPC Oil Fund and MARPOL Oil reporting). Reporting deadlines
are set by these international organisations.
25 Based on past experience, Maritime New Zealand receives between 60–80 requests annually to provide advice to inform
other Government initiatives. Maritime NZ seeks to respond to requests for advice where possible. The relevance of the advice
sought to Maritime NZ’s core activities and responsibilities, the scope of the advice required and the timeframe for response are
considered alongside existing organisational priorities in order to determine which requests can be responded to.
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Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

0

4 per year

New
measure

Quantity:
1.2.1 The number of sector26 risk profiles refreshed on an annual basis to inform
intervention decision-making

OUTPUT 1.3: MARITIME SECURITY
AND INTELLIGENCE ADVICE

What is intended to be achieved?
The effective implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance with the
Maritime Security Act 2004 (MSA) and the ability to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest
to enforce the provisions of the MSA and of regulations and rules made under this Act, including carrying out
inspections and audits.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100%

100%

100%

1.3.2 The number of security related detentions issued as a result of Port State
Control (PSC) inspections28

0

0

New
Measure

1.3.3 The percentage of identified security threats to New Zealand port facilities
and ships in New Zealand waters that are appropriately responded to29

100%

100%

New
Measure

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quantity:
1.3.1 The percentage of New Zealand trading ports that are compliant with the
ISPS Code27

26 Maritime NZ’s sectors are Foreign Shipping, Domestic Coastal Shipping, Commercial Fishing, Domestic Passenger/Nonpassenger, Offshore, Outdoor and Adventure, Ports and Harbours and Recreational Boating.
27 New Zealand has 14 commercial trading ports. The ISPS code sets out minimum security arrangements for ships, ports and
government agencies and is an amendment to the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention.
28 Ships’ compliance with the ISPS code is checked as part of all PSC inspections.
29 Maritime NZ uses the national framework to identify and assess potential security risks and then makes a decision about how to
address these. Appropriate actions include providing information to ports and other agencies on a case-by-case basis, requiring
a change in the content of port security plans. The classified nature of security information means it is not appropriate to provide
detail about the volume and quality of this work. Maritime NZ expects to consistently meet the stated target of 100%.
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OUTPUT 1.4: MINISTERIAL SERVICING

What is intended to be achieved?
The effective delivery of support to Ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio responsibilities. This includes
drafting replies to ministerial correspondence, responding to parliamentary questions, and providing support at select
committees on non-legislative matters in a robust and timely manner.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100%

100%

100%

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Crown funding (Vote Transport: Policy Advice – Maritime)

3,349

3,619

3,619

Crown agencies

1,029

1,005

903

NZ International Aid and Development Agency

1,558

740

443

Maritime Levy

2,704

1,278

919

345

200

172

Total revenue

8,985

6,842

6,056

Total expenditure

9,169

7,492

6,364

Net surplus/(deficit)

(184)

(650)

(308)

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quantity:
1.4.1 The percentage of replies to ministerial correspondence and parliamentary
questions that meet agreed quality criteria including timeliness30, 31

Output Class 1: Total revenue and expenses

Other

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

30 Quality criteria is defined as per internal procedures and evidenced through internal sign off processes.
31 Timeframes are variable, as agreed with the Ministry of Transport; adherence to timeframes will be evidenced through internal
quality control procedures.
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Output class 2: Maritime safety and
marine protection services
The purpose of this output class is an integrated approach to achieving compliance with safety, security
and marine protection requirements.
Modern regulatory theory and practice reflects an understanding that the majority of participants in a
regulated sector will do the right thing if they are well informed and supported to meet their obligations;
entry controls ensure that participants meet appropriate standards and have relevant knowledge and
experience; monitoring, investigation and enforcement activities ensure that participants who are not
inclined to meet their obligations will do so, and hold them to account where necessary if they do not. In
addition, these activities also provide information that can be used to inform the on-going improvement
and adjustment of standards that underpin the regulatory system.
Aids to navigation support safety outcomes by signalling hazards, and distress and safety communication
services provide a safety net for those who get into difficulty.

OUTPUT 2.1: INFORMATION AND EDUCATION

What is intended to be achieved?
An increased understanding and knowledge of maritime safety and security by the sectors Maritime NZ engages
with, and the protection of the marine environment, through the provision of information and education services
to, and liaison with, the maritime community. Key functions include the provision of recreational boating safety and
awareness services, and information and education for the commercial sectors of the maritime community.

What happened this year?
The percentage of New Zealander’s recalling boating safety messaging has dropped slightly from the previous year.
This may have been due to a change in focus from a national television advertising campaign to supporting locallyled initiatives. In 2018/19, a national awareness campaign will be run in addition to the continuation of locally-led
initiatives.
All other work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.
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Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

5

3–4 per
annum

New
measure

55%

60%

58%

59

8–16

46

RECREATIONAL SECTOR
Quantity:
2.1.1 The number of information and education campaigns delivered
32

2.1.2 The percentage of New Zealanders who recall boating safety messaging (as
gauged by survey)

COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
Quantity:
2.1.3 The number of industry-based forums contributed to33

OUTPUT 2.2: ENTRY CONTROLS

What is intended to be achieved?
The exercise of entry controls (including continued eligibility) for operators, vessels, seafarers, products, services,
ports, installations and facilities into the maritime transport system and/or the marine environment, under maritime
and related legislation. Key functions and priorities include:
•

registration of ships in the New Zealand Register of Ships

•

issuing marine protection documents

•

issuing maritime documents and certificates

•

vessel security and port security standards

•

certification of seafarers

•

issuing exemptions from the need to comply with maritime and marine protection rules.

What happened this year?
The average number of working days for a seafarer certificate to be completed is significantly higher than the previous
year. This is due to a specific focus during the last quarter of the year to assess and close where possible a large
number of applications that have been held open awaiting contact from applicants for in some cases several years.
The process for monitoring, follow-up, and closing of applications where the applicant has not supplied required
information has now been amended.
All other work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

32 Typically Maritime NZ delivers a one week Safer Boating Week campaign and a summer safety campaign annually. A third
campaign is planned as part of the on-going implementation of SeaCert during 2017/18.
33 Maritime NZ contributes to industry-based forums to provide a regulator’s perspective and to educate and assist maritime
sector participants to get things right with regard to improving safety. Industry-based forums attended may include the Marine
Transport Association, Maritime Law Association of Australia and New Zealand, NZ Shipping Federation, Port and Harbour
Annual Conference, NZ Federation of Commercial Fishermen, the Rafting Association, Navigation Safety Special Interest Group
and Recreational Boating engagements. Maritime NZ’s greater level of activity for 2017/18 reflects its increased emphasis on
industry and stakeholder engagement during the year.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

2.2.1 Average number of days to assess an operator’s safety management system
(including desktop and on site assessment) and issue a MTOC on receipt of
complete MOSS application34

68.5 days

Within
90 days

79 days

2.2.2 Average number of working days for a seafarer certificate to be completed35

37.94 days

Within
20 working
days

28 days

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Timeliness:

OUTPUT 2.3: MONITORING AND INVESTIGATION OF COMPLIANCE

What is intended to be achieved?
The monitoring and investigation of compliance with maritime legislation and other related legislation.
Key functions include:
•

inspections of ships registered in other countries when they arrive in New Zealand for compliance with IMO
requirements (Port State Control inspections)

•

annual flag state control (SOLAS Convention) inspection of New Zealand registered ships that comply with the
Convention for Safety of Life at Sea

•

inspection and oversight of domestic commercial vessels and their documents, to ensure compliance with
legislation and with vessel survey standards

•

audit of New Zealand operators, vessels, facilities, products, services, documents and delegations, and requiring
compliance with the documents and delegations

•

investigations and responses to accidents and incidents, regulatory non-compliance, breaches of maritime
security requirements, and complaints.

What happened this year?
This has been a successful year for monitoring and investigation activities internationally and domestically.
Our MOSS audit regime continued to work to support, encourage and require strong safety standards and
behaviours among domestic commercial operatiors. Although our year-end result is slightly under target (delivering
461 out of 469 audits), this has been predominantly due to operator availability. We have continued to complete
routine HSWA assessments alongside MOSS audits. This has enabled us to have safety conversations with operators
and support them to understand and meet the safety requirements of both HSWA and the MTA.
All other work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives with no
material variance.

34 A complete application includes a Maritime Transport Operator Certificate (MTOC) application, a Maritime Transport Operator
Plan (MTOP), fit and proper person form(s) and application payment. Applications that are put on hold for reasons outside
Maritime NZ’s control are excluded from the reported result.
35 A seafarer certificate includes all certificates processed within Maritime NZ’s personnel certification team. A completed certificate
includes certificates that have been approved, declined or withdrawn.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

257

≥250

New
measure

39%

≥25%

New
measure

2.3.3 The percentage of PSC detention decisions upheld after official
review37

No PSC
detention
decisions
officially reviewed

100%

New
measure

2.3.4 The percentage of serious or very serious marine casualties38 involving
SOLAS vessels that receive a response39 according to Maritime NZ’s
compliance operating model

No incidents of
a serious marine
casualty involving
a SOLAS vessel

100%

New
measure

98%

100%

New
measure

*2.3.6 Percentage of HSW assessments41 required that are conducted

100%

100%

New
measure

*2.3.7 The number of proactive, targeted HSWA inspection campaigns
delivered42

2

2

New
measure

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

INTERNATIONAL VESSELS (SOLAS)
Quantity:
2.3.1 The number of PSC inspections completed annually
2.3.2 The percentage of annual PSC inspections that were of higher risk36
ships

DOMESTIC COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
Quantity:
2.3.5 The percentage of scheduled MOSS Audits40 that are completed

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

36 Higher risk ships include: any ship identified in the APCIS database as an ‘underperforming ship’ (UPS) which is a vessel that
has been detained three or more times in the last 12 months by the Tokyo MoU and requires inspections at each port within the
Tokyo MOU region; any ship that is classified as High Risk Ship (HRS) under the New Inspection Regime (NIR). High Risk ships
are those that score 4 or more points based on a risk assessment that considers a vessel’s, type, age, flag rating, deficiencies
and detentions over the last three years and company performance (based on deficiency and detention ratings for all ships in a
company’s fleet). Every vessel is scored on these criteria (which are weighted). High risk ships must be inspected every two to
four months (while standard and low risk ships must be inspected every 5 to 8 and 9 to 18 months respectively. Any ship that is
not inspected within its required timeframe assumes a Priority One status to highlight it needs to be inspected at the next port –
however priority status is not an indicator of high risk). Refer to http://www.tokyo-mou.org/doc/NIR – information%20sheet.pdf.
A ship can also be identified as having overriding priority on the basis of significant concerns identified by any administration,
by notification from pilots etc. and by reports from the Master or crew. These parties can request that the vessel be inspected
again at its next port of call.
37 Note that complaints made are reviewed through the official Tokyo MoU review process.
38 A marine casualty as defined by the IMO Casualty Investigation is one “involving the total loss of the ship or a death or severe
damage to the environment”. Refer to http://www.imo.org/en/OurWork/MSAS/Casualties/Pages/Default.aspx
39 The response may include an investigation to identify any liability and/or an inspection to ensure the vessel is safe to continue
operating. It may not always include a Maritime NZ-led investigation as this function may be undertaken by the Transport
Accident and Investigation Commission (TAIC) who have responsibility for conducting investigations under the Casualty Code.
40 MOSS Audits are scheduled to reflect each individual operation’s Risk Profile. Risk is assessed when an operator initially enters
into MOSS. The risk score determines when the first MOSS Audit is due. Operators with relatively higher risk ratings are audited
more frequently.
41 Maritime NZ’s policy is that an HSW assessment will be conducted as an adjunct to every MOSS audit. An assessment may
include support, education and inspections.
42 In addition to general HSW assessments, Maritime NZ will conduct targeted national inspection campaigns focusing on a
high risk sector (for instance small fishing operations, passenger ferries) or activity (for instance working at heights, winching
operations) and will include comprehensive HSW inspections of at least 16 operations.
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OUTPUT 2.4: ENFORCEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

What is intended to be achieved?
Compliance with maritime and related legislation via enforcement activity to ensure that participants who are not
inclined to meet their obligations will do so, and are held to account, where necessary. Enforcement activities include:
•

suspension of, or imposition of conditions on, maritime documents or marine protection documents

•

detention of ships and seizure of products under the MTA

•

follow-up, second and subsequent inspections to review non-conformity and corrective action notices,
suspensions, conditions and detentions

•

issuing infringement notices under the MTA

•

issuing improvement notices and prohibition notices under the HSWA

•

prosecution of offences under the MTA

•

exit controls – removal of ships from the register, and revocation of maritime and marine protection documents.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectations target objectives with no
material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100%44

100%

100%

0

<5

New
Measure

Quantity:
*2.4.1 The percentage of prosecutions brought under the Health and Safety at
Work Act and/or the Maritime Transport Act that result in the relevant parties
being held to account43
2.4.2 The number of enforcement decisions that are overturned on review
or appeal under the Health and Safety at Work Act and/or Maritime
Transport Act

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

43 ‘Held to account’ is interpreted to include a conviction or another compliance outcome in the public interest (pursuant to the
Solicitor General guidelines).
44 Performance against this measure is based on the number of prosecutions that are concluded during the reporting period and
where the prosecution action leads to the desired outcome (e.g. compliance, accountability).
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OUTPUT 2.5: DISTRESS AND SAFETY COMMUNICATION SERVICES

What is intended to be achieved?
The provision of reliable distress and safety radio services to the maritime sector to reduce safety incidents and
support efficient and effective responses.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectations target objectives with no
material variance. The slight variance for the time a 24-hour distress/safety radio service is provided was due to a
30 minute fault at the Maritime Operations Centre (MOC). The fault was caused by a network upgrade impacting on
our services. No outages occurred during the rest of year.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Timeliness:
2.5.1 The percentage of radio station availability45
*2.5.2 The percentage of time a 24-hour distress/safety radio service is provided46

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

99.91%

99.8%

99.95%

99.99%

100%

99.97%

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

OUTPUT 2.6: AIDS TO NAVIGATION

What is intended to be achieved?
The provision of reliable maritime navigation aids, including the provision of navigational aids for shipping on
New Zealand’s coast and adjacent islands and effective oversight of navigational aids owned by ports and
other organisations.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

45 This indicator measures the availability of the very high frequency (VHF) services, high frequency (HF) voice and HF digital
selective calling (DSC). Outages are logged by Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) operator: Start is “fault first found”, and end
is “fault repaired”. The target is based on category 1 Aids to Navigation (AtoN) but there are no actual international targets for
radio. Outages are logged in the MOC database and reported in the monthly MOC report.
46 This measure is intended to show the MOC is fully operational and available to receive distress calls, issue maritime safety
information (MSI) broadcasts, and respond to requests for assistance or information over the maritime network. The measure
is reported in the monthly MOC report, with issues reviewed during contractor meetings. Performance should be 100% unless
there is a major outage or disaster that means the MOC cannot be manned.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

99.99%

99.80%

100%

99.98%

97%

99.80%

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Safety and Marine Protection Services)

2,078

1,937

1,886

HSWA (Vote Transport: Health and Safety at Work Activities – Maritime)

6,160

6,315

2,975

Fuel Excise Duty (Vote Transport: Search and Rescue and Recreational Boating
Safety Activities

2,377

2,560

2,560

18,279

20,030

19,488

Fees

2,836

2,825

1,082

Other

1,018

823

2,812

Total revenue

32,748

34,490

30,803

Total expenditure

31,964

33,840

29,730

784

650

1,073

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Timeliness:
*2.6.1 The percentage of time lighthouses are operational47
2.6.2 The percentage of time that day-beacons/buoys are operational

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 2: Total revenue and expenses

Maritime Levy

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

47 The target is based on the international standards defined to measure the availability of category 1 AtoN outages recorded by
Maritime NZ in a database. The start is when an outage is first reported and the finish is when the site is repaired. Outages are
notified either via the Maritime NZ monitoring systems (if monitored), the RCCNZ, or MOC from a vessel via maritime radio, or by
a member of the public.
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Output class 3: Marine Pollution
Response Service
Through this output class, Maritime NZ contributes directly to the goal of response capability that is well
prepared and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the delivery
of services that ensure New Zealand is prepared for, and has the ability to respond to, marine oil spills.

OUTPUT 3.1: MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE CAPABILITY

What is intended to be achieved?
That New Zealand is prepared for and able to respond quickly and effectively to marine oil spills.

What happened this year?
During the year, all regional councils were above 80% of the recommended number of trained responders. However,
at the end of the year Waikato Regional Council (WRC) was below the 80% target resulting in a slight year-end
variance for this measure. Plans are in place for WRC to have above 80% of trained responders by the second
quarter of 2018/19. Maritime NZ has improved reporting tools to assist regional councils to ensure they maintain their
recommended numbers.
During the year, all stockpiles underwent maintenance checks and all stockpiles were inspected with the exception of
Otago Regional Council (ORC). The year-end result is slightly under target because ORC’s stockpile was unable to be
inspected due to the equipment being in quarantine. However maintenance was completed.
The overall result for the percentage of regional council Tier 2 oil spill plans that are current dropped slightly from
the previous year. This is because three plans had expired during the first six months of the year and were updated
during the period. By the end of the year, all regional council Tier 2 oil spill plans were current.
All other work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

96.88%

100%

93.75%

3.1.2 The percentage of regional (19) and national (1) equipment stockpiles that
are maintained and inspected within the last 12 months

98.75%

100%

100%

3.1.3 The number of Tier 3 National Response Team (NRT) Table Top Exercises
and Tier 3 NRT Field Exercises that are conducted annually49

3

1 per
region

New
Measure

90.62%

100%

100%

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quality and Quantity:
3.1.1 The percentage of regional councils that have trained responders at or
above 80% of recommended number48

3.1.4 The percentage of regional council Tier 2 oil spill plans that are current

48 The recommended number varies for each regional council and numbers are determined according to a variety of factors that
shape the three tier response system. These factors are described in the Maritime Oil Spill Response Training Numbers policy.
49 The table top exercise will involve members of the NRT simulating an Emergency Coordination Centre (EEC) environment
and the Field Exercise will have members of the NRT deployed either on the water or beach environment conducting oil spill
response activities.
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Output Class 3: Total revenue and expenses
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

7,499

7,813

6,448

141

70

119

Total revenue

7,640

7,883

6,567

Total expenditure

5,737

6,163

5,616

Net surplus/(deficit)

1,903

1,720

951

Oil Pollution Levies
Other

Refer to Appendix 1 Note 21 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances
against budget.
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Output class 4: Search and rescue
coordination services
This output class contributes directly to Maritime NZ’s goal of a response capability that is well prepared
and effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents. This is achieved through the coordination of
a timely and appropriate search and rescue response (across land, sea and air). Efficient and effective
search and rescue operations are supported by distress beacon technology, including a ground station in
New Zealand linked to the international satellite system.

OUTPUT 4.1: COORDINATION OF SEARCH AND
RESCUE OPERATIONS
What is intended to be achieved?
The effective coordination and conduct of sea, air and land search and rescue operations through an efficient search
and rescue coordination centre (RCCNZ).

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100%

100%

100%

Quality and timeliness:
*4.1.1 The percentage of time an uninterrupted co-ordination service is provided by
two fully trained search and rescue officers (SAROs) on duty 24/750

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

OUTPUT 4.2: MANAGEMENT OF NEW ZEALAND’S EMERGENCY
DISTRESS BEACON SYSTEM
What is intended to be achieved?
The operation and maintenance of the ground-based equipment that forms part of the international satellite system
that detects, locates and alerts search and rescue authorities about emergency distress beacons, and the operation
and maintenance of the emergency distress beacons database.

What happened this year?
The percentage of beacon registrations received and processed by the next working day is slightly under target for
the year. This is primarily due to staff availability. Maritime NZ is currently testing a new online beacon registration
system which will go-live in the 2018/19 financial year and provide process efficiencies.
All other work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

50 This measure demonstrates that the RCCNZ is always staffed by fully trained and qualified SAROs.
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Our Performance
ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

99.83%

98%

98.4%

*4.2.2 The percentage of beacons’ data verified within the last two years
(at 30 June)

69.58%

65%

75.08%

4.2.3 The percentage of beacon registrations received by the RCCNZ and
processed into the database by the next working day

96.79%

98%

99.0%

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Crown funding (Vote Transport: Search and Rescue Activities)

3,231

3,316

3,244

Fuel Excise Duty (Vote Transport: Search and Rescue and Recreational Boating
Safety Activities)

3,347

3,326

2,642

116

136

153

Total revenue

6,694

6,778

6,039

Total expenditure

6,619

6,778

6,641

75

–

(602)

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Timeliness:
4.2.1 The percentage of time ground-based satellite equipment is operational

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 4: Total revenue and expenses

Other

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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Output class 5: Maritime incident
response capability
This output class is intended to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of New Zealand’s response to
complex maritime incidents, in particular to address systemic weaknesses in high-level coordination
across government agencies.

OUTPUT 5.1: MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE CAPABILITY

What is intended to be achieved?
This output is intended to achieve the readiness and response capabilities required for the on-going delivery of the
Integrated Maritime Incident Response Strategy and associated high-level plans, through the delivery of internal and
external joint training and exercises, liaison and coordination activities and evolution of policies, procedures and processes.

What happened this year?
All work completed in this area falls within the SPE target objectives with no material variance.

Our Performance
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

Quantity:
*5.1.1 The number of Maritime Incident Response Team (MIRT) exercises
completed51

*5.1.2 Annual readiness and response training plan developed and all
planned training completed

*

ACTUAL
2017/18

TARGET
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

Four exercises
completed

Four
exercises
completed

Four exercises
completed

Achieved

Training plan
developed and
all planned
training
completed

Training plan
developed and
all planned
training
completed

Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses.

Output Class 5: Total Revenue and Expenses
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Incident Response Capability)

769

764

664

Total revenue

769

764

664

Total expenditure

769

764

664

–

–

–

Net surplus / (deficit)

Refer to Note 29 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
51 MIRT exercises are conducted to test the individual plans in Maritime NZ’s Integrated Maritime Incident Response Strategy.
Exercises conducted by the MIRT may focus on Maritime NZ’s response as a whole or functions within, for example – salvage
oversight. On completion of each exercise a ‘lessons learnt’ plan is developed to ensure that any shortfalls in processes, actions
or overall response capability are identified and resolved.
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Statement of responsibility
Pursuant to section 155 of the Crown Entities Act 2004 the Authority accepts responsibility for:
•

the preparation of the financial statements and the statements of performance and for the judgements used
therein

•

the establishment and maintenance of a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance as
to the integrity and reliability of financial and non-financial reporting

•

any end of year performance information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A of the Public Finance
Act 1989.

In the opinion of the Authority, the financial statements and statements of performance fairly reflect the financial
position and operations of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2018.
Signed for and on behalf of the Authority

Belinda Vernon
Acting Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 17 October 2018
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Janice Fredric
Acting Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ
Dated: 17 October 2018

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements and performance
information for the year ended 30 June 2018
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand. The Auditor-General has appointed me, Kelly Rushton,
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the
performance information, including the performance information for appropriations, of Maritime New Zealand on his
behalf.

OPINION
We have audited:
•

the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on pages 94 to 119, that comprise the statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information; and

•

the performance information of Maritime New Zealand on pages 27 to 64 and 71 to 88.

In our opinion:
•

the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on pages 94 to 119:
––

––

•

present fairly, in all material respects:
––

its financial position as at 30 June 2018; and

––

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity
Reporting Standards; and

the performance information on pages 27 to 64 and 71 to 88:
––

presents fairly, in all material respects, Maritime New Zealand’s performance for the year ended 30 June 2018,
including:
––

for each class of reportable outputs:
––

––

––
––

––

its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared with forecasts included in the statement of
performance expectations for the financial year; and
its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the statement of
performance expectations for the financial year; and

what has been achieved with the appropriations; and
the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the appropriated or forecast expenses or
capital expenditure.

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 17 October 2018. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our
responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, we comment on other
information, and we explain our independence.
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BASIS FOR OUR OPINION
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND THE PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
The Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime New Zealand for preparing financial statements and performance
information that are fairly presented and comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The
Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements
and performance information that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime
New Zealand for assessing Maritime New Zealand’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of Maritime New Zealand, or there is no
realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public
Finance Act 1989.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITOR FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance
information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are
differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers,
taken on the basis of these financial statements and the performance information.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance information, our procedures
were limited to checking that the information agreed to Maritime New Zealand’s statement of performance
expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the
performance information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
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•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the performance
information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Maritime New Zealand’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Board.
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•

We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within Maritime New Zealand’s
framework for reporting its performance.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Board and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on Maritime New Zealand’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements and the performance information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause Maritime New Zealand to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the performance
information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the performance information
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

OTHER INFORMATION
The Board responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages
1 to 26, 65 to 70, 89 to 90, 120 to 121 and 144 to 151, but does not include the financial statements and the
performance information, and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our responsibility is to
read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements and the performance information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

INDEPENDENCE
We are independent of Maritime New Zealand in accordance with the independence requirements of the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical
Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in Maritime New Zealand.

Kelly Rushton
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for
Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2018
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

21,311

21,837

17,590

20,983

21,309

20,407

6,703

5,538

5,366

199

190

199

49,196

48,874

43,562

4

27,015

26,109

23,002

13,14

2,479

2,724

2,584

Capital charge

5

1,241

1,482

1,317

Finance costs

6

80

–

103

Other expenses

7

17,706

18,559

16,393

48,521

48,874

43,399

Surplus/(deficit)

675

–

163

Total comprehensive revenue & expense

675

–

163

NOTES

REVENUE
Crown

2

Maritime Levy
Other revenue

3

Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs

Total expenditure

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 29.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2018

NOTES
Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue & expense
Capital contribution

19

Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

21,445

22,278

20,447

675

–

163

344

–

835

22,464

22,278

21,445

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 29.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position for Maritime New Zealand
As at 30 June 2018

NOTES

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & cash equivalents

8

5,168

2,110

2,056

Debtors & other receivables

9

3,605

3,600

3,135

Derivative financial instruments

10

30

–

10

Investments

11

3,367

4,700

5,300

561

520

625

142

100

159

12,873

11,030

11,285

Prepayments
Inventory

12

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

26

–

–

Property, plant & equipment

13

11,806

11,649

12,815

Intangible assets

14

4,931

6,500

4,577

Total non-current assets

16,763

18,149

17,392

Total assets

29,636

29,179

28,677

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors & other payables

15

3,003

3,346

2,980

Finance leases

16

284

273

273

Provision for employee entitlements

17

1,950

1,350

1,767

Provisions

18

15

–

15

5,252

4,969

5,035

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Finance leases

16

1,791

1,802

2,075

Provisions

18

129

130

121

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

1

Total non-current liabilities

1,920

1,932

2,197

Total liabilities

7,172

6,901

7,232

EQUITY
Crown contribution

19

25,138

25,259

24,794

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

(3,350)

(3,657)

(4,025)

Revaluation reserve

19

676

676

676

Total equity

22,464

22,278

21,445

Total equity & liabilities

29,636

29,179

28,677

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 29.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2018
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Crown

21,064

21,837

17,736

Maritime Levy

20,963

21,309

19,928

Other third party

6,165

5,538

5,322

Interest revenue

206

190

183

Payments to employees

(26,832)

(26,109)

(22,807)

Payments to suppliers

(17,387)

(18,431)

(15,593)

(1,241)

(1,410)

(1,317)

26

–

(35)

2,964

2,924

3,417

96

–

25

9,370

–

5,143

NOTES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Capital charge
Goods & Services Tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments

(573)

(266)

(1,006)

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(1,334)

(2,020)

(1,526)

Acquisitions of investments

(7,410)

–

(7,783)

149

(2,286)

(5,147)

344

–

1,153

(345)

(344)

(337)

(1)

(344)

816

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

3,112

294

(914)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

2,056

1,816

2,970

5,168

2,110

2,056

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contribution
Payments of finance leases

16

Net cash flows from financing activities

Closing cash balance at 30 June

8

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid and
received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for Maritime New Zealand (Continued)
RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOW
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

675

163

2,479

2,584

Net (gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments

(48)

161

Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses

(17)

21

2,414

2,766

(61)

229

Interest payments on finance leases

72

71

Total items classified as investing/financing activities

11

300

(470)

42

(Increase)/decrease: Prepayments

64

53

(Increase)/decrease: Inventories

17

32

Increase/(decrease): Creditors & other payables

62

(137)

183

195

8

3

Net movements in working capital items

(136)

188

Net cash from operations

2,964

3,417

Net surplus/(deficit)

ADD/(LESS) NON CASH ITEMS
Depreciation & amortisation expense

Total non-cash items

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant & equipment

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Increase)/decrease: Debtors & other receivables

Increase/(decrease): Employee entitlements
Increase/(decrease): Provisions
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Notes to the financial statements
for Maritime New Zealand
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
REPORTING ENTITY
Maritime New Zealand is a Crown entity as defined
by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and
operates in New Zealand. The relevant legislation
governing Maritime NZ’s operations includes the Crown
Entities Act 2004 and the Maritime Transport Act
1994. As such, Maritime NZ’s ultimate parent is the
New Zealand Crown.
Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide maritime
regulatory, and search and rescue response services
to the New Zealand public as opposed to that of
making a financial return. Accordingly, Maritime NZ
has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for
financial reporting purposes.
These financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the
year ended 30 June 2018 and were approved by the
Authority on 17 October 2018.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
consistently applied throughout the year.
Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the
requirement to comply with New Zealand’s generally
accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP).
These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Tier 1 PBE financial reporting
standards and other applicable financial reporting
standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in
New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency
of Maritime New Zealand is New Zealand dollars.
Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies
during the financial year.
Standards, amendments and interpretations
issued that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted
Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective
that have not been early adopted, and which are
relevant to Maritime NZ, are:

Financial instruments
In January 2017 the External Reporting Board issued
PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. This replaces
PBE IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. PBE IFRS 9 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The
Crown has resolved to adopt PBE IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments for Financial Statements of Government
prepared for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. Accordingly, Maritime NZ will adopt PBE IFRS
9 Financial Instruments for the financial year ending
30 June 2019. This is not anticipated to impact on the
recognition and measurement of Maritime NZ’s financial
instruments.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies used in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

These financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Revenue recognition

Measurement base

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.

The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, except where modified by the
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and
equipment and the derivative financial instruments.
The financial statements have been prepared on the
basis of accrual accounting, with the exception of
cash-flow information, which has been prepared on a
cash basis.

Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown, and
is restricted in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ
meeting its objectives, as specified in its founding
legislation and the scope of the relevant appropriations
of the funder. Maritime NZ considers that there are no
conditions attached to the funding and it is recognised
as revenue at the point of entitlement. The fair value
of revenue from the Crown has been determined
to be equivalent to the amounts due in the funding
arrangements.
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Revenue derived from the provision of services to
third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of
completion at balance date. Maritime Levies charged
on foreign vessels are based on information from the
New Zealand Customs Service regarding port visits.
Maritime Levies charged on domestic vessels are based
on annual registration information and are recognised in
the period to which they relate.
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
Maritime NZ has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.
Capital charge
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the
period to which the charge relates.

exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which are stated as Goods and Services Tax inclusive.
Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as an
input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or
expense.
The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part
of debtors and other receivables or creditors and other
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received
from, Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services
Tax relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of
Cash Flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.
Budget figures

Leases

Finance leases
Leases that transfer to Maritime NZ substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset, whether or not title is eventually transferred, are
classified as finance leases. At the commencement of
the lease term, Maritime NZ recognises finance leases
as assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial
Position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item
or the present value of the minimum lease payment. The
finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated
over its useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether
Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the
lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to Maritime
NZ are classified as operating leases. Lease payments
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in the
surplus or deficit.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus
or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the
total lease expense.
Income tax
Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly,
no provision has been made for income tax.
Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on
a Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with the
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The budget figures are derived from the Statement
of Performance Expectations, as approved by the
Authority at the beginning of the financial year. The
budget figures have been prepared in accordance with
Tier 1 PBE accounting standards using accounting
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the
Authority for the preparation of the financial statements.
Cost allocation
Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by
using the cost allocation system outlined below.
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an
output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be
attributed in an economically feasible manner with a
specific output. Direct costs are charged directly to
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based
on cost drivers and related activity/usage information.
Depreciation is charged on the basis of asset utilisation.
Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time
incurred. Other indirect costs are assigned to outputs,
based on the proportion of full-time equivalents.
There have been no changes to the cost allocation
methodology since the date of the last audited financial
statements.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held on call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.
Debtors and other receivables
Short-term debtors and other receivables are recorded
at the amount due, less any provision for uncollectability.
A receivable is considered uncollectable when there
is evidence that the amount due will not be able to be
fully collected. Such evidence would include payment
defaults and situations where the debtor is in significant

financial difficulties, and there is a probability that
the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or
liquidation.
The amount of the provision for uncollectability is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
using the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. When
a receivable is deemed uncollectable, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue
receivables that have been renegotiated are reclassified
as current (that is, not past due).
Investments
At each balance sheet date, Maritime NZ assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that an
investment is impaired.
Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at
the amount invested. Interest is subsequently accrued
and added to the investment balance. After initial
recognition, investments in bank deposits are measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method, less any provision for impairment.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there
is objective evidence that Maritime NZ will not be able
to collect amounts due according to the original terms
of the deposit. Significant financial difficulties of the
bank, probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy,
liquidation, and default in payments are considered
indicators that the deposit is impaired.
Inventories
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in
the provision of services that are not supplied on a
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined
on the weighted average cost method), adjusted
when applicable, for any loss of service potential.
Where inventories are acquired through non-exchange
transactions, the cost is the current replacement cost
at the date of acquisition. This valuation includes
allowances for slow moving and obsolete stock.
The amount of any write-down for the loss of service
potential or from cost to net realisable value is
recognised in the surplus or deficit in the period of the
write-down.
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated
into New Zealand dollars (the functional currency)
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage
exposure to foreign exchange risk arising from Maritime
NZ operational activities. Maritime NZ does not hold
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. Maritime NZ has not adopted hedge
accounting.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date the derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each
balance date, with the resulting gain or loss recognised
in the surplus or deficit.
A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as
current if it is due for settlement within 12 months of
balance date. Otherwise the full fair value of the forward
foreign exchange derivatives is classified as non-current.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of:
•

lighthouses

•

navigational lights, buoys and day beacons

•

plant and equipment

•

motor vehicles

•

furniture, fittings and office equipment

•

computer equipment

•

leasehold improvements

•

land.

Land is measured at fair value. All other asset
classes are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ
materially from fair value, and is revalued at least every
three years.
The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed
every three years by independent valuers to ensure
that they do not differ materially from fair value. If there
is evidence supporting a material difference, then the
off-cycle assets classes are revalued.

Accounting for revaluations
Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of property, plant
and equipment on a class of assets basis.
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The results of revaluing are credited or debited to
other comprehensive revenue and expense and
are accumulated to an asset revaluation reserve in
equity. Where this results in a debit balance in the
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed
in the surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on
revaluation that offsets a previous decrease in value
recognised in the surplus or deficit will be recognised
first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously
expensed, and then credited to the revaluation reserve
for that class of asset.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment
and is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and
equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an
asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction,
it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of
acquisition.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the
surplus or deficit.
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included
in revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are
transferred to accumulated surplus/(deficit).

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the item
will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as
they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all
property, plant and equipment other than land, at rates
that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to
their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The
useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in
the preparation of these statements are as follows:
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DEPRECIATION
METHOD

Lighthouses

10–40

straight-line

Navigational lights, buoys
& day beacons

10–20

straight-line

5–20

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

Plant & equipment

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits or service potential associated
with the item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably.

USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

Leasehold improvements

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is
shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset are
reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial
year-end.
Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software.
Costs directly associated with the development of
software for internal use by Maritime NZ are recognised
as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software
development, employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
•

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense
when incurred.

•

Costs associated with maintaining computer software
are recognised as an expense when incurred.

•

Costs associated with the development and
maintenance of Maritime NZ’s website are recognised
as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated
as follows:
USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

Developed

3–8

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets
Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets.
Assets are considered cash-generating where their
primary objective is to generate a commercial return.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that
have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements
These include salaries and wages accrued up to
balance date, and annual leave earned but not yet taken
at balance date. These are measured at undiscounted
nominal values, based on accrued entitlements at
current rates of pay.
Employee entitlements that Maritime NZ expects to
be settled within 12 months of balance date in which
the employee renders the related service are based on
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. Annual
leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in
accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.
Maritime NZ does not recognise a liability for sick leave,
as staff have an unlimited entitlement.
Maritime NZ recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them,
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Value in use is determined using an approach based
on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, a
restoration cost approach, or a service units approach.
The most appropriate approach used to measure value
in use depends on the nature of the impairment and
availability of information.

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower
LifeSaver are accounted for as defined contribution
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an
expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and
the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable
amount.

Obligations for contributions to the Government
Superannuation Fund are accounted for as a defined
contribution superannuation scheme and are recognised
as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

For revalued assets, any impairment is firstly recognised
against the revaluation reserve. Where that results in
a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the debit
balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Provisions

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense
and increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class
of asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss
for that class of asset was previously recognised in the
surplus or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is
also recognised in the surplus or deficit.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.
Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at
the amount payable.

Defined benefit schemes

Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future
expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there
is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that expenditure
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time, value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as an interest expense and is included in finance costs.
Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when
Maritime NZ has approved a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring that has either been announced publicly to
those affected, or for which implementation has already
commenced.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

103

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Critical judgements

In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions
are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

No critical judgements have been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets’ useful lives and residual value
At each balance date, Maritime NZ reviews the
useful lives and residual values of its property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing
the appropriateness of useful life and residual value
estimates of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets requires Maritime NZ to consider a
number of factors, such as the physical condition of the
asset, expected period of use of the asset by Maritime
NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from the future
sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual
value will impact on the depreciation/amortisation
expense recognised in the surplus or deficit, and on
the carrying amount of the asset in the Statement of
Financial Position. Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this
estimation uncertainty by:
•

physical inspections of assets

•

asset replacement programmes

•

review of second-hand market prices for similar
assets

•

analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values,
except where individual assets have been impaired or
written off during the financial year due to observable
changes in the asset itself.
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Commitments
Commitments disclosed include those operating and
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable
contractual or statutory obligations. Refer Note 16 and
Note 20.
Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility
that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent
assets are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits
will be realised.
Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in
bank accounts and demand deposits in which Maritime
NZ invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.
Operating activities include cash received from all
income sources and record the cash payments made
for the supply of goods and services, personnel
expenses, interest and capital charge.
Investing activities are those activities relating to
the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets,
intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity
and debt capital structure of Maritime NZ.

NOTE 2: REVENUE FROM THE
CROWN
Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the
Crown for the specific purposes of Maritime NZ, as
set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the
relevant government appropriations. Apart from these
general restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies attached to government funding
(2017: nil).

NOTE 3: OTHER REVENUE
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Seafarer licensing

904

1,011

Ship registration

346

290

1,586

1,625

690

690

Rules Programme Funding (MoT)

1,028

903

Pacific Maritime Safety Funding (MFAT)

1,558

443

430

379

Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment

96

25

Net gain on derivative financial instruments

48

–

Net foreign exchange gains

17

–

6,703

5,366

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

25,778

21,945

1,110

1,005

127

52

27,015

23,002

User charges
Oil pollution recovery

Other income

Total other revenue

NOTE 4: PERSONNEL COSTS

Personnel & related costs
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 17)
Total personnel costs

Employee contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government
Superannuation Fund and Tower LifeSaver.

NOTE 5: CAPITAL CHARGE
Maritime NZ pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds at 30 June and 31 December each year.
The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2018 was 6.0% (2017: average rate 6.5%).

NOTE 6: FINANCE COSTS

Interest on finance lease
Discount unwind on provisions (Note 18)
Total finance costs

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

72

71

8

32

80

103

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

105

NOTE 7: OTHER EXPENSES
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

1,246

1,082

121

115

59

4

–

7

Fees to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit

88

86

Increase in provision for collectability of receivables (Note 9)

22

92

Maintenance

2,146

1,654

Marketing & public relations (education & awareness programmes)

1,339

1,416

Operating expenses

1,727

1,650

Operating lease expenses

1,388

1,138

Professional & safety services

6,530

5,792

Search & rescue variable costs

1,001

1,131

35

254

–

161

2,004

1,811

17,706

16,393

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Cash on hand & at bank

3,318

2,033

Cash equivalents – term deposits

1,850

23

Total cash & equivalents

5,168

2,056

Administration
Authority members’ fees (Note 23)
Bad debts written off
Donations

Losses on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Losses on derivative financial instruments
Travel
Total other expenses

NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months and less. The weighted average effective interest rate for
transaction accounts and short-term deposits is 2.01% (2017: 1.48%).

NOTE 9: DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade debtors
Less: provision for uncollectability
Net trade debtors
Other accounts receivable
Total debtors and other receivables
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ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

2,809

2,532

(195)

(173)

2,614

2,359

991

776

3,605

3,135

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Receivables from the sale of goods & services (exchange transactions)

1,401

583

Receivables from Maritime Levies & Crown Revenue (non-exchange transactions)

2,204

2,552

TOTAL DEBTORS & OTHER RECEIVABLES COMPRISES:

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2018 and 2017 all overdue receivables
have been assessed for collectability and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed in the table below:
ACTUAL 2018

ACTUAL 2017

GROSS
$000

IMPAIRMENT
$000

NET
$000

GROSS
$000

IMPAIRMENT
$000

NET
$000

3,121

–

3,121

2,630

–

2,630

Past due 1–30 days

426

(43)

383

169

–

169

Past due 31–60 days

46

(5)

41

203

–

203

Past due 61–90 days

49

(25)

24

23

–

23

158

(122)

36

284

(173)

111

3,800

(195)

3,605

3,308

(173)

3,135

DEBTORS AGING
Not past due

Past due >90 days
Total

The provision for uncollectability has been calculated based on expected losses from uncollectability for Maritime
NZ’s pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses in previous periods, and
review of specific debtors. Movements in the provision for uncollectability of receivables are as follows:

Balance at 1 July
Additional provisions made during the year (Note 7)
Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

173

81

22

92

195

173

NOTE 10: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward exchange contracts were NZ$3.7m (2017: NZ$4.0m).
The foreign currency principal amounts were US$2.5m (2017: US$2.8m). The amounts due for settlement within
12 months of balance date were NZ$0.34m (US$0.25m).

NOTE 11: INVESTMENTS
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Term deposit

3,367

5,300

Total investments

3,367

5,300

All investments are bank term deposits; the carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months
approximate their fair value.
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NOTE 12: INVENTORY
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Spare parts

142

159

Total inventory

142

159

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $nil (2017: $nil) reflecting the current age and
condition. There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however,
some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 13: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

LIGHTHOUSES
$000

BUOYS, DAY
BEACONS,
NAVIGATIONAL
LIGHTS
$000

PLANT &
EQUIPMENT
$000

2,750

2,544

12,609

Additions

23

64

718

Transfer from WIP

21

13

5,869

(47)

(175)

(641)

Balance at 30 June 2017

2,747

2,446

18,555

Balance at 1 July 2017

2,747

2,446

18,555

98

89

34

–

6

53

(218)

(102)

(3,269)

2,627

2,439

15,373

1,301

2,166

9,648

Depreciation expense

97

55

601

Elimination on disposal

(47)

(175)

(617)

Balance at 30 June 2017

1,351

2,046

9,632

Balance at 1 July 2017

1,351

2,046

9,632

Depreciation expense

110

60

727

Elimination on disposal

(218)

(70)

(3,249)

Balance at 30 June 2018

1,243

2,036

7,110

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2017

1,396

400

8,923

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2018

1,384

403

8,263

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2016

Disposals

Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2016

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime NZ in 1993 was
revalued by an independent registered valuer, Beca Limited, on 30 June 2016. The net carrying amount of plant and
equipment held under finance leases is $1.98m (2017: $2.2m). There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s
property, plant and equipment, and no property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities.
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MOTOR
VEHICLES
$000

FURNITURE,
FITTINGS
& OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENT
$000

LAND
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

626

1,348

2,232

2,211

676

5,921

30,917

–

12

158

38

–

59

1,072

–

3

15

–

–

(5,921)

–

(53)

(148)

(562)

(30)

–

–

(1,656)

573

1,215

1,843

2,219

676

59

30,333

573

1,215

1,843

2,219

676

59

30,333

–

100

146

–

–

71

538

–

–

–

–

–

(59)

–

(335)

(230)

(136)

(18)

–

–

(4,308)

238

1,085

1,853

2,201

676

71

26,563

597

1,168

1,326

1,513

–

–

17,719

28

73

466

91

–

–

1,411

(53)

(143)

(547)

(30)

–

–

(1,612)

572

1,098

1,245

1,574

–

–

17,518

572

1,098

1,245

1,574

–

–

17,518

1

86

400

94

–

–

1,478

(335)

(230)

(119)

(18)

–

–

(4,239)

238

954

1,526

1,650

–

–

14,757

1

117

598

645

676

59

12,815

–

131

327

551

676

71

11,806
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NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:

ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

2,491

6,911

1,591

10,993

45

555

765

1,365

–

1,591

(1,591)

–

(134)

(2,204)

–

(2,338)

Balance at 30 June 2017

2,402

6,853

765

10,020

Balance at 1 July 2017

2,402

6,853

765

10,020

89

810

456

1,355

Balance at 1 July 2016
Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals

Additions
Transfer from WIP

23

742

(765)

–

(21)

(201)

–

(222)

2,493

8,204

456

11,153

1,853

4,512

–

6,365

Amortisation expense

363

810

–

1,173

Elimination on disposal

(96)

(1,999)

–

(2,095)

Balance at 30 June 2017

2,120

3,323

–

5,443

Balance at 1 July 2017

2,120

3,323

–

5,443

Amortisation expense

213

788

–

1,001

Elimination on disposal

(21)

(201)

–

(222)

2,312

3,910

–

6,222

At 30 June 2017

282

3,530

765

4,577

At 30 June 2018

181

4,294

456

4,931

Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT
Balance at 1 July 2016

Balance at 30 June 2018

CARRYING AMOUNTS

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security
for liabilities.
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NOTE 15: CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

550

864

Accrued expenses

1,729

1,808

Total creditors & other payables under exchange transactions

2,279

2,672

Taxes payable (GST, FBT & rates)

244

221

Other

480

87

Total creditors & other payables under non-exchange transactions

724

308

3,003

2,980

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Trade creditors

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Total creditors & other payables

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates the fair value.

NOTE 16: FINANCE LEASE
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Finance lease

284

273

Total current portion

284

273

Finance lease

1,791

2,075

Total non-current portion

1,791

2,075

CURRENT PORTION

NON-CURRENT PORTION

Finance leases are effectively secured, as the right to the leased asset reverts to the lessor in the event of default.
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Analysis of finance lease
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

356

344

1,474

1,457

747

1,120

2,577

2,921

(502)

(573)

2,075

2,348

284

273

1,188

1,170

603

905

2,075

2,348

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total present value of minimum lease payments

Maritime New Zealand entered into a finance lease of equipment used for the national maritime distress and safety
radio service for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia Limited. The net carrying amount of this
asset held under finance leases is shown in Note 13.

NOTE 17: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

1,182

1,057

768

710

1,950

1,767

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Lease make-good

15

15

Total current provisions

15

15

Lease make-good

129

121

Total non-current provisions

129

121

Total provisions

144

136

Annual leave
Accrued salary & wages
Total employee entitlements

NOTE 18: PROVISIONS

CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
LEASE
MAKEGOOD
$000
Balance at 1 July 2016

104

Additional provisions made

–

Discount unwind provision (Note 6)

32

Balance at 30 June 2017

136

Balance at 1 July 2017

136

Additional provisions made

–

Discount unwind provision (Note 6)

8

Balance at 30 June 2018

144

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage
caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by Maritime
NZ. In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash
outflows to make good the premises. Information about Maritime NZ’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 20.

NOTE 19: EQUITY
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

24,794

23,959

344

835

25,138

24,794

(4,025)

(4,188)

675

163

(3,350)

(4,025)

676

676

–

–

676

676

22,464

21,445

GENERAL FUNDS
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Balance at 30 June

REVALUATION RESERVE
Balance at 1 July
Revaluations
Balance at 30 June
Total equity 30 June

The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2018 consists of land $676k (2017: land $676k).
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NOTE 20: COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Maritime NZ has no capital commitments (2017: $nil).

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases:
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

4,245

4,108

15,265

15,811

6,245

9,302

25,755

29,221

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases

Maritime NZ has recognised a make-good provision of $144k (2017: $136k) in respect of these leases (refer
Note 18). Operating lease payments relating to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications Services
Agreement amount to $20,550k (2017: $23,490k).

NOTE 21: CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities
Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2017: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2017: $nil).

NOTE 22: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related-party transactions
Maritime NZ is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of Maritime NZ,
in addition to being a major source of its revenue. Maritime NZ enters into all related-party transactions on an arm’s
length basis.
Significant transactions with government-related entities
Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown of $21,311k (2017: $17,590k) for specific purposes
as set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriation. The other significant
transactions with government-related entities are funding from Crown agencies the Ministry of Transport $1,028k
(2017: $903k) and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade $1,558k (2017: $443k).
Collectively, but not individually, significant transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, Maritime NZ is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and Services
Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn Tax, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown.
The payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions
that apply to all tax and levy payers. Maritime NZ is exempt from paying income tax.
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The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate
values of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they
have control or significant influence were as follows:

TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

TRANSACTION

BALANCE
OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

REF

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

1

690

690

11

12

–

–

26

34

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and administrative
support to New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Maritime NZ – amounts receivable from New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs directly.
These costs are recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties
(2017: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

121

115

5

5

1,775

1,765

8

7.4

1,896

1,880

13

12.4

AUTHORITY MEMBERS
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Total key management personnel remuneration
Total full-time equivalent personnel

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining eight members
of the executive team (2017: seven members). Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for Board
members, the full-time equivalent figure is taken as the number of Board members.
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NOTE 23: AUTHORITY MEMBER REMUNERATION
The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows:
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Blair O’Keeffe (Chair)

39

35

Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair)

24

20

Peter Cowper

20

20

Janice Fredric

20

20

Kylie Boyd

19

8

–

12

121

115

David Ledson (previous Chair)
Total Authority member remuneration

There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not Authority
members, during the financial year.
Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in the performance of
Maritime NZ’s functions.
Maritime NZ has effected directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during the
financial year in respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees.

NOTE 24: EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
ACTUAL
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100,000–109,999

26

26

110,000–119,999

27

28

120,000–129,999

19

17

130,000–139,999

8

14

140,000–149,999

12

9

150,000–159,999

8

6

160,000–169,999

3

6

170,000–179,999

3

2

180,000–189,999

2

2

190,000–199,999

2

1

200,000–209,999

1

1

210,000–219,999

–

–

220,000–229,999

–

2

230,000–239,999

3

2

240,000–249,999

2

–

250,000–299,999

–

–

300,000–319,999

–

–

320,000–329,999

–

1

330,000–339,999

1

–

Total employees

117

117

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE $
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During the year ended 30 June 2018, no employee received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
(2017: one totalling $59k). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation
(2017: $nil). The above figures are based on an individual’s full package including all allowances and benefits.

NOTE 25: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.

NOTE 26: CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Cash & cash equivalents (Note 8)

5,168

2,056

Debtors & other receivables (Note 9)

3,605

3,135

Investments – term deposits (Note 11)

3,367

5,300

12,140

10,491

Creditors & other payables (excluding tax) (Note 15)

2,759

2,759

Finance lease (Note 16)

2,075

2,348

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

4,834

5,107

LOANS & RECEIVABLES

Total loans & receivables

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

FINANCIAL ASSET FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Derivative financial instruments (Note 10)

56

10

FINANCIAL LIABILITY FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND
EXPENSES
Derivative financial instruments (Note 10)

–

1

NOTE 27: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS
Maritime NZ’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments, and seeks to
minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are
speculative in nature.

Market risk
Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. Maritime NZ’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which are held at
fixed rates of interest.
Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate
risk. Maritime NZ’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term
interest rate movements. Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.
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Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2018, if interest rates on transaction accounts and term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower,
with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have been $43k (2017: $36k) higher/lower.
This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter into
transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises.
Maritime NZ does not operate any overseas-currency bank accounts.
It is Maritime NZ’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by
entering into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing Maritime NZ to incur a loss.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks. Maritime
NZ’s investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. Maritime NZ has processes in place
to review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit.
Maritime NZ’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying
amount of cash and cash equivalents (Note 8), net debtors (Note 9) and investments (Note 11). There is no collateral
held as security against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Maritime NZ has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit customers and invests
funds only with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor’s credit ratings.
Maritime NZ holds cash with Westpac, ANZ, Bank of New Zealand and ASB.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they
fall due. Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market
positions. Maritime NZ mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual cash-flow
requirements.
Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.
The table below analyses Maritime NZ’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining
period at the balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.
LESS
THAN
31 DAYS
$000

BETWEEN
31 &
60 DAYS
$000

BETWEEN
61 &
90 DAYS
$000

OVER
90 DAYS
$000

2,759

–

–

–

–

–

–

1

23

23

23

2,279

2,759

–

–

–

23

23

23

2,006

2017
Creditors & other payables excluding tax (Note 15)
Derivative financial instruments
Finance leases

2018
Creditors & other payables excluding tax (Note 15)
Finance leases
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NOTE 28: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Maritime NZ’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented
by net assets.
Maritime NZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004,
which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing of guarantees and indemnities,
and the use of derivatives.
Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose
while remaining a going concern.

NOTE 29: EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from Maritime NZ’s budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance
Expectations 2017/18 are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Revenue variances:
•

•

•

Crown Funding: Actual Crown funding was lower than budget due to minor delays in aspects of three Crown
funded activities resulting in an in-principle transfer to the next financial year.
Maritime Levy: Revenue was lower than budget due to a marginally lower volume of visits to New Zealand by
international commercial ships than forecast.
Other revenue: Other revenue was higher than budget primarily due to the expansion of the Pacific Maritime
Safety Programme during the year.

Expenditure variances:
•

•

•

Personnel costs: A reallocation of cost occurred from other expenses to personnel expenses to correctly
categorise planned expenditure following confirmation of the HSWA funding after the 2017/18 budget
was prepared.
Depreciation and amortisation: Some minor timing delays occurred in the final delivery date for some planned
IT projects.
Other expenses: A reallocation of cost occurred from other expenses to personnel expenses to correctly
categorise planned expenditure as outlined in ‘personnel costs’ above.

Statement of financial position
Asset variances:
•

•

Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents are higher than budget due to a number of term
deposits held with maturities of three months being categorised as cash and cash equivalents, and greater
revenue than budgeted in May and June, together with a large creditor payment requirement anticipated in July.
Intangible assets: Lower than budget due to delays in IT development projects from 2016/17 resulting in a lower
opening balance than anticipated and an impairment recognised late in the 2016/17 financial year after the budget
had been completed.

Liability variances:
•

Provision for employee entitlements: An increase in the number of staff as a result of HSWA investment has
resulted in a higher provision for employee entitlements than budgeted.

NOTE 30: DIRECTIONS ISSUED BY MINISTERS
There were no Directions issued by the Minister within the financial reporting period.
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Appendices

Appendix 1: Financial Statements for
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
CHAIR’S REPORT
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships
and types of oil.
The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn
recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.
The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions from levies are
applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective
marine oil pollution response system for New Zealand.

Belinda Vernon
Acting Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 17 October 2018
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Statement of responsibility for the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund
The Authority accepts responsibility for:
•

the preparation of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund financial statements and the statements of performance and
for the judgements used therein

•

the establishment and maintenance of a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance as
to the integrity and reliability of financial and non-financial reporting

•

any end of year performance information provided by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund under section 19A of the
Public Finance Act 1989.

In the opinion of the Authority, the financial statements and statements of performance fairly reflect the financial
position and operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2018.
Signed for and on behalf of the Authority

Belinda Vernon
Acting Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 17 October 2018

Janice Fredric
Acting Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ
Dated: 17 October 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has
appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the
financial statements of the Fund on his behalf.

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of the Fund on pages 125 to 143, that comprise the statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements including a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements of the Fund on pages 125 to 143:
––

––

present fairly, in all material respects:
––

its financial position as at 30 June 2018; and

––

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity
Reporting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Our audit was completed on 17 October 2018. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our
responsibilities relating to the financial statements, we comment on other information, and we explain our
independence.

BASIS FOR OUR OPINION
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

122

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented and comply
with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such internal control as it
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for assessing the Fund’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the
activities of the Fund, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public
Finance Act 1989.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITOR FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are
differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers,
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements, our procedures were limited to checking that the
information agreed to the Fund’s statement of performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Board.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Board and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund
to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on
pages 1 to 26, 65 to 70, 89 to 90, 120 to 121 and 144 to 151, but does not include the financial statements, and our
auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of audit
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so,
we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

INDEPENDENCE
We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing
Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code
of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in the Fund.

Kelly Rushton
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2018

NOTES

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

7,499

7,813

6,448

44

–

22

97

70

97

7,640

7,883

6,567

1,182

1,199

1,024

466

666

479

REVENUE
Oil Pollution Levy
Other third party

2

Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs

3
10,11

Finance costs

4

3

–

(3)

Other expenses

5

4,086

4,298

4,116

Total expenditure

5,737

6,163

5,616

Surplus/(deficit)

1,903

1,720

951

Total comprehensive revenue & expense

1,903

1,720

951

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 21.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2018

NOTES
Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue & expense
Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

10,585

11,098

9,634

1,903

1,720

951

12,488

12,818

10,585

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
As at 30 June 2018

NOTES

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & cash equivalents

6

2,583

86

1,316

Debtors & other receivables

7

530

600

845

Investments

8

1,200

2,500

2,600

100

30

34

891

1,515

1,062

5,304

4,731

5,857

Prepayments
Inventory

9

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant & equipment

10

8,297

8,766

6,330

Intangible assets

11

–

50

–

8,297

8,816

6,330

13,601

13,547

12,187

Total non-current assets
Total assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors and other payables

12

956

599

1,464

Provision for employee entitlements

13

95

75

79

Provisions

14

6

–

5

1,057

674

1,548

56

55

54

56

55

54

1,113

729

1,602

12,488

12,818

10,585

Total equity

12,488

12,818

10,585

Total equity & liabilities

13,601

13,547

12,187

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

14

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

EQUITY
General funds

15

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 21.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2018
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Oil Pollution Levy

7,811

7,813

6,148

Other third party

37

–

12

Interest revenue

96

70

88

Payments to employees

(1,166)

(1,199)

(1,009)

Payments to suppliers

(4,104)

(4,298)

(3,818)

12

–

(17)

2,686

2,386

1,404

–

–

3

3,799

–

2,400

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(2,818)

(3,210)

(1,134)

Acquisition of investments

(2,400)

–

(4,000)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(1,419)

(3,210)

(2,731)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Net increase /(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

1,267

(824)

(1,327)

Opening cash balance at 1 July

1,316

910

2,643

Closing cash balance at 30 June

2,583

86

1,316

NOTES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Goods & Services Tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contribution
Net cash flows from financing activities

15

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid and
received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as
the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
REPORTING ENTITY
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has
been established by Maritime NZ pursuant to section
330 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The Fund is
domiciled in New Zealand and its ultimate parent is the
New Zealand Crown.
The Fund’s primary objective is to meet the ongoing
costs of maintaining New Zealand’s oil spill response
capability, including contingency plans, equipment, and
training and response costs (where they are unable
to be recovered from the spiller). Levies imposed on
shipping and oil sites are paid into the Fund to finance
these costs.
Accordingly, the Authority has designated the Fund as a
public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of Financial
Reporting Standards. While the financial statements
of the Fund form part of the financial reports of the
Authority, they are presented separately in order to
clearly identify the revenue and expenditure associated
with the Authority’s oil pollution response activities.
The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2018
and were authorised by the Authority for issue on
17 October 2018.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in
New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency
of the Fund is New Zealand dollars ($NZD).
Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies
during the financial year.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been applied consistently to
all periods presented in these financial statements.
Revenue recognition
The Fund earns revenue from interest on investments
and oil pollution levies. Oil pollution levies charged
on foreign vessels are based on information from the
New Zealand Customs Service regarding port visits.
Domestic oil pollution levies are derived from annual
registration of vessels. Such revenue is recognised when
earned, and is reported in the financial period to which
it relates.
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest
method.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration
received or receivable.

Statement of compliance

Leases

The financial statements of the Fund have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Maritime Transport Act 1994 and comply with
New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice
(NZ GAAP).

Operating leases

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Tier 2 PBE accounting standards
and other applicable financial reporting standards, as
appropriate for public benefit entities. The fund is eligible
to report as a Tier 2 reporting entity on the basis that it
does not have public accountability and is not large due
to its annual expenses being less than $30 million.
Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis.

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are classified as
operating leases. Lease payments under an operating
lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease in the surplus or deficit.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus
or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the
total lease expense.
Income tax
The Fund is a public authority in terms of the Income
Tax Act 2007 and consequently is exempt from income
tax. Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been
provided for.
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Goods and Services Tax

Investments

All items in the financial statements are presented on
a Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with the
exception of accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which are stated with Goods and Services Tax included.
Where Goods and Services Tax is not recoverable as
input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or
expense.

At each balance sheet date, the Fund assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that an investment is
impaired.

The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part
of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial
Position.
The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received,
from Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services
Tax relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of
Cash Flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
exclusive of Goods and Services Tax.
Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures
have been prepared in accordance with PBE accounting
standards using accounting policies that are consistent
with those adopted by the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund for the preparation of the financial statements.
Some budget numbers have been classified differently
from the Statement of Performance Expectations to
bring them into line with the classifications used in the
financial statements.
Debtors and other receivables
Debtors and other receivables are recorded at the
amount due, less any provision for uncollectability. A
receivable is considered uncollectable when there is
evidence that the amount due will not be able to be
fully collected. Such evidence would include payment
defaults and situations where the debtor is in significant
financial difficulties, and there is a probability that
the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or
liquidation.
The amount of the provision for uncollectability is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
using the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. When
a receivable is deemed uncollectable, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables.
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Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured
at the amount invested. After initial recognition,
investments in bank deposits are measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method,
less any provision for impairment.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there
is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to
collect amounts due according to the original terms of
the deposit. Significant financial difficulties of the bank,
probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy,
liquidation, and default in payments are considered
indicators that the deposit is impaired.
Inventories
Inventories held for consumption in the provision of
services that are not issued on a commercial basis are
measured at cost (determined on the weighted average
cost method), adjusted when applicable, for any loss
of service potential. The replacement cost or service
potential of oil spill dispersant held for distribution
reflects any obsolescence or any other impairment. The
write-down from cost to current replacement cost or net
realisable value is recognised in the surplus or deficit in
the period when the write-down occurs.
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated
into New Zealand dollars (the functional currency)
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as
follows:
•

plant and equipment

•

vessels

•

motor vehicles

•

furniture, fittings and office equipment

•

computer equipment

•

leasehold improvements.

All assets classes are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits or service potential associated
with the item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment
and is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and
equipment is initially recognised at its cost where an
asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is
recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the
surplus or deficit.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefit or service potential associated with the item
will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant
and equipment are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Revenue and expense as they are
incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all
property, plant and equipment, at rates that will write-off
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated
residual values over their useful lives.
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used
in the preparation of these statements are as follows:
USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

DEPRECIATION
METHOD

5–50

straight-line

10–35

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings and
office equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

ASSET TYPE
Plant and equipment
Vessels

Leasehold improvements

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease.
Items under construction are not depreciated. The total
cost of a capital project is transferred to the appropriate
asset class on its completion and then depreciated.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed,
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.
Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. Costs that are directly
associated with the development of software for
internal use by the Fund are recognised as an intangible
asset. Direct costs include the software development,
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.
Staff training costs and costs associated with the
development and maintenance of the Fund’s website
are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software
are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated
as follows:
USEFUL
LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

Developed

3–8

straight-line

ASSET TYPE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an
asset where the future economic benefits or service
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the
asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where
the Fund would, if deprived of the asset, replace its
remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount
is written down to the recoverable amount.
The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or
deficit.
The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.
Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and payables are recorded at the
amount payable.
Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements
These include salaries and wages accrued up to
balance date, annual leave earned but not yet taken at
balance date.
Employee entitlements that the Fund expects to be
settled within 12 months of balance date that the
employee renders the related service is based on
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. Annual
leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in
accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.
The Fund does not recognise a liability for sick leave, as
staff have an unlimited entitlement.
The Fund recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them,
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes
Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted
for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and
are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as
incurred.

Defined benefit schemes
Obligations for contributions to the Government
Superannuation Fund are accounted for as a defined
benefit superannuation scheme and are recognised as
an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.
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Provisions
The Fund recognises a provision for future expenditure
of uncertain amount or timing when:
•

there is a present obligation (either legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event,

•

it is probable that expenditures will be required to
settle the obligation, and

•

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as an interest expense and is included in finance costs.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the Fund has
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions
are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets useful lives and residual value
At each balance date, the Fund reviews the useful lives
and residual values of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets. Assessing the appropriateness of
useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets requires the Fund
to consider a number of factors, such as the physical
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the
asset by the Fund, and expected disposal proceeds
from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value
will impact on the depreciation/amortisation expense
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue
and Expense, and on the carrying amount of the
asset in the Statement of Financial Position. The Fund
minimised the risk of this estimation uncertainty by:
•

physical inspections of assets

•

asset replacement programmes

•

review of the second-hand market prices for similar
assets

•

analysis of prior asset sales.

The Fund has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values
except where individual assets have been written off due
to observable changes to the asset itself.

Statement of cash flows

Commitments

Operating activities include cash received from all
income sources and records the cash payments
made for the supply of goods and services, personnel
expenses, and interest.

Commitments disclosed include those operating and
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable
contractual or statutory obligations. Refer Note 16.
Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets
are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be
realised.

Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in
bank accounts, and demand deposits in which the Fund
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Investing activities are those activities relating to
the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets,
intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and
debt capital structure of the Fund.

NOTE 2: OTHER THIRD-PARTY REVENUE
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

19

8

9

14

Net foreign exchange gains

16

–

Total other revenue

44

22

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

1,114

963

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans

56

55

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 13)

12

6

1,182

1,024

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 14)

3

(3)

Total finance costs

3

(3)

Equipment hire
Other income

NOTE 3: PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Personnel & related costs

Total personnel costs

NOTE 4: FINANCE COSTS
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NOTE 5: OTHER EXPENSES
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Administration

180

289

Costs covered by Maritime NZ

690

690

Consultancy

131

73

Maintenance

216

230

43

46

Operating expenses

409

465

Operating lease expenses

155

155

Professional & safety services

599

745

Regional council costs

701

704

Travel

334

343

Training & exercises

596

362

32

14

4,086

4,116

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Cash on hand and at bank

1,183

1,316

Cash equivalents – term deposits

1,400

–

Total cash & equivalents

2,583

1,316

Marketing & public relations

Losses on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Total other expenses

NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.
The weighted average effective interest rate for transaction account and short-term deposits with maturity dates of
three months or less is 2.20% (2017: 1.50%).
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NOTE 7: DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.

Trade debtors
Less: provision for impairment
Net trade debtors
Other accounts receivable
Taxes receivable (GST, FBT & rates)
Total debtors & other receivables

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

504

800

–

–

504

800

19

26

7

19

530

845

7

11

523

834

TOTAL DEBTORS & OTHER RECEIVABLES COMPRISES:
Receivables (exchange transactions)
Receivables (non-exchange transactions)

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s
pool of debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s losses in previous
periods, and review of specific debtors. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund estimated the expected losses are nil. Hence
the provision for this financial year recorded is nil (2017: nil).

NOTE 8: INVESTMENTS
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Term deposits

1,200

2,600

Total investments

1,200

2,600

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximate their fair value.

NOTE 9: INVENTORY

Oil spill response & dispersants
Less provision for impairment of service performance
Total inventory

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

1,155

1,194

(264)

(132)

891

1,062

There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.
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NOTE 10: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

PLANT &
EQUIPMENT
$000

VESSELS
$000

MOTOR
VEHICLES
$000

11,163

404

286

–

–

–

802

87

83

(143)

–

(65)

Balance at 30 June 2017

11,822

491

304

Balance at 1 July 2017

11,822

491

304

–

–

–

1,287

–

–

(692)

–

–

12,417

491

304

6,836

244

272

Depreciation expense

405

40

24

Elimination on disposal

(157)

–

(65)

Balance at 30 June 2017

7,084

284

231

Balance at 1 July 2017

7,084

284

231

Depreciation expense

397

37

24

Elimination on disposal

(659)

–

–

6,822

321

255

At 30 June 2017

4,738

207

73

At 30 June 2018

5,595

170

49

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2016
Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals

Additions
Transfer from WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2016

Balance at 30 June 2018

CARRYING AMOUNTS

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s PPE and there are no PPE pledged as
security for liabilities.
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FURNITURE,
FITTINGS
& OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

92

46

60

972

13,023

–

–

–

1,310

1,310

–

9

–

(981)

–

(14)

(2)

(3)

–

(227)

78

53

57

1,301

14,106

78

53

57

1,301

14,106

–

3

–

2,463

2,466

–

6

–

(1,293)

–

–

(21)

–

–

(713)

78

41

57

2,471

15,859

92

36

58

–

7,538

–

10

–

–

479

(14)

(2)

(3)

–

(241)

78

44

55

–

7,776

78

44

55

–

7,776

–

8

–

–

466

–

(21)

–

–

(680)

78

31

55

–

7,562

–

9

2

1,301

6,330

–

10

2

2,471

8,297
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NOTE 11: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:

ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

TOTAL
$000

Balance at 1 July 2016

27

492

519

Disposals

(8)

–

(8)

Balance at 30 June 2017

19

492

511

Balance at 1 July 2017

19

492

511

–

–

–

19

492

511

27

492

519

Amortisation expense

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

(8)

–

(8)

Balance at 30 June 2017

19

492

511

Balance at 1 July 2017

19

492

511

Amortisation expense

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

19

492

511

COST OR VALUATION

Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2018

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2016

Balance at 30 June 2018

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 30 June 2017

–

–

–

At 30 June 2018

–

–

–

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s intangible assets, and there are no
intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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NOTE 12: CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Trade creditors

153

557

Accrued expenses

741

893

Total creditors & other payables under exchange transactions

894

1,450

Other

62

14

Total creditors & other payables under non-exchange transactions

62

14

956

1,464

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Total creditors & other payables

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the
carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.

NOTE 13: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Annual leave

61

49

Accrued salary and wages

34

30

Total employee entitlements

95

79

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Lease make-good

6

5

Total current provisions

6

5

Lease make-good

56

54

Total non-current provisions

56

54

Total provisions

62

59

NOTE 14: PROVISIONS

CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY:

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY:
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Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
LEASE
MAKEGOOD
$000
Balance at 1 July 2016

62

Discount unwind provision (Note 4)

(3)

Balance at 30 June 2017

59

Balance at 1 July 2017

59

Discount unwind provision (Note 4)

3

Balance at 30 June 2018

62

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage
caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. In many cases, the Fund has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the
timing of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about the Fund’s leasing arrangements is
disclosed in Note 16.

NOTE 15: EQUITY
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

15,282

15,282

–

–

15,282

15,282

(4,697)

(5,648)

1,903

951

Balance at 30 June

(2,794)

(4,697)

Total equity 30 June

12,488

10,585

GENERAL FUNDS
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
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NOTE 16: COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no capital commitments at balance date (2017: $nil).

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

Not later than 1 year

168

160

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

546

642

–

53

714

855

NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES

Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases

The Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $62k (2017: $59k) in respect of these leases (Note 14).

NOTE 17: CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent liabilities (2017: $nil).

Contingent assets
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent assets (2017: $nil).

NOTE 18: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related-party transactions
The Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund enters into all related-party transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Significant transaction with government-related entities
The Fund received no Crown Funding in 2018 (2017: $nil).
Collectively, but not individually, significant transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, the Fund is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and Services Tax,
Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment of
these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and
levy payers. The Fund is exempt from paying income tax.
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The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate
values of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they
have control or significant influence were as follows:

TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

TRANSACTION
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund – salaries &
administration cost recovered by Maritime NZ

BALANCE
OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

REF

2018
$000

2017
$000

2018
$000

2017
$000

1

690

690

11

12

–

–

26

34

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund – amount owed to
Maritime NZ

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund.
The costs relating to this administration have been paid to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties
(2017: $nil).

Employee remuneration
ACTUAL
2017/18

ACTUAL
2016/17

100,000–109,999

1

1

110,000–119,999

1

–

120,000–129,999

1

2

130,000–139,999

2

1

Total employees

5

4

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE $

During the year ended 30 June 2018 no employees received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
(2017: $nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2017: $nil). The
above figures are based on an individual’s full package including all allowances and benefits.

NOTE 19: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.
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NOTE 20: CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

2,583

1,316

Debtors & other receivables (Note 7)

523

826

Investments – term deposits (Note 8)

1,200

2,600

Total loans & receivables

4,306

4,742

Creditors & other payables (Note 12)

956

1,464

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

956

1,464

LOANS & RECEIVABLES
Cash & cash equivalents (Note 6)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

NOTE 21: EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s budgeted figures in the Statement of
Performance Expectations 2017/18 are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Revenue variances:
•

Oil Pollution Levy: Revenue is lower than budget due to lower actual leviable tonnage than the volume
anticipated in the budget for foreign vessel port visits.

Expenditure variances:
•

•

Depreciation and amortisation: Some minor timing delays occurred in the final delivery date for some planned
equipment purchases.
Other expenses: There were several planned regional council services deferred resulting in some planned claims
not being submitted.

Statement of financial position
Asset variances:
•

•

Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents are higher than budget due to a number of term
deposits having an initial maturity of three months being classified as cash and cash equivalents, some final
delivery and commissioning costs for capital purchases being delayed, higher creditors balance than anticipated
and higher than planned revenue being derived in May and June.
Property, plant and equipment: The planned investment in capability was lower than budget due to delays
in final delivery and commissioning of some capital purchases and scaling back the programme as a result of
revenue pressure through the first nine months of the financial year.

Liability variances:
•

Current liabilities: Final payments for delivery and commissioning of some capital purchases were delayed and a
number of regional councils submitted reimbursement invoices late in June.

NOTE 22: DIRECTIONS ISSUED BY MINISTER
There were no Directions issued by Ministers within the financial reporting period.
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Appendix 2: Maritime New Zealand and Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand additional financial
information
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
with Maritime NZ’s traditional business activities. This appendix provides additional financial information that does
not form part of Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of operating Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand.

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Year ended 30 June 2018
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND
ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

14,733

15,195

11,704

20,983

21,309

20,407

6,628

5,472

5,260

158

120

152

42,502

42,096

37,523

4

24,171

23,526

20,220

12,13

2,005

2,198

2,261

NOTES

REVENUE
Crown

2

Maritime Levy
Other revenue

3

Interest revenue
Total revenue

EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs
Capital charge

5

774

942

803

Finance costs

6

80

–

103

Other expenses

7

14,872

15,430

13,371

41,902

42,096

36,758

Surplus/(deficit)

600

–

765

Total comprehensive revenue & expense

600

–

765

Total expenditure

Statement of changes in net assets/equity
Year ended 30 June 2018
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES
Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue & expense
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June
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ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

13,475

13,263

12,352

600

–

765

–

–

358

14,075

13,263

13,475

RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NZ

GROUP

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

6,578

6,642

5,886

21,311

21,837

17,590

–

–

–

20,983

21,309

20,407

75

66

106

6,703

5,538

5,366

41

70

47

199

190

199

6,694

6,778

6,039

49,196

48,874

43,562

2,844

2,583

2,782

27,015

26,109

23,002

474

526

323

2,479

2,724

2,584

467

540

514

1,241

1,482

1,317

–

–

–

80

–

103

2,834

3,129

3,022

17,706

18,559

16,393

6,619

6,778

6,641

48,521

48,874

43,399

75

–

(602)

675

–

163

75

–

(602)

675

–

163

RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NZ

GROUP

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

7,970

9,015

8,095

21,445

22,278

20,447

75

–

(602)

675

–

163

344

–

477

344

–

835

8,389

9,015

7,970

22,464

22,278

21,445
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Statement of financial position
Year ended 30 June 2018
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & cash equivalents

8

3,253

1,083

1,673

Debtors & other receivables

9

3,591

3,000

3,098

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Investments

11

3,114

4,000

4,370

507

300

424

142

100

159

10,607

8,483

9,724

Prepayments
Inventory

12

Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Property, plant & equipment

13

5,391

5,129

5,985

Intangible assets

14

4,738

6,198

4,531

Total non-current assets

10,129

11,327

10,516

Total assets

20,736

19,810

20,240

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors & other payables

15

2,711

3,142

2,741

Finance leases

16

284

273

273

Provision for employee entitlements

17

1,731

1,200

1,540

Provisions

18

15

–

15

4,741

4,615

4,569

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Finance leases

16

1,791

1,802

2,075

Provisions

18

129

130

121

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Total non-current liabilities

1,920

1,932

2,196

Total liabilities

6,661

6,547

6,765

EQUITY

146

Crown contribution

19

12,320

12,362

12,320

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

1,079

225

479

Revaluation reserve

19

676

676

676

Total equity

14,075

13,263

13,475

Total equity & liabilities

20,736

19,810

20,240
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RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NZ

GROUP

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

ACTUAL
2017/18
$000

BUDGET
2017/18
$000

ACTUAL
2016/17
$000

1,915

1,027

383

5,168

2,110

2,056

14

600

37

3,605

3,600

3,135

30

–

10

30

–

10

253

700

930

3,367

4,700

5,300

54

220

201

561

520

625

–

–

–

142

100

159

2,266

2,547

1,561

12,873

11,030

11,285

26

–

–

26

–

–

6,415

6,520

6,830

11,806

11,649

12,815

193

302

46

4,931

6,500

4,577

6,634

6,822

6,876

16,763

18,149

17,392

8,900

9,369

8,437

29,636

29,179

28,677

292

204

239

3,003

3,346

2,980

–

–

–

284

273

273

219

150

227

1,950

1,350

1,767

–

–

–

15

–

15

511

354

466

5,252

4,969

5,035

–

–

–

1,791

1,802

2,075

–

–

–

129

130

121

–

–

1

–

–

1

–

–

1

1,920

1,932

2,197

511

354

467

7,172

6,901

7,232

12,818

12,897

12,474

25,138

25,259

24,794

(4,429)

(3,882)

(4,504)

(3,350)

(3,657)

(4,025)

–

–

–

676

676

676

8,389

9,015

7,970

22,464

22,278

21,445

8,900

9,369

8,437

29,636

29,179

28,677
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Appendix 3 Governance and Accountability
The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament
for overseeing and managing the Crown’s interests in
Maritime NZ.
The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Authority to set
the direction of the entity, achieve the government’s
desired results set out in the Marine Transport Act 1994
(MTA) and in other legislation and policy, and manage
any maritime safety and security risks on behalf of the
Crown.

Executive Team

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory
requirements (e.g. the MTA and the Crown Entities Act
2004), and in the interests of the role and functions of
maritime safety and security.

The Executive Team comprises the Chief Executive, and
Director of Maritime NZ and General Managers from the
six business groups: Corporate and Strategic Services;
Safety and Response; Maritime Compliance; Maritime
Standards; Human Resources; and Legal and Policy.

Authority membership and composition

Delegations

Maritime NZ’s Authority is made up of five members
appointed by the Governor-General on the
recommendation of the Minister of Transport. The
Authority appoints the Director of Maritime NZ, who
has independent statutory powers under the Maritime
Transport Act 1994.

Maritime NZ operates a financial delegations policy that
allows individuals to carry out their role and function.
The policy provides a check and balance to ensure
transactions that are of an exceptional nature, or are
deemed to exceed a level of risk, are first approved by
someone with the appropriate expertise, authority and
experience. The Authority delegates levels of authority to
the Director of Maritime NZ and Maritime NZ managers.

The Authority is responsible and accountable for the
management and strategic direction of Maritime NZ
Members of the Authority through the year were:
•

Blair O’Keeffe (Chair) (resigned 3 August 2018)

•

Belinda Vernon
(Deputy Chair, Chair of Audit and Risk Committee)

•

Kylie Boyd

•

Janice Fredric

•

Peter Cowper (retired May 2018)

•

Jo Brosnahan QSO (appointed 1 July 2018)

Accountability
The Responsible Ministers provide Maritime NZ with an
annual letter outlining their expectations. This guides the
development of the Statement of Intent, which is tabled
in Parliament.
The Statement of Intent and the Statement of
Performance Expectations set out what Maritime NZ
intends to deliver and are the primary sources from
which Parliament and Ministers are able to hold Maritime
NZ to account.
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The Ministers’ formal line of accountability with Maritime
NZ is through the Authority. The Authority selects,
appoints and monitors the performance of the Director
of Maritime NZ, Keith Manch. The Director of Maritime
NZ is responsible to the Authority for the efficient and
effective running of Maritime NZ.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (a subcommittee of the Authority) comprises all Authority
members. The Committee has the authority to make
recommendations only.
The objectives of the Committee are to ensure:
•

the robustness of risk management systems and
practices

•

the independence and adequacy of the internal audit
functions

•

compliance with application regulations, standards
and best practice guidelines.

Risk management
The Authority is responsible for ensuring that Maritime
NZ has a comprehensive risk register which identifies all
significant risks, corresponding mitigation actions and
the regular monitoring of these mitigations.

Internal audit
The Audit and Risk Management Committee establishes
a risk-based internal audit programme each year,
covering the key functions and services of Maritime NZ.
The programme also includes the flexibility to schedule
reviews of areas of interest to the Director and the
Committee as the need arises.
Internal audit services are provided either internally or
through contracted providers.

Legislative compliance and ethics
Maritime NZ is guided by its Codes of Conduct and the
State Services Commissioner’s Standards of Integrity
and Conduct. Authority members are required to
complete a declaration of interests upon appointment
and whenever changes occur during their term. A
schedule of Authority members’ interests is reviewed at
every Authority meeting.
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Appendix 4: Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix –
assessment matrix descriptors
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix captures information about its overall response capability across five key
elements. The capability of each element is assessed, on a six-monthly basis, against a range of criteria to determine
an overall rating. Assessments are reported to Maritime NZ’s Audit and Risk Committee. Maritime NZ is striving to
sustain overall response capability as amber or higher over the term of the Statement of Intent and beyond.
MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE TEAM

MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE SERVICE

Capable of responding fully to a Maritime Incident:

Capable of responding to a National oil spill:

•

National exercise held every four years

•

Regional and National responders fully trained to meet risk

•

Responders fully trained to identified competencies

•

•

Minimum of four exercises undertaken each year

Minimum number of Industry/Regional and National
exercises undertaken

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) fully
implemented.

•

Equipment stockpiles Fit for Role (FFR)

•

Regulatory obligations met.

Able to respond to a Maritime Incident but lacking in
specific areas of competency:

Able to respond to a National oil spill
but lacking in some areas:

•

National exercise being developed, planning and
coordination underway for exercise

•

Responder capability competencies identified and
appropriate training being developed

•

Responder competencies identified and appropriate
training being developed

•

Industry/Regional and National exercises being developed,
planning and co-ordination underway for exercise

•

High priority training completed with some responders

•

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) partially
implemented.

Equipment stockpiles maintained but some shortfalls in
equipment holdings against capability plan

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of effectively responding
to a Maritime Incident:
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Not capable of effectively responding
to a National oil spill:

•

No national exercises held

•

Responder capability limited in numbers and competency

•

Responder competencies not identified therefore no
training in place

•

Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No Industry or
National exercises undertaken or planned

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) not
implemented.

•

Major deficiencies in equipment, hampering response
capability.
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SEARCH AND RESCUE

SECURITY

RESPONSE COORDINATION

Fully capable of responding
efficiently and effectively to all SAR
incidents in the NZ Search and
Rescue Region (NZSRR):

Fully capable of responding to a
Maritime Security Incident:

Full integration of response
components:

•

National SAR Plan in place

•

•

Standard Operating Procedures in
place

Maritime NZ fully connected to the
New Zealand Intelligence Community

•

Full response capability in
accordance with Maritime Security
Plan

•

•

Memoranda of understanding with
national SAR resource providers
and SAR agreements with relevant
nations in place

•

Sufficient staff to run Operations
Room 24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity
to NZ Intelligence Community

•

Insufficient staff to undertake full
range of support tasks

•

Reduced response capability

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Plans and procedures for mass
rescue/large scale events not fully
developed and implemented.
Not capable of responding
efficiently and effectively to most
incidents in the NZSRR:

Maritime NZ has a comprehensive
response capability in accordance
with Maritime Emergency Response
Plan

•

All regulatory obligations met.

Able to respond to a Maritime
Emergency Response Incident,
but lacking coordination
in specific areas:
•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity
to NZ Emergency Response
Community

•

Overall response capability limited to
some degree

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of responding:

•

Insufficient staff to run Operations
Room 24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has no connection to
the NZ Intelligence community

•

Inadequate stakeholder engagement
and liaison leads to a failure in
coordination of incidents

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

•

•

Able to respond to a Maritime
Security incident, but lacking in
specific areas:

•

•

Maritime NZ fully connected to
the NZ Emergency Response
Community

Regulatory obligations met.

Tested plans in place for appropriate
augmentation of SAR capability for
large scale operations.
Capable of responding efficiently
and effectively to most SAR
incidents in the NZSRR:

•

Response capability not aligned:

•

Maritime NZ response functions
are siloed, not connected or wellcoordinated

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

Insufficient funding to sustain
operations and operational support
activity.
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Disclaimer: While all care and
diligence has been used in extracting,
analysing and compiling this information,
Maritime New Zealand gives no warranty
that the information provided is without error.
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